
Common Council

City of Appleton

Meeting Agenda - Final

100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

Council Chambers7:00 PMWednesday, August 2, 2023

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. INVOCATION

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

D. ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONS

E. ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADS

F. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

23-0920 Common Council Meeting Minutes of July 19, 2023

 

CC Minutes 7-19-23.pdfAttachments:

G. BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYOR

23-0923 Proclamations:

  - Breastfeeding Month

  - Creative Economy Week

 

Breastfeeding Awareness Month Proclamation.pdf

Creative Economy Week Proclamation.pdf

Attachments:

23-0924 Recognition for two organization's work toward the passage of Assembly 

Shared Revenue Bill 245

 

23-0925 Property Revaluation Overview

 

H. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

I. PUBLIC HEARINGS

J. SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

Page 1 City of Appleton Printed on 7/28/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23095
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c100ca0d-31f8-4f61-a8ff-957a8c9886b1.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23098
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a17fc7af-d611-4366-b594-f0a8db03a6d2.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=92a339ba-29f2-4e6a-943c-00d001daeb9e.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23099
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23100


August 2, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

K. ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAY

L. COMMITTEE REPORTS

1. MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE

2. MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

23-0852 Class "A" Beer and "Class A" Liquor-Cider Only License Change of Agent 

application for FKG Oil Co. d/b/a Badger MotoMart, Lynda Nabbefeld, 

New Agent, located at 1850 W Wisconsin Ave.

Lynda Nabbefeld S&L.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/26/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0864 Temporary Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor License Premise 

Amendment application for Gregg VanDinter d/b/a Riverside Bar & Grill, 

located at 906 S Olde Oneida St, contingent upon approval from the Health 

and Inspections departments.

Riverside Bar & Grill S&L.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/26/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0872 Taxicab Company License Renewal Application for Dynasty Limousine 

Service LLC, Owner's, John and Diana Wolters, 1900 Vandenberg Ln, 

Kaukauna, WI 54130 contingent on approval from the Inspections 

department. 

John and Diana Wolters - Dynasty Limousine Service LLC.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/26/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0873 Taxicab Company License Renewal Application for Social Station LLC, 

Owner, Chris Burns, W6068 Nolan Dr., contingent on approval from the 

Inspections department. 

 

Chris Burns - Social Station LLC.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/26/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 2 City of Appleton Printed on 7/28/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23027
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d8b501a4-80e5-4ca8-a851-614cc15af36a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23039
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=363e1145-706d-4fa1-89b3-0fdcda3b5286.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23047
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d805105f-1499-4031-900f-996bfa7b32be.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23048
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=291e1ab9-8ea5-44fc-be0a-5bd84fe3fd2a.pdf


August 2, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

23-0878 Taxicab Company License Renewal Application for LIR Transportation, 

dba Fox Valley Cab, Owner, Igor Leykin, 719 W Frances St. contingent on 

approval from the Inspections department. 

Igor Leykin - LIR Transportation LLC.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/26/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0879 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor License Temporary Premise 

Amendment application for Spats Food and Spirit LLC d/b/a Spats Food 

and Spirits, Nicholas Kapheim, Agent, located at 733 W College Ave, on 

August 3-6, 2023 for Mile of Music, contingent upon approval from the 

Finance and Health departments.

Spats S&L.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/26/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0884 Class "B" Beer and "Class C" Wine application for Dairyland Brewing Co 

LLC d/b/a Dairyland Brew Pub, Dorri Schmidt, Agent, located at 1216 E 

Wisconsin Ave, contingent upon approval from Finance, Fire, Health and 

Inspections departments.

Dairyland Brew Pub.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/26/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0900 Class "B" Beer and "Class C" Wine License Permanent Premise 

Amendment application for All Tied Up Floral Cafe LLC d/b/a All Tied Up 

Floral Cafe, Aaron Phillipson, Agent, located at 324 E College Ave, 

contingent upon approval from all departments.

All Tied Up Floral Cafe S&L.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/26/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-0908 Mobile Home Park License Application for Fox Valley Estates, Moore 

Enterprises, Inc., located at 106 Primrose Lane, contingent on approval 

from the Police, Inspections, Community Development and Finance 

departments. 

Fox Valley Estates.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/26/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 3 City of Appleton Printed on 7/28/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23053
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0ed26aa9-0fbb-4a73-adf7-63ad23716bf8.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23054
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a000add9-2279-4d7e-93b0-cc2f79d74e51.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23059
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=794dcbbb-1de5-44a6-87d5-cac8a73b5482.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23075
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fc7e9872-1f8f-41f4-a67a-3ea87b5013bb.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23083
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b865da0e-6bc7-4855-a0fa-0e3d15b1621c.pdf


August 2, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

23-0917 Class "B" Beer and "Class C" Wine License Change of Agent application 

for Wild River Cafe LLC d/b/a Wild River Cafe, Hanna Lonsway, New 

Agent, located at 425 W Water St Suite 100, contingent upon approval 

from the Police Department.

Hanna Lonsway S&L.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/26/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

3. MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION

23-0877 Request to approve the Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 4 Preliminary 

Plat as shown on the attached maps and subject to the conditions in the 

attached staff report (Associated with File #23-0904)

StaffReport_SouthpointCommerceParkPlat4_PreliminaryPlat_For7-26-23.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/26/23 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

23-0904 Resolution #8-R-23 Creating Appleton Conservancy Park 

(Taken up under Consolidated Action Items)

 

#8-R-23 Appleton Conservancy Park Resolution .pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/26/23 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

4. MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE

23-0903 Resolution #8-R-23 Creating Appleton Conservancy Park

(Taken up under Consolidated Action Items)

 

#8-R-23 Appleton Conservancy Park Resolution .pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/24/23 Parks and Recreation 

Committee

recommended for approval

5. MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE

23-0919 Request to award Unit DD-23 Repair and Maintenance for Green, Red, 

and Yellow Parking Ramps to Restoration Systems, Inc. in the amount of 

$689,825 with a 1.5% contingency of $10,175 for a project total not to 

exceed $700,000

 

DD-23 Contract Award Form and Bid Tabs.pdfAttachments:

Page 4 City of Appleton Printed on 7/28/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23092
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=072d09f8-4735-419b-9781-a09e608571bd.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23052
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=410542c5-5c4c-4824-95eb-e94a47540ba5.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23079
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ac57f7da-9c7a-45e6-b7ab-175b085fdb66.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23078
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=37980984-09fa-4b81-83e6-be432580efa0.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23094
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2c6e96be-43da-4840-89d5-854782e675a2.pdf


August 2, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

23-0853 Riverside Cemetery Association reimbursement request for maintenance of 

Veteran graves

Grave Reimbursement 2022-2023_1-1.pdf

Copy of Military Report 2022-2023.pdf

VETERANS JULY 2022 - JUNE 2023.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

7/24/23 Finance Committee recommended for approval

23-0896 Request to award the City of Appleton’s 2023 MSB CEA Shop HVAC 

Replacement Project contract to Southport Engineered Systems in the amount 

of $664,550 with an 8% contingency of $53,164 for a project total not to exceed 

$717,714.

2023 AWWTP MSB Shop HVAC Replacement Project.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/24/23 Finance Committee recommended for approval

23-0901 Resolution #7-R-23 - Local Government Funding Legislation Resolution 

Expressing Support for Wisconsin Act 12

#7-R-23 Local Govt Funding Legislation Support.pdf

Substituted Resolution #7-R-23.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

7/24/23 Finance Committee recommended for approval

Fenton makes motion to amend by substitution.  

Seconded by VanZeeland.  

Discussed.  

Vote to approve amendment 3-2 (Firkus & Hartzheim).  Amendment Approved.

23-0907 St. Joseph's Cemetery reimbursement request for maintenance of Veteran 

graves

St. Joesph Cemetery Reimbursement.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/24/23 Finance Committee recommended for approval

6. MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

Page 5 City of Appleton Printed on 7/28/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23028
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e11ffacd-856c-47f0-83f5-944374e6de6e.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0415ac14-d2ef-4b00-b749-4a3d8b9cc11c.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=aa39a62b-745c-416e-9d2a-5cde4cb0c750.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23071
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1e1921e1-fa4a-433d-9b8e-9f43e45e1e65.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23076
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=03648405-a351-4fab-9427-b97de47cd569.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6b08608e-4bcd-4b4a-81f6-138dbc8c4c10.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23082
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=44bdafa8-f92e-4597-beff-0cb7eea94274.pdf


August 2, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

23-0882 Request to approve a variance to the Deed Restrictions and Covenants to 

allow for an approximately 3,120 square foot truck maintenance facility on 

the approximately 16 acres of the approximately total 30 acres under 

contract for Lot 26 (Tax Id #31-9-5712-26), Lot 27 (Tax Id #31-9-5712-27), 

Lot 28 (Tax Id #31-9-5712-28) and Lot 29 (Tax Id #31-9-5712-29) 

Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 3 and Tax Id #31-9-5712-00 for 

Hayden Properties, LLC (an entity of F Street Development)

Hayden Properties LLC Variance Request Memo 7-26-23.pdf

Variance Request Email From F Street 7-13-23.pdf

C1.0 SITE PLAN (R3-FP)_Hayden Properties Request.pdf

C1.1 OVERALL SITE PLAN (R3-FP)_Hayden Properties Request.pdf

SPCP Deed Restrictions.pdf

F Street Subject Area Map.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

7/26/23 Community & Economic 

Development Committee

recommended for approval

23-0883 Request to amend the Development Agreement with 318 College Ave LLC 

to extend the completion date for a period of an additional six (6) months 

for improvements and redevelopment of the property located at 318 W. 

College Avenue (the Park Central Property) in Tax Increment Financing 

District No. 11

318 College Ave LLC DA Extension Memo 7-26-23.pdf

Request from 318 College Ave LLC to Amend DA 7-18-23.pdf

Park Central - Dev Agr 1st Amendment RECORDED.pdf

Park Central - Dev Agrm - RECORDED.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

7/26/23 Community & Economic 

Development Committee

recommended for approval

23-0905 Resolution #8-R-23 Creating Appleton Conservancy Park

(Taken up under Consolidated Action Items)

#8-R-23 Appleton Conservancy Park Resolution .pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/26/23 Community & Economic 

Development Committee

recommended for approval

7. MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE

Page 6 City of Appleton Printed on 7/28/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23057
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4058c868-e299-4879-924d-99a7878fe1f5.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8fa77259-9867-4da7-97ba-f3d2fc89a71e.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=10b48475-9401-47a5-bd7d-2be7fca981ac.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7458cf10-dd8d-47da-9ee2-14a89ba6265f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=aecfdab8-77b1-4306-bfe6-4aba884befaf.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9dd1b204-da5d-4bb1-bd34-c6baba40ed6b.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23058
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=25d2e30f-9837-4e34-beff-eeb423411c22.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=83658b2b-059e-4f12-83a5-b5f9835c33df.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e8da03ab-eea0-4013-842a-e1f29a709ec8.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9a14ce5a-fc47-4b57-90fa-471c43e0226d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23080
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=234b1d8c-0961-407b-831b-99e8f8572c71.pdf


August 2, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

23-0895 Amend 2023A Stormwater Management Plan Review contract with Brown 

and Caldwell by an increase of $20,000 for a total contract amount not to 

exceed $55,000.

 

2023A SWM Plan Review BC Amendment Memo Util Cmte.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/25/23 Utilities Committee recommended for approval

23-0910 Adopt the Proposed Revised Reid Golf Course and Appleton Memorial 

Park Stormwater Utility Agreements for Stormwater Ponds.

 

DPW AMP and Reid Stormwater Pond Utility Agreements.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/25/23 Utilities Committee recommended for approval

23-0911 Award Contract to Fiberglass Solutions, Inc. for Hypochlorite Fiberglass 

Reinforced Plastic Tank Relining Services in the amount of $24,262 plus a 

15% contingency of $3,639 for a total not to exceed of $27,901.

 

230720_UC Memo_FiberglassTank_RelineContractAward (003).pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

7/25/23 Utilities Committee recommended for approval

8. MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE

23-0915 Recommendation to Award Website CMS to Revize. 

 

2023 Recommendation to Award Website CMS to Revize.pdfAttachments:

9. MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION

10. MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH

M. CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMS

23-0922 Consolidated Action Items: Appleton Conservancy Park Resolution 

#8-R-23

23-0903 Parks & Recreation Committee

23-0904 City Plan Commission

23-0905 Community & Economic Development Committee

 

N. ITEMS HELD

Page 7 City of Appleton Printed on 7/28/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23070
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=96fd8f92-220d-491d-a2ae-dc77b9415f17.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23085
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0723271c-0ab3-4fb5-b466-de79ca6c144d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23086
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f3e3e1a0-e56e-4813-a3da-2a117eef03c4.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23090
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d19913cb-9174-4035-a625-8c9fe793926c.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23097


August 2, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

O. ORDINANCES

P. LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION

Q. RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

OF JURISDICTION

R. OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESS

S. ADJOURN

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities will be made upon request and 

if feasible.  

Remote meeting attendance may be permitted pursuant to Section 2-29 of the Appleton 

Municipal Code and Rules of Council.

Page 8 City of Appleton Printed on 7/28/2023



100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

City of Appleton

Meeting Minutes - Final

Common Council

7:00 PM Council ChambersWednesday, July 19, 2023

CALL TO ORDERA.

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Woodford at 7:01 p.m.

INVOCATIONB.

The Invocation was offered by Alderperson Croatt.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAGC.

ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONSD.

Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson 

Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt, 

Alderperson Chad Doran and Mayor Jake Woodford

Present: 15 - 

Alderperson Patrick HaydenExcused: 1 - 

ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADSE.

All Departments were represented.

This  was approved

APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTESF.

23-0788 Common Council Meeting Minutes of June 21, 2023

 

CC Minutes 6-21-23.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Croatt moved, seconded by Alderperson Meltzer, that the Minutes 

be approved.  Roll Call. Motion Carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson 

Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt 

and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Page 1City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22963
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=274f60b9-6a23-439e-bdd6-ef97f8395e42.pdf


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

Excused: Alderperson Patrick Hayden1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYORG.

23-0866 2023 Flag Day Parade Awards

 

Corey Otis presented the 2023 Flag Day Parade awards.

23-0867 Proclamations:

  - Children's Week

  - Parks & Recreation Month

 

Childrens Week Proclamation.pdf

Parks and Recreation Month Proclamation.pdf

Attachments:

23-0868 Budget Process Overview

 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATIONH.

The following spoke regarding Item 23-0613 from Safety & Licensing Committee, 

Core's Lounge Alcohol License:

Amy Ross Annen, 1344 W Washington St.

PUBLIC HEARINGSI.

23-0693 Public Hearing for Comprehensive Plan Map Amendment #1-23 

Lawrence University from Public/Institutional Land Use to Central 

Business District Land Use

Public Hearing Notice Comp Plan Amend #1-23.pdfAttachments:

The following spoke during the Public Hearing:

Eric Schacht, Lawrence University

23-0719 Public Hearing for Rezoning #3-23 Lawrence University from PI 

Public/Institutional District to CBD Central Business District

 

RZ #3-23 Notice of Public Hearing.pdfAttachments:

The Public Hearing was held.  No one spoke during the hearing.

Page 2City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23041
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23042
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2077dd67-6b07-4322-b3bc-752bc1b7c67b.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=41e5c4a5-04ee-4498-b8de-4b5736de8377.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23043
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22869
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=33010e59-0170-4a34-bc9e-8bd33df34909.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22895
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=17c8221a-c46e-4fda-8609-fb1aa0365dcd.pdf


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0787 Public Hearing for Rezoning #4-23 The Heritage from PD/R-3 #G-98 

Planned Development Multi-family District to R-3 Multi-family District

RZ #4-23 Notice of Public Hearing.pdfAttachments:

The Public Hearing was held. No one spoke during the hearing.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONSJ.

23-0769 Resolution Creating and Approving Project Plan for Tax Incremental 

District #13

(Taken up under Consolidated Action Items)

 

Resolution_Common Council_TIF 13_.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved

23-0831 Initial Resolution for the Street Vacation of E. Circle Street from N. 

Durkee Street to N. Drew Street

(Taken up under Consolidated Action Items)

 

Circle Street Vacation - Initial Resolution - FINAL.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved

ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAYK.

23-0824 Fire Department Service Agreement for Gold Cross Ambulance

 

Service Agreement for Gold Cross Ambulance.pdfAttachments:

This Item was referred back to the Safety and Licensing Committee by 

Alderperson Siebers, due back on 7/26/2023.

23-0865 Consolidated Action Items: Sexual Assault Survivors Monument in Ellen 

Kort Peace Park

Item 23-0823 City Plan Commission

Item 23-0811 Parks & Recreation Committee

 

Alderperson Alfheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Wolff, that the Items 

related to the Sexual Assault Survivors Monument be approved. Roll Call. 

Motion carried by the following vote:

Page 3City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22962
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ad87fa25-0d1e-4f51-873f-977cd3683efc.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22944
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=417c89a9-3ff3-44f1-8a7f-fbb9db5ce3d0.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23006
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b09a03bb-ea0e-4673-af1b-e1e7a87b0965.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22999
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=714ea7e5-8ca9-400d-86d2-36b4d8443c5e.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23040


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson 

Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt 

and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Excused: Alderperson Patrick Hayden1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

23-0613 Class "B" Beer License application for Core's Lounge LLC d/b/a Core's 

Lounge, Kor Xiong, Agent, located at 1350 W College Ave Suite D.

Core's Lounge.pdf

CoresLounge 2023 Lic Denial Letter.pdf

Fact and Findings Document Cores Lounge Signed 7-17-2023.pdf

Attachments:

Alderperson Croatt moved, seconded by Alderperson Jones, that the 

Recommendation to deny the alcohol license be approved. Roll Call. Motion 

carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson 

Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt 

and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Excused: Alderperson Patrick Hayden1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

23-0732 Request to approve Special Use Permit #8-23 to conform and expand a 

community living arrangement (CLA) a/k/a community based residential 

facility (CBRF) located at 2600 S. Heritage Woods Drive (Tax Id 

#31-8-2020-00 & 31-8-2025-00) serving a total capacity of 51 persons, 

as shown on the attached maps and per attached plan of operation, to 

run with the land subject to the conditions in the attached staff report and 

approve attached Resolution (2/3 vote of Common Council required for 

approval)

StaffReport_2600SHeritageWoodsDr_SUP_For6-28-23.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, that the 

Special Use Permit be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson 

Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt 

and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Page 4City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22789
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4cf46c5f-068c-45ad-915b-6916a0ec07b5.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c29d09fe-c16d-44d0-8754-38d8a2cba919.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=04ba6df2-29af-4e2f-965f-ffab0939e308.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22908
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=09abaad3-579c-4302-ba26-781a30ae6e33.pdf


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

Excused: Alderperson Patrick Hayden1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

23-0734 Request to approve Rezoning #4-23 for the subject site located at 2600 

S. Heritage Woods Drive (Tax Id #31-8-2020-00 & 31-8-2025-00), 

including to the centerline of the adjacent right-of-way, as shown on the 

attached maps, from PD/R-3 Planned Development Amendment #G-98 

Multi-family District to R-3 Multi-family District

StaffReport_2600SHeritageWoodsDr_Rezoning_For6-28-23.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Alfheim, that the 

Rezoning be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson 

Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad 

Doran

13 - 

Excused: Alderperson Patrick Hayden1 - 

Abstained: Alderperson Vaya Jones and Mayor Jake Woodford2 - 

23-0633 Request to approve Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 Future Land Use 

Map Amendment #1-23 for the subject parcels located at 313, 315, and 

319 E. College Avenue (Tax Id #31-2-0005-00), 321 E. College Avenue 

(Tax Id #31-2-0007-00), and vacant lots (Tax Id #31-2-0008-00 and 

31-2-0009-00) located along E. College Avenue on the southwest corner 

of E. College Avenue and Drew Street from future Public/Institutional land 

use designation to future Central Business District land use designation 

as shown on the attached map and approve the attached Resolution

StaffReport_LawrenceUniversity_CompPlan+Rezoning_For6-14-23.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Jones, that the 

Comprehensive Plan Amendment be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the 

following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, 

Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin 

Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson 

Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

12 - 

Excused: Alderperson Patrick Hayden1 - 

Abstained: Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland and Mayor 

Jake Woodford

3 - 

Page 5City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22910
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=72f2d64c-dd8c-43a2-836b-3b7fc96f89f4.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22809
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a8aa8ba2-d529-4d82-835b-c6a70af7199a.pdf


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0635 Request to approve Rezoning #3-23 for the subject parcels located at 

313, 315, and 319 E. College Avenue (Tax Id #31-2-0005-00) and vacant 

lots (Tax Id #31-2-0008-00 and 31-2-0009-00) located along E. College 

Avenue on the southwest corner of E. College Avenue and Drew Street, 

including to the centerline of the adjacent street and alley right-of-way, as 

shown on the attached maps, from P-I Public Institutional District to CBD 

Central Business District

StaffReport_LawrenceUniversity_CompPlan+Rezoning_For6-14-23.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Jones, that the Rezoning 

be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, 

Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin 

Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson 

Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

12 - 

Excused: Alderperson Patrick Hayden1 - 

Abstained: Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland and Mayor 

Jake Woodford

3 - 

COMMITTEE REPORTSL.

Balance of the action items on the agenda.

Alderperson Fenton moved, Alderperson Van Zeeland seconded, to approve 

the balance of the agenda.  The motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson 

Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt 

and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Excused: Alderperson Patrick Hayden1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE1.

Page 6City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22811
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d4dda6c0-c37f-4de1-9a99-9facef201808.pdf


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0759 Request from Rise Apartments LLC for a Permanent Street Occupancy 

Permit to install a 3’ deep building awning 10’ above the sidewalk grade 

in the W. Harris Street and N. Oneida Street right of way at 113 W. Harris 

Street.  

 

2023.06.21_Rise Perm Street Occ Permit Application.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0804 Approve Commercial Variance Process Services Contract for Large 

Projects to the E-Plan Exam.  

 

Memo_EPlan.pdf

Contract Amendment_Information Materials.pdf

E-Plan Exam - Fully Executed Contract.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0805 Approve street vacation for a portion of E. Circle Street west of Drew 

Street and east of Durkee Street as shown on Exhibit “A”. 

(Taken up under Consolidated Action Items)

 

Circle Street Vacation.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE2.

23-0825 Request to Accept Absentee Ballot Envelope Subgrant from the WEC

C Appleton 45201 $7559.83 Envelope Subgrant Award Ltr.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0710 Temporary Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor Premise Amendment 

application for TNE Inc d/b/a Emmett's Bar & Grill, Sharon Reader, 

Agent, located at 139 N Richmond St, on August 3-7, 2023, for Mile of 

Music, contingent upon approval from the Health and Inspections 

departments.

Emmetts Bar & Grill S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 7City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22934
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=17ceed7d-f06b-42ac-a479-ac2505e682bc.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22979
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1ec27323-3b57-49f9-8447-0a231726bea5.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=01ea1e30-d150-4731-9bab-d12e98c248f6.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e21646f6-55f5-4676-8a58-38292604db82.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22980
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6ce769c5-944c-4b47-b319-735ea9f3873d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23000
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=128190bc-7cfb-4775-852d-d7e50872f42a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22886
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4db6c937-8459-4e26-bb66-9734e0d910f9.pdf


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0739 Temporary Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor License Premise 

Amendment application for DDCT, Inc d/b/a Jim's Place, Stacy Hoffman, 

Agent, located at 223 E College Ave, on August 3-6, 2023, contingent 

upon approval from the Inspections department.

Jim's Place S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0717 Request to apply for WE Energies Grant for EMS Supplies and Training 

Items

Request to Apply for WE Energies Grant for EMS Supplies and 

Training Items.docx

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0740 Temporary Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor License Premise 

Amendment for Wooden Nickel Restaurant & Lounge Inc d/b/a Wooden 

Nickel Sports Bar & Grill, Anthony Mueller, Agent, located at 217 E 

College Ave, on August 3-6, 2023, contingent upon approval from the 

Inspections department.

Wooden Nickel S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0747 Class "A" Beer and "Class A" Liquor - Cider Only Change of Agent 

application for Kwik Trip Inc d/b/a Kwik Trip #639, Alexandra D Beck, 

New Agent, located at 2175 S Memorial Dr.

Alexandra D Beck S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0749 Temporary Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor Premise Amendment 

application for Stone Arch Brewpub Inc, Steven Lonsway, Agent, located 

at 1004 S Olde Oneida St, on August 3-6, 2023, for Mile of Music, 

contingent upon approval from all departments.

Stone Arch Brewpub - Mile of Music S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 8City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22915
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e9416246-6e87-45d8-b849-2408c4751f3c.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22893
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d49b4f38-491e-454e-b43a-949a3eab2abe.docx
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22916
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=863a4b2e-0efa-4b8c-a858-824f90d9cb39.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22922
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9bc607fe-8802-497f-a5fb-579d9b0410ab.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22924
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ecec7018-1b2a-4c7e-a782-86c641e8b89d.pdf


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0750 Temporary Class "B" Beer and Reserve "Class B" Liquor Premise 

Amendment for Fox Cities Performing Arts Center, Maria Van Laanen, 

Agent, located at 400 W College Ave, on August 16, 2023, contingent 

upon approval from all departments.

Fox Cities PAC S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0778 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor License application for Taste of 

Thai Fox Valley LLC d/b/a Taste of Thai, Chisa Jitmaiwong, Agent, 

located at 321 E College Ave, contingent upon approval from all 

departments.

Taste of Thai.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0781 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor Permanent Premise Amendment 

application for WHW Gastropub LLC d/b/a Meade Street Bistro, Daniel 

J. Hoff Sr, Agent, located at 2729 N Meade St, contingent upon approval 

from the Health and Inspections departments.

Meade Street Bistro.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0789 Late Pet Store Renewal application for Wild Habitats, Brady Bartel, 

Applicant, located at 1350 W College Ave Ste B, contingent upon 

approval from the Inspections department.  

Wild Habitats S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0790 Cigarette and Tobacco Products License application for James Holder 

d/b/a D8D Hemp, located at 2929 N Richmond St Ste 1.

D8D Hemp S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0801 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor Transfer of Premise application for 

Taste of Thai Fox Valley LLC d/b/a Taste of Thai, Chisa Jitmaiwong, 

Agent, New location at 1222 S Oneida St, contingent upon approval from 

the Community Development, Health, Inspections and Police 

departments.

Taste of Thai Transfer of Premise.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 9City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22925
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5d0e25c8-8110-4aa3-bf8b-9ad80cfa6a89.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22953
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1229c8bf-5097-4164-aef4-8a255e416c0c.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22956
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=49b647ce-2dd2-4ccb-9cc0-12c62081bfb5.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22964
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=61fa165c-e587-4ee7-803b-864483686343.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22965
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cd026d76-f783-49d7-bd99-9d8517e4bb53.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22976
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8e0b1e5a-b152-4a23-89c1-fb479e9bcb6b.pdf


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0802 Class "B" Beer and "Class B" Liquor Permanent Premise Amendment 

application for Santino LLC d/b/a Houdini's Escape Gastropub, located 

at 1216 S Oneida St, contingent upon approval from the Community 

Development, Health, Inspections and Police departments.

Houdini's Escape S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0818 Late 2023-2024 Class "B" Beer License Renewal application for Hmong 

Express LLC d/b/a Hmong Express, Ka Ying Thao, Agent, located at 

1216 N Division St, contingent upon approval from the Finance and 

Inspections departments.   

Hmong Express.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION3.

23-0736 Request to approve Resolution designating the proposed district 

boundaries and approving the Project Plan for Tax Incremental Financing 

District #13 in Southpoint Commerce Park, City of Appleton, Wisconsin

(Taken up under Consolidated Action Items)

Resolution_City Plan Commission_TIF 13.pdf

Updated Page 9 for TIF District 13 Project Plan.pdf

TIF District 13 Project Plan DRAFT June 28 2023.pdf

Resolution_Common Council_TIF 13 .pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0737 Request to approve the dedication of land for public right-of-way for 

portions of N. Providence Avenue and E. Baldeagle Drive located 

adjacent to N. Lightning Drive as shown on the attached maps

StaffReport_ProvidenceBaldeagle_StreetDedication_For6-28-23.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 10City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22977
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=010abcfc-4914-45d0-b575-ccdf487078d7.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22993
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a1093061-b2c4-4aa1-a4d7-5aaf9adfeb98.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22912
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7e2ed0c3-9bad-407b-877f-13a871bb3066.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1da3979a-5c51-44f2-a2ee-1ad67cdbe6f9.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4a350543-ddac-4413-a550-5dbfa3015077.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6fb06167-fc3e-44bb-80ec-1c25c9743ec6.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22913
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=76808a1f-05b7-4e4c-b33e-fcb07b6998e5.pdf


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0793 Request to approve Special Use Permit #9-23 for an automobile sales 

and display lot located at 1524 W. Civic Street (Tax Id #31-3-0124-00), 

as shown on the attached maps and per attached plan of operation, to 

run with the land subject to the conditions in the attached staff report and 

approve attached Resolution (2/3 vote of Common Council required for 

approval)

StaffReport_1524WCivicSt_SUP_For7-12-23.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0795 Request to approve the street discontinuance to vacate a portion of E. 

Circle Street public right-of-way located west of N. Drew Street and east 

of N. Durkee Street and adopt the Initial Resolution and exhibit map

(Taken up under Consolidated Action Items)

StaffReport_ECircleSt_StreetVacation_For7-12-23.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0823 Request to approve the location of the proposed Sexual Assault 

Survivors Monument within Ellen Kort Peace Park, per Wis. State Statute 

§62.23(5), as shown on the attached plans

(Taken up under Consolidated Action Items)

Memo_Plan Commission 

SexualAssaultSurvivorMonument_For7-12-23.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE4.

23-0809 Action:  Adopt the Proposed Revised Reid Golf Course and Appleton 

Memorial Park Stormwater Utility Agreements for Stormwater Ponds

 

AMP and Reid Stornwater Pond Utility Agreements.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0811 Request Approval of the Final Design - Sexual Assault Survivors 

Monument - Placed Within Ellen Kort Peace Park

 (Taken up under Consolidated Action Items)

Park&RecMemo_SexualAssaultSurvivorsMonument_FinalDesign.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE5.

Page 11City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22968
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6a26b58a-e2c7-422b-ae50-f6b31b774c36.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22970
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cdbbf4f8-1127-4488-95a2-e72c528bcaa8.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22998
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=99406ff9-fd02-425a-a5ea-45d60df3405d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22984
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=38240ffa-17f0-40ba-a26d-9322e9936d96.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22986
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f524baf9-0ea2-4b29-857a-e158a8372872.pdf


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0771 CEA Review Committee Report

 

CEA Minutes 6-12-23.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0772 Request to apply for a Safe Drinking Water Loan and to approve a 

Resolution declaring official intent to reimburse expenditures for loan 

disbursement payments.

 

Memo SDWLP Application  Resolution.pdf

CensusTracts.pdf

Resolution - Intent to Reimburse.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0773 Request to reject bid from Kiefer U.S.A. for the 2023 Memorial Park 

Miracle League Field Resurfacing Project.

 

2023 Memorial Park Miracle League Field Resurfacing Project  

(Reject Bids).pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0777 Request to award the City of Appleton’s 2023 Dance Studio Flooring 

contract to CMG Flooring, in the amount of $65,943 with a contingency of 

$10,000 for a project total not to exceed $75,943, along with the following 

budget amendment:

2023 City Hall Elevator Project - $100,000

2023 Dance Studio Move/Construction + $100,000

To record costs related to the Dance Studio relocation project (2/3 vote 

of Council required)

2023 Dance Studio Floor.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE6.

Page 12City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22946
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=00e70042-41bb-4639-b91b-7de8fb2a8597.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22947
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b1fa2cc6-7c24-4370-8793-dc07c4eae552.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=eb7a64b8-d73f-4520-bfbc-8fb20bea3b89.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f2fadae6-cf77-437f-8884-d6eb75d809d8.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22948
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f11192ba-fdc8-4ec1-9eac-08d8ba391447.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22952
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=332cc89a-d68f-4874-bbe8-0d48aff2c730.pdf


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0783 **CRITICAL TIMING** Request to approve Amendment #6 to the Offer to 

Purchase from Hayden Properties, LLC to purchase Lot 26 (Tax Id 

#31-9-5712-26), Lot 27 (Tax Id #31-9-5712-27), Lot 28 (Tax Id 

#31-9-5712-28) and Lot 29 (Tax Id #31-9-5712-29) Southpoint 

Commerce Park Plat No. 3 and Tax Id #31-9-5712-00 to modify and 

amend the property purchased by replacing Exhibit A with the new Exhibit 

A comprising approximately 16 acres (Associated with File #23-0784)

Hayden Properties LLC Amendment 6 to OTP Memo_7-12-23.pdf

Buyer Signed 6th Amendment to OTP + New Exhibit A Hayden 

Properties.pdf

Hayden Properties Accepted OTP 10-20-21.pdf

Hayden Properties II Executed Amendment 1.pdf

Hayden Properties II Executed Amendment 2.pdf

Hayden Properties II Executed Amendment 3.pdf

Hayden Properties II Executed Amendment 4.pdf

Hayden Properties II Executed Amendment 5.pdf

Subject Area Map_Southpoint_16 Acres.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0784 **CRITICAL TIMING** Request to approve the Offer to Purchase from F 

Street Manager 3, LLC to purchase a portion of the vacant land 

described as Lot 26 (Tax Id #31-9-5712-26), Lot 27 (Tax Id 

#31-9-5712-27), Lot 28 (Tax Id #31-9-5712-28) and Lot 29 (Tax Id 

#31-9-5712-29) Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 3 and Tax Id 

#31-9-5712-00, such portion consisting of approximately 14 acres, as 

shown on the attached Exhibit A, at a purchase price of $574,000.00 

($41,000 per acre) (Associated with File #23-0783)

Buyer Signed OTP + Addendum_Adjacent Excess Land_14 Acres_F 

Street Manager 3 LLC.pdf

Exhibit A_Subject Area Map_Southpoint_14 Acres.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE7.

MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE
8.

Page 13City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22958
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=11f2d646-c5fa-4b81-805a-b726ab26f151.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b6bd05f0-3b90-4657-8a31-2b5058d2f762.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bfc627f7-5bd3-43fd-a84f-cd352ba54195.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6bbbb537-1d07-4fd6-b0e0-87f9ff25cf81.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cb36bf50-6ff7-4e57-8d17-0fe87e4a3c6f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8ff0713d-88d0-4955-ab51-23fa41dffcce.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=159ff325-cbc8-4737-b83f-16fd7f30a383.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8e0823b4-0b2d-48e0-8ea2-49d169941ddf.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=43f3c5b0-b7f6-4e06-af26-df1d67c0a2ec.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22959
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f5740f5a-eba9-4add-abda-aa90b59e7bfb.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e7f48320-ea97-4813-85e4-1b595430e53d.pdf


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0753 APD Reorganization. 

 

Support Services Memo.pdf

Police DRAFT 5.4.23.pdf

Professional Development Administrative Specialist.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0827 Changes to the Table of Organization for Health and Community and 

Economic Development. 

 

2023.07.5_HealthTOChange_c.pdf

Community Health Supervisor.pdf

Health Department Draft 7.5.23.pdf

Community & Economic Development Draft 7.05.23.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION9.

23-0762 Authorization to Purchase Replacement Bus Shelters

Bus Shelter purchase memo and quotes.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-0763 Authorization to enter into the First Option Year Extension with Star 

Protection and Patrol for Security Services at the Downtown Transit 

Center

Star Protection Memo.pdf

Star Protection 2023- Proposal For Price Increase.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH10.

Page 14City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22928
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=91f1145b-aab6-469e-a5d6-52a709a0558d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=154f6266-3320-4b8e-85eb-472da6664c17.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=73b46d8a-b9a5-472b-9eea-4ce567fb0d36.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23002
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4e793b85-f219-4912-95da-0727cbd579b7.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=76679858-f8fd-402b-aa1d-87c646763548.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d20d0a6c-3a59-438d-aaab-f0809ffcb305.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ea110325-aeb5-431b-822e-02736e8d719b.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22937
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9f9ab236-aadc-4acd-83b0-2a9b8f1ba650.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22938
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4d99f147-5ad5-4d4c-99f7-d52426486e77.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e3cf6ffe-346d-4450-b4cf-92320b2272b3.pdf


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-0815 Changes to the Table of Organization for Health and Community and 
Economic Development

2023.07.5_HealthTOChange_0.pdf

TableOrganizationHealthDepartment7.5.23.pdf

CommunityHealthSupervisor_JobDescription.pdf

TableOrganizationCommEconDevDept7.5.23.pdf

CoordinatedEntrySpecialist_JobDescription.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMSM.

23-0859 Consolidated Action Items: E. Circle Street Vacation

Item 23-0805 Municipal Services Committee

Item 23-0795 City Plan Commission

Item 23-0831 Initial Resolution (Special Resolutions)

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Fenton, that the E. 

Circle Street Vacation Items be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the 

following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson 

Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt 

and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Excused: Alderperson Patrick Hayden1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

23-0861 Consolidated Action Items: Tax Incremental District #13 

Item 23-0736 City Plan Commission

Item 23-0769 Common Council Resolution (Special Resolutions)

 

Alderperson Schultz moved, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, that the 

TID #13 Items be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson 

Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt 

and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Excused: Alderperson Patrick Hayden1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 15City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=22990
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=223305bb-ab7e-416f-91a1-c163c67f1c9f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=054555e9-e864-45c1-b599-ccbd44e7619a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=95a672fd-9ac9-406f-abeb-54c9ff18866a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6cffbf1b-cdd9-4d8e-9659-52fd22d59a66.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=09f0117b-3934-4c01-9d0a-d7705b3aa3c1.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23034
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23036


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

ITEMS HELDN.

ORDINANCESO.

23-0832 Ordinances #20-23 to #85-23

 

Ordinances to Council 7-19-23.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, that the 

Ordinances be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson 

Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt 

and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Excused: Alderperson Patrick Hayden1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION
P.

RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

OF JURISDICTION
Q.

23-0901 Resolution #7-R-23 - Local Government Funding Legislation Resolution 

Expressing Support for Wisconsin

#7-R-23 Local Govt Funding Legislation Support.pdfAttachments:

23-0903 Resolution #8-R-23 Creating Appleton Conservancy Park

 

#8-R-23 Appleton Conservancy Park Resolution .pdfAttachments:

OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESSR.

ADJOURNS.

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, that the 

meeting be adjourned at 7:45 p.m. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Page 16City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23007
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4b9fea75-baa8-44b9-8b59-2497e0b6761c.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23076
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5146c016-5e5b-4322-83a4-1843437004bd.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23078
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=37980984-09fa-4b81-83e6-be432580efa0.pdf


July 19, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson 

Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt 

and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Excused: Alderperson Patrick Hayden1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Page 17City of Appleton







REDACTED



____________________

REDACTED

REDACTED

REDACTED

REDACTED





REDACTED























_____________

_________







REDACTED

REDACTED



REDACTED

REDACTED

REDACTED



REDACTED





REDACTED









REDACTED

REDACTED



REDACTED

REDACTED

REDACTED





 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION____________________________________________________ 

Owner:  City of Appleton 

 

Applicant:  Tom Kromm, City Surveyor  

 

Location:  Land area bounded by Eisenhower Drive, Midway Road, and Coop Road  

 

Parcel Numbers:  31-9-5900-00 and 31-9-5800-00 

 

BACKGROUND_______________________________________________________________ 

The property was annexed to the City through the Southeast Industrial Park Annexation #4 that became 

effective in December of 1999.  

  

On March 19, 2003, Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 1 (47 acres) was approved by the Common 

Council.  This phase created 13 lots and 1 outlot. 

 

On August 3, 2005, Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 2 (67.9 acres) was approved by the Common 

Council.  This phase created 12 lots and 1 outlot. 

 

On May 3, 2006, Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 3 (27.8 acres) was approved by the Common 

Council.  This phase created 12 lots.  

 

On June 28, 2023, the Plan Commission recommended approval of Resolution No. 23-CPC-01 

designating the proposed district boundaries and approving the Project Plan for Tax Incremental 

Financing District #13 in Southpoint Commerce Park.  

 

On July 19, 2023, a press event was held to announce the City’s intention to designate approximately 32 

acres of the Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 4 as a conservancy/public park.  The proposed parkland 

dedication consists of Lot 13 (conservancy park consisting of mixed hardwoods for potential low-impact 

activities like hiking, biking, and cross-country skiing) and Outlot 2 (future construction of a trailhead and 

public trail).  

 

On July 19, 2023, Resolution #8-R-26 Creating Appleton Conservancy Park was introduced at the 

Common Council Meeting and referred to Plan Commission. Condition #1 in the staff recommendation is 

associated to the resolution and the following action item 23-0904.  The filing and recording of the  

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Meeting Date:  July 26, 2023 

Common Council Meeting Date:  August 2, 2023 

Item:  Preliminary Plat – Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 4 

Case Manager:  Don Harp, Principal Planner 

    Community and 

    Economic 

   Development 



Preliminary Plat – Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 4 

July 26, 2023 

Page 2 

 

 

Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 4 will statutorily dedicate this land to the public for parkland, trail 

and trailhead use.  
 

STAFF ANALYSIS_____________________________________________________________ 

Existing Conditions:  The subject site is agricultural land with a wooded wetland and an existing 

stormwater management pond.  The land area is 117.379 acres. 

 

Proposed Conditions:  The Preliminary Plat for Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 4 subdivides the 

land area into the following lots: 

 

• Lots 1 through 12 will be marketed for industrial park development. 

• Lot 13 (wooded wetland) will be “dedicated to the public for parkland” on the Final Plat.   

• Outlot 1 is an existing stormwater management pond. 

• Outlot 2 will be “dedicated to the public for parkland/trailhead/trail” on the Final Plat.  

Zoning District Classification:  M-1 Industrial Park District 

Zoning Ordinance Review Criteria:  M-1 Industrial Park District lot development standards (Section 

23-93) are as follows: 

 

• Minimum lot area:  One (1) acre. 

 

o The proposed lot size ranges from 1.878 acres to 32.535 acres. All lots/outlots exceed the 

minimum lot area requirement. 

 

• Minimum lot width:  One hundred fifty (150) feet. 

 

o  All lots exceed this minimum requirement. 

 

• Minimum front, side and rear yard setbacks:  Forty (40) foot front yard, Twenty-five (25) foot side 

yard, and Twenty-five (25) foot rear yard. Fifty (50) foot side and rear yard, if abutting a 

residentially-zoned district. 

 

o Required front yard setback has been shown on the Preliminary Plat.  Required setbacks 

will be reviewed through the site plan and building permit review process. 

 

• Maximum building height:  Sixty (60) feet. 

 

o This will be reviewed through the site plan and building permit review process. 

 



Preliminary Plat – Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 4 

July 26, 2023 

Page 3 

 

 

• Maximum lot coverage.  Ninety percent (90%). 

 

o This will be reviewed through the site plan and building permit review process. 

 

Compliance with the Appleton Subdivision Regulations:  This subdivision complies with the Appleton 

Subdivision Regulations.   

 

Access and Traffic:   

 

• Vehicular access to Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 4 is via Eisenhower Drive, Endeavor 

Drive, Vantage Drive, Coop Road, and Inspire Court.  

 

• The proposed public right-of-way (Endeavor Drive, Vantage Drive and Inspire Court) within the 

subdivision will be dedicated to the City with the Final Plat.  

 

• Access to County Trunk “AP” (Midway Road) is not allowed for Lots 12 and 13.  

 

Surrounding Zoning and Land Uses: 

 

North:  Village of Harrison Zoning – Multi-family residential use 

 South:  Village of Harrison Zoning – Agricultural use 

 East: Village of Harrison Zoning – Single-family residential uses 

 West: City of Appleton Zoning, M-1 Industrial Park District – Industrial uses  

 

Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  Community and Economic Development staff has reviewed 

this proposal and determined it is compatible with the Business/Industrial designation shown on the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 Future Land Use Map and Resolution #8-R-23 Creating Appleton 

Conservancy Park.  Listed below are related excerpts from the City’s Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030. 

 

Chapter 4: Overall Community Goals Goal 1 – Appleton will continue to provide opportunities for 

residential, commercial, and industrial growth, including appropriate redevelopment sites within the 

downtown and existing neighborhoods, and greenfield development sites at the City’s edge.  

 

Goal 8 – Appleton will pursue economic development that retains and attracts talented people, brings 

good jobs to the area, and supports the vitality of its industrial areas, downtown, and neighborhood 

business districts.  

 

Chapter 9: Economic Development  

 

Objective 9.2 – Grow Appleton’s business community through recruitment, expansion, and retention 

programs that ensure a diverse business mix and jobs that pay well.  

 

 



Preliminary Plat – Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 4 

July 26, 2023 

Page 4 

 

 

Policy 9.5.1 – Ensure a continued adequate supply of industrial and commercial land to sustain new 

business development.  

 

Policy 9.5.2 – Proactively acquire property targeted for redevelopment and develop a land bank to assist 

in property assembly with a focus on corridors, the downtown, and areas identified as business/industrial 

on the Future Land Use Map.  

 

Chapter 10: Land Use  

 

Objective 10.1 – Provide an adequate supply of suitable land meeting the demand for development of 

various land uses.  

 

Objective 10.4 – Plan for compact, efficient, and fiscally responsible growth of residential, commercial, 

and industrial development in new neighborhoods in order to implement the principles of smart growth.  

 

Policy 10.4.3 – Promote commercial and industrial development which is compatible with nearby 

residential areas. 

 

Chapter 18 Park and Recreation Mater Plan 

 

18.1 OBJECTIVE: Identify land for acquisition, or opportunities to share facilities, to provide adequate 

access to parks in developed parts of Appleton where there are no existing parks. 

 

18.3 OBJECTIVE: Develop the City's park system as an interconnected network of sites linked by 

greenways and trails. 

 

18.6 OBJECTIVE: Plan, design, and develop additional parks and recreational facilities that meet 

current and emerging needs of the community. 
 

City of Appleton Trails Master Plan (January 2017): The City of Appleton Trails Master Plan 

proposed network map identifies a proposed trail between Eisenhower Drive and Coop Road located 

within the proposed Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 4.  

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the July 5, 2023 TRG Agenda.  No 

negative comments were received from participating departments. 

 

RECOMMENDATION_________________________________________________________ 

 

The Preliminary Plat for Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 4 BE APPROVED subject to the following 

conditions and as shown on the attached maps: 

 

 

 

 



Preliminary Plat – Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 4 

July 26, 2023 

Page 5 

 

 

1. On the Final Plat show the following: 

 

• Change Lot 13 to Outlot 3. Identify Outlot 3 being dedicated to the public for parkland 

purpose, “Dedicated to the public for parkland”.  
 

• Identify Outlot 2 being dedicated to the public for parkland/trailhead/trail purposes, 

“Dedicated to the public for parkland/trailhead/trail”. 
 

2. The owner/applicant shall submit to the City the Final Plat within 36 months after the last required 

approval of the Preliminary Plat.  If the Final Plat is not submitted within said 36 months, the City 

(and any other approving authority) may refuse to approve the Final Plat and shall recommence 

the procedure for Preliminary Plat approval or may extend the time for submission of the Final 

Plat.  

 



3709

36313505 3719 38253545
3845 39013801 3813

34203400-02

3401

40554029
4085

37013525

3725 3805

3805

3920

3921

3984

3989

3933

3829

25
05

25
14

26
05

26
12

26
25

27
05

27
00

25
15

35
00

27002701

2602

34
20

3520

3545

4025

30
50

30
00

29
00

30
01

29
11

28
12

28
11

28
19

28
09

28
10

33
00

33
55

33
77

36003500

3701

3808

30
51

31
01

32
01

31
00

3545

33
01

3700

3551

33
51

3725

3865

3653

9-5712-37

9-5712-29

9-
57

10
-2

9-5712-35

9-5712-36

0-5715-1 9-5715-3

9-5715-5

9-5710-5

9-5710-1

9-5712-26

9-5712-27

9-5712-28

9-5712-34

9-5705

9-5709

9-5700-2

9-5700-1

9-
57

10
-3

9-
57

10
-4

9-5705-1 9-5705-2

9-5900

9-5712-1

9-5712-25

9-5715-1

9-5715-4

9-5712-9

9-5712-14

9-5710

9-5711

9-5715

9-5800

9-4197

9-4192

9-4193

9-5712-15

9-5712-16
9-5712-17 9-5712-18

9-5712-20

9-5712-21

9-5712-22

9-5712-23

9-5712-24

9-5712-3

9-5712-4

9-5712-5

9-5712-12

9-5700-4

9-5700-6

0-4166-14

0-4166-15

9-5715-2

9-5715-7

4-6162-94-6162

9-5713

9-58109-58119-5812

9-5813

9-5712-39

9-5712

9-5712-40

9-5712-8

9-5712-19

9-5712-6 9-5712-7

9-5714-3

9-5715-6

9-5712-10

9-5714
9-5714-1

9-5714-2

9-5715-8

C-2 P-I

C-2

M-1

PD/C-2

PD/C-2
E CALUMET ST

HEDGEROW DR

BLAZIN

G
STAR DR

E MIDWAY RD

E
 L

A
K

E
 P

A
R

K
 C

R
O

S
S

IN
G

H
W

Y
44

1

RAM
P

E PARKSIDE BLVD

E NORTHSHORE BLVD

CROOKED PINE CT

VALLEY LA

JE
F

F
 C

T

CATHY CT

E
D

G
E

W
A

T
E

R
 D

R

R
O

S
E

B
U

D
LA

V

IC
T

O
R IA N

D
R

P
IN

E
C

R
E

S
T

 B
LV

D

G
O

LD
E

N

WAY

C
R

E
E

KS

IDE CT

E PLANK RD

CTH KK

AND
R

E
W

D
R

HEARTHSTONE DR

GARNET DR

S
N

A
P

D
R

A
G

O
N

 L
A

N
 C

O
O

P
 R

D

WHITE PINE DR

S
E

IS
E

N
H

O
W

E
R

D
R

CAMEO CT

G
A

R
N

E
T

 C
T

CORAL CT

PINECREST CT

E ENDEAVOR DR

E LORNA LA LORNA LA

PINEWOOD CT

S
 L

A
K

E
LA

N
D

 D
R

E VANTAGE DR

F
E

N
C

E
LIN

E DR

E
IS

E
N

H
O

W
E

R
D

R

S
 Q

U
E

S
T

 D
R

PEARL DR

FARMSTEAD
D

R

GREYSTONE CT

JESSICA LA

C
O

O
P

 R
D

E MILIS DR

PAIGE WAY

CORNFLOWER DR

GOLD E
N

C
T

S
T

O
N

E
Y

 B
R

O
O

K
 R

D

S
A

LL
IA

N
C

E
D

R

CAMRON DR
E

D
E

S
TIN

ATIO
N

D

R

H
W

Y
44

1
O

N
R

A
M

P

MOONFLOWER DR

STRAWFLOWER
DR

E
M

E
R

A
LD

 L
A

MIDWAY RD

HW
Y

44
1

O
FF

R
A

M
P

HWY 10

E PLANK RD

S
M

A
T

T
H

IA
S

S
T

E FREMONT ST

S
T

E
LU

LA
H

A
V

E TAFT AV

S
O

N
E

ID
A

S
T

PLANK RD

MIDWAY RD

E CALUMET ST

E COLLEGE AV B
U

CHANAN RD

S
TA

T
E

P
A

R
K

R
D

HEARTHSTONE DR

S
L

A
W

E
S

T

N
 C

O
O

P
 R

D

E
IS

E
N

H
O

W
E

R
 D

R

E NEWBERRY ST

EMONS RD

S
 K

E
N

S
IN

G
T

O
N

 D
R

S
L

A
K

E
P

A
R

K
R

D

S
 Q

U
E

S
T

 D
R

E MIDWAY RD

MANITOWOC RD

CE

NLP

KK

441

Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No.4
Preliminary Plat

Vicinity MapSubject
Area

City Plan Commission
7-26-2023

Subject Area

± 0 500 1,000

Feet



0-4168-9

0-4168-13

0-
41

68
-1

1
0-

41
68

-1
2

17
08

18
00

20
01 3709

36313505 3719 38253545
3845 39013801 3813

34203400-02

3401

40554029
4085

21
00 37013525

3725 3805

3805

3920

3921

3984

3989

3933

3829

25
05

25
14

26
05

26
12

26
25

27
05

27
00

25
15

35
00

27002701

2602

34
20

3520

3545

4025

30
50

30
00

29
00

30
01

29
11

28
12

28
11

28
19

28
09

28
10

3310

3311

3322

33
00

33
55

33
77

36003500

3701

3808

30
51

31
01

32
01

31
00

3545

33
01

3700

3551

33
51

3725

3865

3653

Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No.4
Preliminary Plat

Aerial Map

City Plan Commission
7-26-2023

Subject Area

±
0 500 1,000

Feet



E
IS

E
N

H
O

W
E

R
        D

R
IV

E

INSPIRE COURT

MIDWAY      ROAD

ENDEAVOR
   DRIVE

80'

80'

40'47'

LOT 2   C
.S.M. 2932

UTILITY EASEMENT IN VOL. 5, PG.157

62
.5

1'
27

'

62
.5

'
27

'

S89°15'41"E  2632.32'

NORTH LINE OF THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 4-20-18

N89°15'41"W   1964.04'

CITY OF APPLETON

TOWN OF HARRISON

S/L OF THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 4, T20N, R18E

80'

47' 40'

80'

80'

80'

OFFICIALLY MAPPED
EISENHOWER DRIVE

10' W
ID

E U
TILITY

EASEM
EN

T PER
D

O
C

. #426412

10' W
ID

E U
TILITY

EASEM
EN

T PER

D
O

C
. #426412

10' WIDE UTILITY
EASEMENT PER
DOC. #426412

N89°43'14"W   2619.78' (2619.69')

BLAZING
STAR
DRIVE

C
O

O
P

            R
O

A
D

2
183,807 Sq. Ft.

4.220 Acres

S25°44'53"W
150.00'

1
548,304 Sq. Ft.
12.587 Acres

OUTLOT 1
467,294 Sq. Ft.
10.728 Acres

LOT 1   C
.S.M. 2932

VANTAGE
   DRIVE

MILIS   DRIVE

OUTLOT 2
           81,818 Sq. Ft.

 1.878 Acres

N89°15'41"W                                                                         1117.01'

N
08°12'41"E           419.74'

C1

C
7

N89°17'41"W
84.93'

S89°17'41"E
84.98'

N89°18'23"W 172.38'

S89°18'23"E 172.38'

123.80'
N51°22'06"W

152.00

3
166,579 Sq. Ft.

3.824 Acres

4
201,557 Sq. Ft.

4.627 Acres 5
151,431 Sq. Ft.

3.476 ACRES

6
189,568 Sq. Ft.

4.352 Acres

7
176,542 Sq. Ft.

4.053 Acres

8
159,876 Sq. Ft.

3.670 Acres

9
189,171 Sq. Ft.

4.343 Acres 10
211,975 Sq. Ft.

4.866 Acres

11
336,039 Sq. Ft.
7.714 ACRES

12
445,963 Sq. Ft.
10.238 ACRES

13
1,417,213 Sq. Ft.

32.535 ACRES

812.93
SANMH

6964

812.45
SANMH

7005

812.69
SANMH

7080

811.87
SANMH

7124

811.18
SANMH

7183

809.74
SANMH

7246

809.04
SANMH

7354

807.12
SANMH

7424

804.16
SANMH

7456

799.70
SANMH

7552

799.23
SANMH

7587

799.97
SANMH

7592

796.00
SANMH

7704

791.68
SANMH

7794

789.55
SANMH

7884

787.87
SANMH

7956

782.65
SANMH

7992

782.35
SANMH

8039

791.57
SANMH

8742

782.76
SANMH

8936

779.21
SANMH

9183

816.55
SANMH ?
4859

814.15
SANMH

4930

810'

814'

810'

806'

808'

804'

802'

802'

800'

798'

796'

794'

792'

790'

788'

786'

784'
782'780'

775'
770'

816'

81
0' 81

2'

81
0'

812'
814'

810'

811'

810'

810'

808'

806'

804'

802'

800'

798'

79
6'

79
4'

79
2'

78
8'

788'

786'

784'

782' 780'

778'
776'

774'

774'

772'

770'

770'
772' 774'776'

778' 778'
778'

776' 774' 772'

778'778'77
6'

770'772' 774'
776'778'

CAMRON
DRIVE

HEARTHSTONE
DRIVE

GARNET
DRIVE

S57°11'25"W

53.18'

53.18'

N57°11'25"E S51°22'06"E

123.80'

SE CORNER OF
SECTION 4, T20N, R18E
RAILROAD SPIKE FND.

1798.83'
S00°31'53"W

66' R/W

66' R/W

66' R/W

80' R/W TYPICAL

VAR
IABLE W

ID
TH

 R
/W

40' STO
R

M
 SEW

ER
 AN

D
 D

R
AIN

AG
E EASEM

EN
T

40' STO
R

M
 SEW

ER
  AN

D
 D

R
AIN

AG
E EASEM

EN
T

40' STO
R

M
 SEW

ER
      AN

D
 D

R
AIN

AG
E EASEM

EN
T

S00°14'18"W
2596.71'

S89°30'14"E   243.13'

N71°17'17"E   254.66'

N2
4°

11
'26

"E
   

  3
61

.4
9'

S89°28'04"E             367.21'

66' R/W

66' R/W

66' R/W

66' R/W

N
00°31'53"E                    474.31'

503.95'
529.07'

N
00°44'53"E        537.66'

C
6

N19°52'41"E
175.00'

N
00°07'53"E          394.12'

908.58'N89°43'14"W

PLANK  ROAD80' R/W

E
IS

E
N

H
O

W
E

R
        D

R
IV

E

E
IS

E
N

H
O

W
E

R
D

R
IV

E

SOUTH 1/4 CORNER OF
SECTION 4, T20N, R18E
MAG NAIL FND.

VAR
IABLE

W
ID

TH

EAST 1/4 CORNER OF
SECTION 4, T20N, R18E
P.K. NAIL FOUND

C
O

O
P

            R
O

A
D

C
O

O
P

            R
O

A
D

N23°20'11"W
                                       1015.62'

66' R/WDRIVEVANTAGE

66' R/W
S89°04'52"E

17.03'

N
12°48'13"W

                                       1197.59'

1098.86'

98.73'

491.67'

523.95'

S89°19'23"E                         787.05'

N89°04'52"W
17.47'

79
0'

N
00°14'18"E                   461.96'

N89°45'42"W                765.95'
291.14' 474.81'

S89°14'46"E  228.77'

N89°14'46"W  228.18'

500.71' 33.24'

132.10' 337.20' 305.75'

S89°19'23"E                                    785.06'

337.20' 372.34'

372.25'

N89°45'42"W
  227.08'

S89°45'42"E     259.95'

N89°45'42"W
136.44'

40'

40'

40'

40'

40'

40'

40'

40'

40'

40'

40' STO
R

M
 SEW

ER
 AN

D
 D

R
AIN

AG
E EASEM

EN
T

66.00'
486.56'

433.15'
66.00'

480.01'
32.75'

342.33'
1028.91'

66.00'
298.84'

1064.98'

VAR
IABLE W

ID
TH

 R
/W

VAR
IABLE W

ID
TH

 R
/W

80' R
/W

 TYP.

60' R.

40'

40'

40'

40'

40'

40'

40'

20' STO
RM

 SEW
ER   AND DRAINAG

E EASEM
ENT

20'

20'

510.28'

ENDEAVOR DRIVE

521.33'

328.39'
38.82'

DED I CAT ED  TO  THE  PUBLIC

79,106 SQ. FT.

(1.816 AC.)

L1L2

L3
L4

L5
L7

L6

L8
L9

L10
L11

L12

L1
3

L14

L15
C

2

N
00°44'53"E  718.34'

L16
L17

L18

L19
L20

C
3

C4

C
5

N12°27'32"E51.07'

372.42'

0.21'

253.10'
66.03'

EAST LIN
E O

F TH
E N

E 14  O
F

SEC
TIO

N
 4, T20N

, R
18E

EAST LIN
E O

F TH
E SE 14  O

F SEC
TIO

N
 4, T20N

, R
18E

DED TO THE PUBLIC
81,343 Sq. Ft. 1.867 Acres

ICATED

DEDICATED TO THE PUBLIC
25,448 Sq. Ft. 0.584 Acres

LOT 12 AND 13 ARE RESTRICTED FROM ACCESS TO MIDWAY  ROAD (C.T.H. "AP").

C.T.H  "AP"

C8

C9

C10
C11

C12

C13C17

C14

C18
C19

C16
C15

C20

C21

0.7'N & 0.3'E

C23

C22

C27
C25
C24

C26

POND

POND

POND

C30

C31

C29 C28

NOTE: LOT 13  CONTAINS WETLANDS
THAT ARE NOT DELINEATED ON THIS
PLAT BUT ARE DETAILED IN A WETLAND
DELINEATION REPORT BY TINA MEYERS
OF RA SMITH, PROJECT NO 1200123,
DATED FEBRUARY 3, 2021.

299.06'609.52'

VILLAGE OF HARRISON, ZONED MULTI-FAMILY

S89°28'07"E                                          947.58'
VICTORIAN VILLAGE CONDO   (LOT 1, C.S.M. NO.1831)

125.00
27.00'

372.25'
30.00'

405.08'

372.34'

N89°15'41"W                                                                         1081.79'

5.01'

415.40'
420.41'

51.25'

30' WIDE
PEDESTRIAN EASEMENT

30'

30'

SOUTHPOINT COMMERCE PARK PLAT NO. 4
ALL OF LOT 1 AND 2 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO.2932, LOCATED IN THE EAST 12 OF THE SE 1 4  AND THE EAST 12 OF THE NE 1 4, OF SECTION 4,
TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 18 EAST, CITY OF APPLETON, CALUMET COUNTY, WISCONSIN.

CALUMET ST                                   C.T.H.  KK

DR
.

KENSINGTON

S.T.
H.   

   4
41

LAKE PAR
K                                      R

O
AD

PLANK RD.

N
O

R
TH

       C
O

O
P        R

O
AD

EISEN
H

O
W

ER
 D

R

PLANK ROAD

MIDWAY   ROAD

LORNA

EISEN
H

O
W

ER

SCALE IN FEET

PRELIMINARY
PLAT

-----------------LEGEND------------------

        = 3/4" Iron Rebar Found

        = Sawcut X or V in Concrete, Set

        = 1.3" O.D. Iron Pipe Found,
 unless noted otherwise

        = Government Corner

There are no objections to this plat with respect to 
Secs. 236.15, 236.16, 236.20 and 236.21(1) and (2),
Wis. Stats. as provided by s. 236.12, Wis. Stats.

Certified __________________, 20_____

Department of Administration

(    )   =  Measurements of Record

=  Utility Tower

12
'

APPROVAL AGENCIES
CITY OF APPLETON

AGENCIES HAVING AUTHORITY TO OBJECT
DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION
CALUMET COUNTY PLANING AND ZONING
COMMITTEE

LOT

STR
EET

ENDEAVOR

DRIVE

D
R

IVE

VANTAGE     DRIVE

0 200' 400'

N

S

W E

BEARINGS ARE REFERENCED TO THE
WISCONSIN COUNTY COORDINATE SYSTEM,
CALUMET COUNTY, EAST LINE OF THE SE 1/4
SECTION 4, T.20N., R.18E.; WHICH BEARS
N00°14'18"E
H:\Acad\Plats\Southpoint 2022

MILIS     DRIVE

C.T.H.  "AP"

Q
U

EST    D
R

IVE

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE MEASURED AND COMPUTED
TO THE NEAREST 0.01 FOOT.  ALL ANGLES AND
BEARINGS ARE MEASURED AND COMPUTED TO THE
NEAREST SECOND.  ALL EASEMENTS WILL BE
SHOWN ON THE FINAL PLAT ALL ELEVATIONS ARE
REFERENCED TO NAVD 88 DATUM.

All other lot corners monumented with 3/4" x 24"
iron rebar, weighing 1.5 lbs./lineal foot set

=  1 14 x 30" Iron Rebar Set, Weighing
    4.3 lbs./Lineal Foot Set

=  Proposed 12' Utility Easement
    (Unless Otherwise Noted)

=  Delineated Wetland Areas

TYPICAL BUILDING SETBACK
40' AT FRONT, 25' SIDE AND REAR
(50' REAR YARD AND SIDE YARD IF ABUTTING
A RESIDENTIALLY-ZONED DISTRICT).

NOT TO SCALE
LOCATION  MAP

SECTION 4, TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH,
RANGE 18 EAST, CITY OF APPLETON,

CALUMET COUNTY, WISCONSIN.

NOTES:
THIS PLAT IS ZONED M-1
THE FINAL LOCATION AND DIMENSION OF ALL
EASEMENTS WILL BE SHOWN ON THE FINAL PLAT.
GROSS AREA = 5,113,034 SQ. FT.
STREET AREA = 185,897 SQ. FT.

CITY OF APPLETON
DEPT. OF PUBLIC WORKS
ENGINEERING DIVISION
100 NORTH APPLETON STREET
APPLETON, WI 54911
920-832-6474
DRAFTED BY: T. KROMM
ONEDRIVE\ACAD\PLATS\SOUTHPOINT 2022
SHEET 1 0F 2

=  No Access To County Trunk "AP"
    (Midway Road)

AutoCAD SHX Text
3636

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
791.64

AutoCAD SHX Text
1076

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPENGRATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
776.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
1103

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP 15" PLSTC

AutoCAD SHX Text
768.77

AutoCAD SHX Text
3784

AutoCAD SHX Text
INL

AutoCAD SHX Text
782.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
3800

AutoCAD SHX Text
INL

AutoCAD SHX Text
782.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
3805

AutoCAD SHX Text
STO

AutoCAD SHX Text
782.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
3824

AutoCAD SHX Text
STO

AutoCAD SHX Text
785.07

AutoCAD SHX Text
3825

AutoCAD SHX Text
INL

AutoCAD SHX Text
785.07

AutoCAD SHX Text
3832

AutoCAD SHX Text
INL

AutoCAD SHX Text
784.99

AutoCAD SHX Text
3848

AutoCAD SHX Text
INL

AutoCAD SHX Text
782.42

AutoCAD SHX Text
3878

AutoCAD SHX Text
INL

AutoCAD SHX Text
778.89

AutoCAD SHX Text
3903

AutoCAD SHX Text
INL

AutoCAD SHX Text
778.95

AutoCAD SHX Text
3905

AutoCAD SHX Text
STO

AutoCAD SHX Text
778.83

AutoCAD SHX Text
3910

AutoCAD SHX Text
STO

AutoCAD SHX Text
782.48

AutoCAD SHX Text
3914

AutoCAD SHX Text
STO

AutoCAD SHX Text
782.94

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURVE DATA TABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RADIUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARC LENGTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHORD LENGTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHORD BEARING

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL ANGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TANGENT BEARING

AutoCAD SHX Text
TANGENT BEARING

AutoCAD SHX Text
C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
78.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
123.06'

AutoCAD SHX Text
110.84'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N44°48'33"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
89°49'22"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°43'14"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°06'08"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C2

AutoCAD SHX Text
590.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
106.12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
105.98'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N05°03'02"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
10°18'20"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°06'08"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N10°12'12"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C3

AutoCAD SHX Text
503.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
26.80'

AutoCAD SHX Text
26.79'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°46'41"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
3°03'08"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N02°18'15"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°44'53"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C4

AutoCAD SHX Text
500.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
67.63'

AutoCAD SHX Text
67.58'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N21°52'23.5"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
7°44'59"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N17°59'54"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N25°44'53"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C5

AutoCAD SHX Text
580.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
253.07'

AutoCAD SHX Text
251.07'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N13°14'53"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
25°00'00"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N25°44'53"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°44'53"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C6

AutoCAD SHX Text
860.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
287.14'

AutoCAD SHX Text
285.81'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N10°18'47"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
19°07'48"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°44'53"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N19°52'41"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C7

AutoCAD SHX Text
940.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
314.55'

AutoCAD SHX Text
313.08'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N10°17'30"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
19°10'22"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N19°52'41"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°42'19"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C8

AutoCAD SHX Text
333.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
219.18'

AutoCAD SHX Text
215.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S70°13'29"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
37°42'46"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°04'52"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N51°22'06"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C9

AutoCAD SHX Text
267.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
175.74'

AutoCAD SHX Text
172.59'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N70°13'29"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
37°42'46"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°04'52"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N51°22'06"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C10

AutoCAD SHX Text
267.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
176.79'

AutoCAD SHX Text
173.58'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S70°20'14.5"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
37°56'17"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N51°22'06"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°18'23"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C11

AutoCAD SHX Text
267.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
113.30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
112.45'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S77°09'00"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
24°18'46"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N64°59'37"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°18'23"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C12

AutoCAD SHX Text
267.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
63.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
63.34'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S58°10'51"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
13°37'31"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N51°22'06"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N64°59'37"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C13

AutoCAD SHX Text
333.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
220.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
216.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N70°20'14.5"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
37°56'17"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N51°22'06"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°18'23"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C14

AutoCAD SHX Text
267.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
156.13'

AutoCAD SHX Text
153.91'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S73°56'31"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
33°30'12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°18'23"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S57°11'25"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C15

AutoCAD SHX Text
267.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
64.28'

AutoCAD SHX Text
64.12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S64°05'13"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
19°42'37"

AutoCAD SHX Text
S70°59'00"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S57°11'25"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C16

AutoCAD SHX Text
267.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
91.85'

AutoCAD SHX Text
91.40'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S80°50'19"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
13°47'35"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°18'23"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S70°59'00"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C17

AutoCAD SHX Text
333.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
194.72'

AutoCAD SHX Text
191.96'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S73°56'31"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
33°30'12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°18'23"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S57°11'25"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C18

AutoCAD SHX Text
333.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
124.99'

AutoCAD SHX Text
124.26'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S67°56'36"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
21°30'22"

AutoCAD SHX Text
S78°41'47"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S57°11'25"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C19

AutoCAD SHX Text
333.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
69.73'

AutoCAD SHX Text
69.60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S84°41'42"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
11°59'50"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°18'23"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S78°41'47"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C20

AutoCAD SHX Text
333.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
194.79'

AutoCAD SHX Text
192.02'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S73°56'52"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
33°30'54"

AutoCAD SHX Text
S57°11'25"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°17'41"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C21

AutoCAD SHX Text
267.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
156.18'

AutoCAD SHX Text
153.96'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S73°56'52"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
33°30'54"

AutoCAD SHX Text
S57°11'25"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°17'41"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C22

AutoCAD SHX Text
333.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120.74'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120.08'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N78°51'33"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
20°46'26"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°14'46"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N68°28'20"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C23

AutoCAD SHX Text
267.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
96.81'

AutoCAD SHX Text
96.28'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N78°51'33"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
20°46'26"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°14'46"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N68°28'20"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C24

AutoCAD SHX Text
267.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
97.16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
96.63'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N78°51'33"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
20°51'03"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N68°28'20"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°19'23"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C25

AutoCAD SHX Text
333.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
121.18'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120.51'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N78°51'33"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
20°51'03"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N68°28'20"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°19'23"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C26

AutoCAD SHX Text
333.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
67.05'

AutoCAD SHX Text
66.94'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N83°33'17.5"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
11°32'11"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N77°47'12"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°19'23"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C27

AutoCAD SHX Text
333.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
54.13'

AutoCAD SHX Text
54.07'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N73°07'46"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
9°18'52"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N68°28'20"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N77°47'12"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C28

AutoCAD SHX Text
267.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
65.85'

AutoCAD SHX Text
65.68'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S83°10'24"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
14°07'49"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°45'42"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S76°06'29"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C29

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
268.53'

AutoCAD SHX Text
94.28'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N37°58'35"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
256°25'46"

AutoCAD SHX Text
S13°48'32"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S89°45'42"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C30

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
94.50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
85.03'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S45°07'05"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
90°14'26"

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°00'08"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S89°45'42"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C31

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
174.03'

AutoCAD SHX Text
119.13'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N83°05'48"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
166°11'20"

AutoCAD SHX Text
S13°48'32"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°00'08"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE TABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
L1

AutoCAD SHX Text
 N84°20'57"W 144.21'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L2

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°43'14"W 97.03'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L3

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°06'08"E 56.88'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L4

AutoCAD SHX Text
N03°33'16"E 74.73'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L5

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°06'08"E 92.20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L6

AutoCAD SHX Text
N45°14'23"E 70.54'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L7

AutoCAD SHX Text
N05°56'56"W 66.40'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L8

AutoCAD SHX Text
N44°45'37"W 70.88'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L9

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°06'08"E 33.52'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L10

AutoCAD SHX Text
N10°12'12"W 256.84'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L11

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°51'56"W 72.56'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L12

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°44'53"E 49.18'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L13

AutoCAD SHX Text
N45°33'46"E 70.94'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L14

AutoCAD SHX Text
N05°18'36"W 66.33'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L15

AutoCAD SHX Text
N44°26'14"W 70.48'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L16

AutoCAD SHX Text
N08°26'29"E 52.29'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L17

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°44'53"E 98.21'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L18

AutoCAD SHX Text
N50°11'14"E 66.74'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L19

AutoCAD SHX Text
N02°24'08"E 66.24'

AutoCAD SHX Text
L20

AutoCAD SHX Text
N33°11'41"W 66.49'



CITY OF APPLETON
DEPT. OF PUBLIC WORKS
ENGINEERING DIVISION
100 NORTH APPLETON STREET
APPLETON, WI 54911
920-832-6474
DRAFTED BY: T. KROMM
ONEDRIVE\ACAD\PLATS\SOUTHPOINT 2022
SHEET 2 0F 2

SOUTHPOINT COMMERCE PARK PLAT NO. 4
ALL OF LOT 1 AND 2 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO.2932, LOCATED IN THE EAST 12 OF THE SE 1 4  AND THE EAST 12 OF THE NE 1 4, OF SECTION 4,
TOWNSHIP 20 NORTH, RANGE 18 EAST, CITY OF APPLETON, CALUMET COUNTY, WISCONSIN.

PRELIMINARY
PLAT

There are no objections to this plat with respect to 
Secs. 236.15, 236.16, 236.20 and 236.21(1) and (2),
Wis. Stats. as provided by s. 236.12, Wis. Stats.

Certified __________________, 20_____

Department of Administration

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE:

I, Thomas M. Kromm, Wisconsin Professional Land Surveyor, certify that I have surveyed divided, and mapped under the direction of the
City of Appleton, All of Lot One (1) and Lot Two (2) of Certified Survey Map Number 2932, located in the East One-half (E 12) of the Southeast
Quarter (SE ¼) and the East One-half (E 12) of the Northeast Quarter (NE ¼) of Section 4, Township Twenty (20) North, Range Eighteen (18)
East, in the City of Appleton, Calumet County, Wisconsin, containing 5,113,024 Square Feet (117.379 Acres) of land.  Said lands subject to all
easements and restrictions of record.

That I have fully complied with the provisions of  Chapter 236.34 of  the Wisconsin Statutes and the City of  Appleton subdivision ordinance in
surveying, dividing and mapping the same.  That this map is a correct representation of  all exterior boundaries of  the land surveyed and the
division thereof.

Dated this _____ day of ________________, 2023.

_______________________________________
Wisconsin Professional Land Surveyor
Thomas M. Kromm

CORPORATE OWNER'S CERTIFICATE OF DEDICATION

The City of Appleton, a Wisconsin municipal corporation duly established and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Wisconsin,
as owner, does hereby certify that said municipal corporation caused the land described in this plat to be surveyed, divided, mapped and dedicated
as represented on this plat.

The City of Appleton, does further certify that this plat is required by S.236.10 or S.236.12 to be submitted to the following for approval or
objection:

City of Appleton
Department of Administration
Calumet County

In Witness Whereof, said City of Appleton has caused these presents to be signed by its Mayor, and countersigned by its City Clerk, at Appleton
Wisconsin, and its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed on this ______ day of ____________________, 2023.

_________________________                                    _________________________
Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor                                          Kami Lynch, City Clerk

State of Wisconsin)
                                ) SS
Calumet County )

Personally came before me this _______day of ______________________, 2023.  Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor, and Kami Lynch, City Clerk of the
above named municipal corporation to me known to be the persons who executed the foregoing instrument and to me known to be such Mayor and
City Clerk of said municipal corporation, and acknowledged that they executed the foregoing instrument as such officers as the deed of such
corporation, by its authority.

__________ _______________  My commission expires____________________
Notary Public

COMMON COUNCIL RESOLUTION

Resolved, that the plat of SOUTHPOINT COMMERCE PARK PLAT NO. 4, in the City of Appleton, is hereby approved by the Common Council
of the City of Appleton.

Date: ________________ Signed:_____________________
                                                           Mayor

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a copy of a resolution adopted by the Common Council of the City of Appleton.

Date: ________________ Signed _____________________
                                                          City Clerk

CERTIFICATE OF FINANCE OFFICER

I,_________________________, being the duly qualified and acting treasurer of the City of Appleton, do hereby certify that in accordance with
the records in my office, there are no unpaid taxes or unpaid special assessments as of _____________ on any of the land included in the plat of
SOUTHPOINT COMMERCE PARK PLAT NO. 4.

Date: ________________       _____________________________
                                                    Jeri A. Ohman, Director of Finance

COUNTY TREASURER'S CERTIFICATE

State of Wisconsin)
                              )SS
Calumet  County)

I, _________________________, being the duly elected, qualified and acting treasurer of the County of Calumet, do hereby certify that the
records in my office show no unredeemed tax sales and no unpaid taxes or unpaid special assessments as of _______________ affecting the lands
included in the plat of SOUTHPOINT COMMERCE PARK PLAT NO. 4.

Date: ________________       ______________________
                                                    County Treasurer

SANITARY SEWER, WATERMAIN, STORM SEWER AND DRAINAGE EASEMENT PROVISIONS

An easement for sanitary sewer, watermain, storm sewer and drainage easement is hereby granted by:
THE CITY OF APPLETON, Grantor, to

THE CITY OF APPLETON, Grantee,

1. Purpose:  The purpose of  this easement for the Grantee to access, install, regrade, replace, relocate, operate, maintain, resize and repair a sanitary sewer,
storm sewer and associated appurtenances.  Grantee does hereby agree to compensate Grantor fully for any damage caused directly or indirectly from said
maintenance, repair, replacement or relocation of  said sanitary sewer and storm sewer that occurs outside of  the easement area.  Trees, bushes, branches
and roots may be trimmed or removed so as not to interfere with grantee's use of the easement area.

2. Access:  Grantee or its agents shall have the right to enter the grantor's land for the purpose of exercising its rights in the easement area.

3. Buildings or Other Structures:  Buildings or any other type of  structure shall not be placed over Grantees' facilities or in, upon or over the property within
the lines marked “sanitary sewer easement, storm sewer easement, drainage easement and watermain easement”.

4. Elevation:  The grantor agrees that the elevation of  the existing ground surface within the easement area will not be altered by more than 4 inches without
the written consent of grantee.

5. Restoration:  Grantee agrees that it will restore subsurface materials on grantor's land, as nearly as is reasonably possible, to the prior existing condition
when conducting all future maintenance, resizing or repair activities. Grantor shall be responsible for all surface restoration.  Grantee shall not be required
to restore or compensate for any improvements or improved surfaces such as, but not limited to, curb and gutter, hard pavements, sidewalks, structures,
trees, shrubs and landscaping, disturbed as a result of the maintenance activities described herein.

6. Notification:  Grantee agrees that it shall give timely notice to the Grantor of  routine maintenance work.  Grantee and Grantor agree to cooperate in good
faith to minimize interference or disruption to the normal facility operations.  Grantee shall provide advance notice to Grantor (except in emergency
situations, in which event notice shall be provided as soon as is practical) of  any activity with a reasonable likelihood of  interfering or disrupting the
operation Grantor's facility, and to conduct such activities at mutually agreeable times.

7. Drainage easements are conveyance paths for storm water. The placement of  fill in a drainage easement, which interferes with the flow or changes to the
shape of  the drainage easement by the lot owner or his agent, is prohibited.  Upon failure of  lot owner's to maintain said drainage ways and easements as
designed; the City of  Appleton retains the right to perform maintenance and or repairs. The payment of  said maintenance and or repairs shall be equally
assessed to the adjacent lot owners.

8. The grant of easement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, successors and assigns of all parties hereto.

__________________________                            _________________________
Jacob. A. Woodford, Mayor                                   Kami Lynch,  City Clerk

UTILITY EASEMENT PROVISIONS

An easement for electric and communications service is hereby granted by The City of Appleton,
                                                                                                                            Grantor, to
WE-ENERGIES ELECTRIC AND GAS
SBC WISCONSIN
TIME WARNER CABLE                                                                                  Grantees,

Their respective successors and assigns, to construct, install, operate, repair, maintain and replace from time to time, facilities used in connection
with overhead and underground transmission and distribution of electricity and electric energy for such purposes as the same is now or may
hereafter be used and for sounds and signals, all in, over, under, across, along and upon the property shown within those areas on the plat
designated as "Utility Easement Areas" and the property designated on the plat for streets and alleys, whether public or private, together with the
right to install service connections upon, across within and beneath the surface of each lot to serve improvements thereon, or on adjacent lots; also
the right to trim or cut down trees, brush and roots as may be reasonably required, incidental to the rights herein given, and the right to enter upon
the subdivided property for all such purposes.  The Grantees agree to restore or cause to have restored the property, as nearly as is reasonably
possible, to the condition existing prior to such entry by the Grantees or their agents.  This restoration, however, does not apply to the initial
installation of said underground and/or above ground electric facilities or communication facilities or to any trees, brush or roots which may be
removed at any time pursuant to the rights herein granted.  Structures shall not be placed over Grantees' facilities or in, upon or over the property
within the lines marked "Utility Easement Areas" without the prior written consent of Grantees.  After installation of any such facilities, the grade
of the subdivided property shall not be altered by more than four inches without the written consent of grantees.

The grant of easement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, successors and assigns of all parties hereto.

________________________                                 _________________________
Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor                                     Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Revised this



Resolution #8-R-23 
Creating the Appleton Conservancy and associated trail amenities by dedicating to the 
public city-owned lands in Southpoint Commerce Park for Parkland, Trailhead, and Trail. 
 
 
Submitted by: Common Council President & District 5 Alderperson, Katie Van Zeeland 
Date: July 19, 2023 
Referred To: Parks & Recreation Committee, City Plan Commission & Community & Economic 
Development Committee 
  
WHEREAS, the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Appleton cites evidence of the importance 
of parks, open space, and leisure programming to the environmental, social, and economic health 
of communities; furthermore, sufficient parks and open spaces provide habitats for plants and 
animals, contribute to effective stormwater management, and offer additional environmental 
benefits, and notably, parks and open spaces enhance the value of nearby property and park 
facilities and programming enhance the quality of life while facilitating the social interaction of 
community residents, thereby making the city a more desirable place to live; and 
  
WHEREAS, the City of Appleton seeks to provide equitable and inclusive recreational 
opportunities for all people, recognizing the role outdoor spaces play in the mental, physical, and 
environmental health of our residents; and 
  
WHEREAS, the results of a needs assessment found that the southeast side of Appleton was 
deficient in park space and has remained so despite continued growth; and  
  
WHEREAS, residents of District 5 do not have access to a community park within the 
recommended National Recreation and Park Association (NRPA) range of a 1-2 mile radius; 
and  
  
WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan aims to acquire 
additional parkland and trails with a specific objective of developing these amenities in southeast 
Appleton, and the Trail Masterplan recommends a trail corridor from Coop Road, extending 
westward coterminous with the electric transmission line to Plank Road; and 
  
WHEREAS, the City of Appleton is recognized as a Tree City, Bird City, Bee City, and 
Monarch City; and 
  
WHEREAS the City of Appleton owns significant acreage in an area called Southpoint 
Commerce Park, and within that area, there exists a stand of woodland that includes species such 
as shagbark hickory, white oak, basswood, red maple, sugar maple, and even American beech, in 
addition to wetlands; and 
  
WHEREAS, preserving precious natural areas aligns with our community’s values and vision, 
and dedicating significant acreage to public use is a rare but significant opportunity; and 
  



WHEREAS, adding this approximately 32-acre parcel to the City’s existing 600 acres of parks 
and trails will provide not only recreational opportunities such as walking, hiking, biking, and 
other low-impact recreational opportunities but also preserve and protect critical natural 
habitat and wetlands. 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Appleton 
that the City of Appleton dedicates to the public for parkland, trailhead, and trail, the city-owned 
lands in Southpoint Commerce Park, as illustrated in Exhibits 1 and 2, with Lot 13 of proposed 
Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 4 to be named the Appleton Conservancy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT 1: PARK, TRAIL, AND TRAILHEAD DEDICATION TO THE PUBLIC 
 

 
  



EXHIBIT 2: PROPOSED SOUTHPOINT COMMERCE PARK PLAT NO. 4 
Lot 13 And Outlot 2 are to be dedicated to the public for Parks, Trailhead, and Trail 



Resolution #8-R-23 
Creating the Appleton Conservancy and associated trail amenities by dedicating to the 
public city-owned lands in Southpoint Commerce Park for Parkland, Trailhead, and Trail. 
 
 
Submitted by: Common Council President & District 5 Alderperson, Katie Van Zeeland 
Date: July 19, 2023 
Referred To: Parks & Recreation Committee, City Plan Commission & Community & Economic 
Development Committee 
  
WHEREAS, the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Appleton cites evidence of the importance 
of parks, open space, and leisure programming to the environmental, social, and economic health 
of communities; furthermore, sufficient parks and open spaces provide habitats for plants and 
animals, contribute to effective stormwater management, and offer additional environmental 
benefits, and notably, parks and open spaces enhance the value of nearby property and park 
facilities and programming enhance the quality of life while facilitating the social interaction of 
community residents, thereby making the city a more desirable place to live; and 
  
WHEREAS, the City of Appleton seeks to provide equitable and inclusive recreational 
opportunities for all people, recognizing the role outdoor spaces play in the mental, physical, and 
environmental health of our residents; and 
  
WHEREAS, the results of a needs assessment found that the southeast side of Appleton was 
deficient in park space and has remained so despite continued growth; and  
  
WHEREAS, residents of District 5 do not have access to a community park within the 
recommended National Recreation and Park Association (NRPA) range of a 1-2 mile radius; 
and  
  
WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan aims to acquire 
additional parkland and trails with a specific objective of developing these amenities in southeast 
Appleton, and the Trail Masterplan recommends a trail corridor from Coop Road, extending 
westward coterminous with the electric transmission line to Plank Road; and 
  
WHEREAS, the City of Appleton is recognized as a Tree City, Bird City, Bee City, and 
Monarch City; and 
  
WHEREAS the City of Appleton owns significant acreage in an area called Southpoint 
Commerce Park, and within that area, there exists a stand of woodland that includes species such 
as shagbark hickory, white oak, basswood, red maple, sugar maple, and even American beech, in 
addition to wetlands; and 
  
WHEREAS, preserving precious natural areas aligns with our community’s values and vision, 
and dedicating significant acreage to public use is a rare but significant opportunity; and 
  



WHEREAS, adding this approximately 32-acre parcel to the City’s existing 600 acres of parks 
and trails will provide not only recreational opportunities such as walking, hiking, biking, and 
other low-impact recreational opportunities but also preserve and protect critical natural 
habitat and wetlands. 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Appleton 
that the City of Appleton dedicates to the public for parkland, trailhead, and trail, the city-owned 
lands in Southpoint Commerce Park, as illustrated in Exhibits 1 and 2, with Lot 13 of proposed 
Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 4 to be named the Appleton Conservancy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT 1: PARK, TRAIL, AND TRAILHEAD DEDICATION TO THE PUBLIC 
 

 
  



EXHIBIT 2: PROPOSED SOUTHPOINT COMMERCE PARK PLAT NO. 4 
Lot 13 And Outlot 2 are to be dedicated to the public for Parks, Trailhead, and Trail 



TO:  Finance Committee

 Municipal Services Committee

 Utilities Committee

The Department of Public Works recommends that the following described work:

Be awarded to:  

Name:  

Address:  

In the amount of :

With a 1.5 % contingency of :

For a project total not to exceed :

In an amount Not To Exceed :

Budget:

Estimate:  

Committee Date:

Council Date:

C I T Y   O F   A P P L E T O N
Department of Public Works

MEMORANDUM

$689,825.00

SUBJECT: Award of Contract

**  OR  **

$10,175.00

$700,000.00

Restoration Systems, Inc.

4355 Peavey Road

Chaska, MN 55318

Unit DD-23 Repair and Maintenance for Green, Red, and Yellow Parking Ramps

08/02/23

$700,000.00

$700,000.00

07/24/23

7/17/2023
J:\ENGINEERING\2ENGINEERS\Neuberger P\City Engineer\Parking Division\2023 Desman Ramp Rehabs\Contract Award Form Unit DD-23.xlsx



Bid Tabulation
DD-23 Repair and Preventative Maintenance - Green, Red and Yellow Parking Ramps
7/10/2023
BASE BASE BID
Bid Item Item Description Unit QTY Unit Price TOTAL
Green 1 Project Mobilization and Demobilization LS 1 $5,000.00 $5,000.00
Green 2a Precast Concrete Column Repairs Sq Ft 60 $120.00 $7,200.00
Green 2b Form and Pour/Pump Beam Repairs Sq Ft 210 $150.00 $31,500.00
Red 1 Project Mobilization and Demobilization LS 1 $5,000.00 $5,000.00
Red 2a Concrete Column Repairs Sq Ft 90 $120.00 $10,800.00
Red 2b Form and Pour/Pump Beam Repairs Sq Ft 840 $150.00 $126,000.00
Red 3 ALLOWANCE - Post Tensioning System Repairs LS 1 $15,000.00 $15,000.00
Yellow 1 Project Mobilization and Demobilization LS 1 $5,000.00 $5,000.00
Yellow 2a1 Full Depth Precast Double Tee Slab Repairs Level 1 Sq Ft 200 $200.00 $40,000.00
Yellow 2a2 Full Depth Precast Double Tee Slab Repairs Level 2 Sq Ft 70 $200.00 $14,000.00
Yellow 2b1 Partial Depth Conc Precast Lift Pocket Repair Level 1 Ea 100 $65.00 $6,500.00
Yellow 2b2 Partial Depth Conc Precast Lift Pocket Repair Level 2 Ea 300 $65.00 $19,500.00
Yellow 3 Vertical/Overhead Concrete Repairs Form and Pour/Pump Repairs Sq Ft 20 $150.00 $3,000.00
Yellow 4a Tee to Tee Connectors -Replace Tee to Tee Ea 60 $650.00 $39,000.00
Yellow 4b Tee to Tee Connectors -Re-weld Broken Double Tee Flange Connectors Ea 50 $150.00 $7,500.00
Yellow 5a1 Joint Sealant Work -Construction Joint Replacement Level 1 Ln Ft 160 $8.50 $1,360.00
Yellow 5a2 Joint Sealant Work -Construction Joint Replacement Level 2 Ln Ft 650 $8.50 $5,525.00
Yellow 5b1 Joint Sealant Work -Cove Joint Replacement Level 1 Ln Ft 1,290 $10.00 $12,900.00
Yellow 5b2 Joint Sealant Work -Cove Joint Replacement Level 2 Ln Ft 2,410 $10.00 $24,100.00
Yellow 5c1 Joint Sealant Work -Tee to Tee Replacement Level 1 Ln Ft 2,100 $11.00 $23,100.00
Yellow 5c2 Joint Sealant Work - Tee to Tee Replacement Level 2 Ln Ft 4,300 $11.00 $47,300.00
Yellow 6a Winged Seal Expansion Joint Replacement Ln Ft 50 $300.00 $15,000.00
Yellow 7a1 Category B Traffic Bearing Membrane Recoat Level 1 Sq Ft 3,780 $8.50 $32,130.00
Yellow 7a2 Category B Traffic Bearing Membrane Recoat Level 2 Sq Ft 2,520 $8.50 $21,420.00
Yellow 7b1 Traffic Bearing Membrane Installation - Level 1 South Stair Tower Sq Ft 150 $8.50 $1,275.00
Yellow 7b2 Traffic Bearing Membrane Installation - Level 2 South Stair Tower Sq Ft 150 $8.50 $1,275.00
Yellow 7b3 Traffic Bearing Membrane Installation - Level 1 Widening Membrane Sq Ft 240 $8.50 $2,040.00
Yellow 7b4 Traffic Bearing Membrane Installation - Level 2 Widening Membrane Sq Ft 2,400 $8.50 $20,400.00
Yellow 8b New Stair Tower Thresholds and Sealant LS 1 $10,000.00 $10,000.00
Yellow 8c Replace, Clean, and Repaint Steel Framing LS 1 $25,000.00 $25,000.00
Yellow 10 Miscellaneous Items and General Conditions LS 1 $82,000.00 $82,000.00
Yellow 8a ALLOWANCE - Stair Tower Repair Allowance LS 1 $20,000.00 $20,000.00
Yellow 9 ALLOWANCE - Electrical Work Allowance LS 1 $10,000.00 $10,000.00

BASE BID TOTAL FOR CONTRACT AWARD $689,825.00

ALTERNATE ALTERNATE BID ITEMS (Not Included in Project Award, Information Only)
Bid Item Item Description Unit QTY Unit Price TOTAL
A1 Application of Clear Penetrating Silane Sealer with Corrosion Inhibitor to L2 Sq Ft 61,040 $1.50 $91,560.00
A2 Application of Clear Penetrating Silane Sealer with Corrosion Inhibitor to L1 Sq Ft 25,250 $1.50 $37,875.00
A3.1 2 Foot Waterproofing Membrane Strips at Level 1 Tee to Tee Joints Sq Ft 3,950 $14.00 $55,300.00
A3.2 2 Foot Waterproofing Membrane Strips at Level 2 Tee to Tee Joints Sq Ft 8,500 $14.00 $119,000.00

Restoration Systems Inc.

Restoration Systems Inc.





Lastname Firstname Middle Death Date Enter Service DateDischarged Date

Babcock Darwood "Lee" 4/9/2023 12/3/1958 3/1/1962

Meek David E 2/1/2021 10/17/1963 10/16/1967

Losselyong Daniel Nicholas 4/14/2004 10/11/1955 10/10/1957

Schricker Gerald J 4/25/2023 5/10/1965 4/21/1967

Stabile Michael 11/17/2015

Wesolowski Joseph Ronald 12/6/2013 10/20/1961 10/4/1963

Knostenberg John U 3/7/2023 6/8/1956 4/3/1959

McConnell Richard "Dick" 2/22/2023 10/19/1955 9/25/1957

Lyons Clifford H 11/21/2014

Brandner Joseph 5/11/1923 03/06/1865 08/29/1865

Peterson Andrew F. 1/4/1955 04/28/1898 11/09/1898

Kasten Stephen 7/7/2016

McGowan John F. 7/4/2016

Neveau Alfred G. 9/2/2017

Ehrhardt Earl W. 10/22/2010

Ballard Harry R 3/7/1978 6/30/1916 7/10/1916

Kuck Carlton E Sr. 2/3/1999 11/7/1942 1/24/1946

Rusch Gordon A. Sr. 12/9/1985

Ward Richard 6/2/2015

Armstrong Clarence 5/9/1986

De Young Francis W. 8/19/1978 3/25/1941 10/5/1945

Richter Fredrick 5/26/1971

Sabee James 1/16/1980 5/7/1940 5/1/1946

Skarweski Gaylord A. 2/12/1995 7/2/1942 10/27/1946

Swamp Gordon L. 11/23/2007

Welsch Herbert 5/5/2013

Clements Douglas 3/20/2018

Burmeister Arthur 3/18/1973

Fiebelkorn William G. 10/29/1946 10/15/1940 7/15/1945

Herber Francis N. 11/27/1988 5/22/1945 7/18/1946

Kamine Reinhart 2/27/2016

Baer Charles O. 08/18/1898 04/28/1898

Abbott Leslie C 9/10/1976 5/11/1955 5/10/1957

Marston J.H. Sr. 10/6/1920

Waugus Glenne 12/15/2015

Adjet William 11/1/1938 6/2/1917 9/9/1919

Ahlschwede Joseph L 8/9/1982 8/28/1942 12/30/1944

Albrecht Sylvester 10/7/1972 10/10/1942 11/26/1945

Alexander George A 5/2/1938

Alexander Harold J. 1/19/2004

Alstad Alvin C. 3/7/1997 8/4/1944 2/20/1946

Ames Wm. D. Rev. 11/07/1898 06/16/1864 09/24/1864

Anderson John H. A. 3/10/1925 6/5/1917 8/19/1925

Andrews James J. 1/25/1980 2/24/1943 9/10/1943

Anholzer George 4/15/1990 8/13/1918 1/7/1919



Armstrong Robert C 2/22/1988 12/29/1942 11/5/1944

Arnell Joseph P 7/20/1978 2/27/1942 1/30/1946

Asman Arthur R 8/13/1954 10/21/1918 2/6/1919

Aspen Leonard Clifford 3/28/1984 2/15/1943 12/15/1945

Atwood Carroll D 9/25/1968 4/7/1946 1/30/1948

Auerswald Edgar H 2/12/1944

Auterburn Herbert 6/18/1975 6/11/1943 11/26/1945

Babcock D. C. 02/04/1888

Badtke Harvey 6/1/1988 8/27/1942 10/20/1945

Baer John J. Rev 12/07/1872

Bahr Willian H. 2/8/2004

Bailey Sylvester M. 10/6/1984 8/4/1943 8/16/1946

Bailey Frances 1/30/1930

Baker John S. 8/15/1901 08/13/1862 06/08/1865

Balestrieri Jerome 6/17/1998 12/5/1942 2/12/1946

Ballard Jesse 11/09/1894 08/23/1864 06/23/1865

Bamke Neil P. 8/6/1999 12/21/1945 11/2/1947

Baratell Willian 2/7/1971 7/22/1918 2/6/1919

Barney Steven C. 4/13/2004 3/19/1965 1/12/1970

Barney Milo Chas. 5/22/2002 5/16/1934 5/1/1939

Bartelt Donald 3/22/1987

Bartelt Harvey A. 9/21/1987

Barth Kenneth 3/18/2005 2/25/1953 2/24/1955

Martienssen Adolph 1/1/1916

Bates Robert G. 11/4/1974 5/3/1948 5/2/1952

Bauer Louis W. 10/13/1988 2/4/1943 10/28/1945

Bauer Fred 4/12/1947 9/5/1917 3/21/1919

Bauer Anson J. 4/30/1942 4/27/1942 1/29/1946

Bauernfeind Dale O 4/15/1994 11/2/1961 11/1/1963

Bauman Stanley 3/16/1969

Bauman Fenton E 6/2/1979 1/28/1942 9/13/1945

Beach S. E.

Becker Robert M Sr 11/27/1992 4/14/1952 4/13/1954

Behm Francis A 5/7/1994 12/20/1943 11/3/1945

Behnke Henry J 12/19/1955 04/28/1898 05/12/1898

Hesse Harold 8/8/2018

Beilke Kenneth H R 12/2/1992 3/30/1944 5/11/1946

Bellrichard Andrew A. 7/25/1999 3/8/1957 4/23/1962

Benoit Louis N 11/09/1881 05/13/1864 09/16/1864

Bentley Charles 5/20/1925 08/12/1862 06/12/1865

Berggren Russell E. 11/12/1995 4/15/1941 10/28/1945

Bermann Harold 2/22/1998

Beschta Norman A 10/14/1981 9/26/1947 3/20/1968

Beyer Vernon M. 3/29/2001 12/13/1949 12/12/1953

Hawley David L. 9/14/2016

Bixby Charles 1/6/1903

Blackwood Josiah E 8/16/1911 01/23/1863 10/01/1865



Bodner Clarence 4/16/1988 7/22/1918 9/6/1919

Bogan Cylus 2/28/1918 1/18/1918

Boldt Oscar J. 2/8/1970 7/22/1918 12/13/1918

Bomier Raymond W. 8/5/1970 8/26/1942 3/20/1943

Bonger Roy E. 1/11/1993 7/2/1943 3/13/1946

Borchardt Clarence 12/20/1952 7/30/1943 11/30/1945

Borchers Fred J.F. 07/28/1881 01/24/1862 02/17/1865

Bowlby Claude 12/24/1997 9/30/1943 11/8/1945

Bosser Richard 7/2/1965 7/8/1918 2/3/1919

Bosser Alfred C. 12/29/1965 8/17/1917 8/12/1919

Boye Charles 9/24/1920 08/21/1862 11/28/1864

Boyer C. K. 2/11/1943 5/13/1917 10/31/1919

Brackey Leslie C. 12/7/1991 7/3/1942 2/17/1946

Strutz Donald 8/13/2016

Bradley Everett J. 1/3/2001 10/16/1942 12/9/1945

Braeger George W. 4/23/1993 2/26/1946 6/25/1949

Braeger Herman 10/29/1966

Braeger Clarence A. 6/30/1963 9/18/1917 7/26/1919

Brain Thomas 5/27/1947 3/30/1942 3/31/1944

Brainard Carlos M. 5/7/1926

Brauer Harold W. 4/26/1968 10/18/1940 2/25/1944

Brady Henry 1/31/1908 08/15/1863 07/03/1865

Mason William A. 02/21/1885 02/29/1864 09/29/1865

Breitzman Marvin E. 11/23/1972 10/28/1942 6/28/1945

Brettschneider Elmer J 4/16/1926 4/13/1917 4/3/1919

Brew David L. 12/12/2003

Brewer Frank Marshall 10/30/1977 2/18/1942 4/20/1946

Briggs Lewis A. 5/23/1923 12/16/1861 07/14/1865

Brinkman Walter N. 11/24/1951 11/27/1917 6/10/1919

Brockman Arthur J. 3/2/1964 7/22/1918 12/13/1918

Brockman Fred P. 10/24/1951

Brokaw Norman E. Jr. 7/26/1999

Brooks Frederick E Jr. 9/9/1985 6/10/1943 3/13/1946

Brown Charles F. 11/11/1938 05/02/1863 05/29/1865

Brueggeman Max 5/5/1925 12/14/1917 8/7/1920

Buchanan William E. 2/13/1993

Buchanan James P. 6/11/1964 5/22/1942 4/2/1964

Buchanan Merlin G. 5/3/1999 3/16/1944 3/6/1945

Mather Willard G. 12/6/1918 10/2/1918 12/6/1918

Nass Edward Wm. Jr. 10/4/1981 10/19/1965 10/19/1967

Bucholtz Garnet L. 3/17/1976 8/27/1941 11/23/1945

Buckland Comfort Starr 1/10/1924

Nass Harry W. 8/19/1980 8/28/1942 5/26/1945

Nee Donald J. Vet. 12/7/1964 4/25/1942 9/22/1945

Neff Johann Christen 08/10/1899 11/21/1862 01/01/1863

Buesing Ralph A. 7/7/2018

Buroughs Robert 4/15/1983 7/25/1939 8/23/1945



Busch Benjamin 12/16/1992 2/20/1960 6/27/1960

Buske Max C. 7/15/1968 5/1/1918 6/23/1919

Calnin Michael H. 11/7/1975 10/30/1951 10/13/1953

Buxton Warren O. 5/17/1959 6/24/1943 1/1/1944

Carlson Clarence D. 8/24/2004 4/3/1942 10/12/1945

Carnes Robert M. 4/10/1995

Carter John A. 3/7/1971

Cavert Kenneth G. 9/6/1993

Chadek Edward 4/20/1979 1/18/1944 5/23/1946

Chamberlain Charles W. 4/4/1948 12/13/1913 10/30/1919

Chavez Joseph J. 10/3/1979

Chern Michael 5/5/1981 7/3/1943 3/23/1946

Chern Diomed M. 5/1/1999 7/3/1943 2/23/1946

Christen Marjorie 12/4/1991 2/23/1944 1/5/1946

Christen Wilbert F. 9/15/1995 5/27/1942 3/4/1946

Christensen Robert A. 1/3/1969

Christianson Lewis M. 7/4/2004

Clark Charles Lewis 9/9/1944 04/28/1898 11/09/1898

Cleggett William 5/20/1916

Cleveland Theodore 8/11/1990 7/5/1946 11/6/1947

Cleveland Jay 6/12/1961 4/10/1917 5/16/1919

Cobs Rudolph J.

Cole Charles M. 12/9/1908

Conard Ralph J. 6/30/1998 8/6/1941 10/8/1945

Cooley T. F. 1/14/1901 01/04/1864 10/01/1865

Coulthard Homer William 2/28/1976 11/8/1942 11/25/1945

Court John R. 10/22/1966 7/3/1917 5/18/1919

Craig Clinton Arthur 4/28/1998 6/13/1940 6/21/1945

Cronmiller Bruce 11/11/1996 12/11/1942 12/3/1945

Crowe Clarence 3/1/1986 3/18/1941 6/28/1945

Bierman Gerald C. 7/5/2018

Cutshall Hudson W. 1/12/2001 1/31/1955 9/17/1958

Czechowicz Dennis S. 7/19/2005 4/19/1971 4/18/1973

Dallas Laughlin D. 01/01/1894 12/24/1864 08/28/1865

Dame George C. 3/9/1976 7/16/1918 2/18/1919

Damon Richard O. 12/17/1995 1/7/1943 1/6/1956

Daniels Daniel Melvin Sr 9/13/1983 1/23/1948 1/22/1952

Neiderhauser Les 10/4/1997 6/29/1951 3/28/1953

Davis Allen E. 11/14/1930 03/01/1865 08/29/1865

De Janes Robert Floyd 2/20/1985 6/4/1942 1/6/1946

De Noble Lloyd A. 9/16/1996 2/10/1943 2/23/1946

Decker Elmer Ford 1/1/1911

Deckers Adrian J. 3/22/1988

Neidhold Carl D. Dr. 1/15/1973 7/30/1944 8/8/1949

Dennis Philip Leo 7/10/2003 2/2/1961 1/26/1965

DeShaney James L. 12/4/1995

Diener Henry 1/24/1918 09/28/1864 06/30/1865



Dietrich Herbert G. 1/8/1980

Dilley Darrell G. 10/1/2000 2/25/1955 12/9/1963

Nelis James H. Sr. 7/26/2004 1/28/1957 1/27/1959

Dite Ferdinand 4/17/1917 01/18/1864 07/10/1866

Dittmer Cedric K Dr. 1/11/1979 10/16/1918 12/14/1918

Dix Harold E. 12/10/1994

Doerfler Joseph H. 10/21/1996 1/5/1943 11/2/1945

Doerfler Reno S. 9/11/1996 9/30/1918 12/20/1918

Doerfler Harold G. 5/31/1981 1/4/1943 5/21/1943

Dowe John H. 2/23/1991

Downer Arthur B. 4/7/1998

Dreier Clarence L. 11/8/1977 2/22/1945 12/14/1946

Neller Robert J. 8/9/1989 8/13/1943 11/29/1945

Besch Donald 8/31/2015

Dutcher John W. 7/6/1993 10/14/1943 9/27/1945

Dwy Wilson 02/16/1878

Ecker Robert F 2/24/2002

Edwards Nathaniel M. 7/20/1908 04/17/1861 06/05/1865

Eggleston George D. 06/06/1882 06/28/1861 06/09/1865

Eggleston Raymond L. 7/18/1955 05/16/1898 11/26/1898

Elias Ewald 6/4/1984 9/4/1918 1/8/1919

Ellenbecker Raymond A. 12/9/1993 2/13/1951 2/12/1954

Ellis Allen B. 8/17/1943 7/15/1917 6/1/1919

Ellmaker William G. 3/15/1963 4/21/1917 4/17/1919

Elmer Wayne F. 5/30/2004 4/25/1960 5/24/1962

Ellmore Joseph Miles 6/20/1913

Elsner Sr. Willis W. 10/28/1977

Emrich Roger C. 12/28/1995 10/25/1943 10/29/1945

Endter Richard P. 6/3/1973 9/19/1961 9/5/1964

Engel Albert F. 10/23/1991 7/20/1943 10/15/1945

Engelland Arthur H. 3/26/2004 1/18/1944 2/12/1946

Engler Carl H. 3/21/1972 6/6/1942 11/29/1945

Enos Truman 7/28/1900

Essler Edward W. 1/19/1962 6/25/1943 10/26/1945

Falk Stanley W. 9/2/1996 1/19/1940 9/24/1945

Farwell Ross Francis 9/10/1940

Kiser Kenneth 9/9/2006

Feavel Harvey 10/2/1918 5/25/1918 10/2/1918

Fellion John B. 8/1/1924 08/14/1862 12/16/1862

Fellows Walter W. 10/3/1966 6/11/1917 4/14/1919

Felzer Theodore W. 8/26/1968 7/18/1918 1/23/1919

Fenner Donald B. 9/18/1994 5/22/1944 4/6/1946

Fenno Miles H. 06/10/1866 08/15/1862 12/30/1862

Fernandez Albert S. 10/31/1933

Ferron Willard P. 3/26/2003 7/8/1943 2/13/1946

Filen Howard L. 8/28/1978 4/13/1945 12/13/1945

Fox William T. 1/3/1927



Fox H.D. 2/7/1920 05/18/1861 09/22/1862

Frank Theodore 9/18/1977 6/15/1918 6/23/1919

Franke Douglas G. 7/6/1977 1/22/1970 9/27/2006

Reams Olin M. 12/15/1986

Fransway Charles 7/24/1912 02/17/1865 02/19/1866

Fraser Earle J. 12/2/1968 4/2/1917 4/19/1919

Frederick Wilbert J. 5/30/1998 12/28/1942 12/20/1945

Frese John W 7/23/1969 5/25/1918 2/19/1919

Friedrick August C. 9/15/1919 02/27/1865 06/12/1866

Fries John M. 2/25/1998 10/31/1962 10/28/1966

Galpin Harold 4/24/1907 08/15/1862 06/08/1865

Galpin Algernon S. 10/1/1932 09/16/1861

Ganzen Paul 12/2/1942 04/28/1898 11/09/1898

Ganzen Charles H. 6/28/1953 04/28/1898 11/09/1898

Gartmann Ervin William 4/1/1968 5/16/1967 3/27/1968

Gasper Merton A. 9/22/2003 11/18/1942 3/22/1944

Gass Orville 1/10/2001 5/27/1949 11/10/1952

Gast Daniel F. 2/14/1995 3/24/1971 4/23/1974

Gatz Emil F. 2/19/1958 9/18/1917 5/26/1919

Gensler Melvin H. 6/21/1980 4/25/1942 11/11/1945

Gerdin Oscar 5/6/1939 10/15/1917 5/19/1919

Gillespie Ivon Alexander 10/21/1943 3/2/1942

Gillett Irving E. 11/29/1937 06/30/1898 02/28/1899

Gitter Richard E. 3/7/2001 9/19/1967 8/15/1971

Giuliana Joseph Chas. 3/27/2000 9/11/1947 9/10/1951

Giuliani Joseph I. 9/14/1975

Glaser Dwain R. 12/16/2003 4/15/1944 11/10/1945

Glander Otto C . Sr. 10/27/1964 5/25/1918 2/9/1919

Glass Henry J. 3/30/1962 6/28/1918 1/31/1919

Glass Emil 3/5/1955 3/20/1916 8/15/1917

Gleisner Henry G. 4/8/1978 10/26/1942 1/10/1945

Goldbeck Charles 3/19/1978 4/1/1918 6/13/1919

Gonnering Sylvester L 9/26/1995 10/15/1961 8/10/1962

Gooding Charles L 4/17/1996 11/9/1942 11/7/1945

Goodrich Bertrand F 3/8/1931 04/26/1898 11/21/1898

Gordon David O 3/19/1958 6/27/1942 1/6/1945

Gosha Charles 1/17/1941 12/28/1863 08/23/1865

Gostas Spyro 10/7/1982 10/9/1942 12/21/1942

Gosz Clarence 3/23/2003 11/10/1941 11/10/1945

Gottschalk Lida Mae 7/31/1971 4/27/1967 11/11/1970

Graef Lothar G 9/22/1957 6/16/1916 5/22/1919

Graef Aldor Edward 4/28/1949

Grearson Filmore 11/9/1988 8/13/1943 9/23/1945

Greenman Edwin G 2/4/1993 5/15/1943 2/15/1946

Gregory Eleanor E. 4/4/2003

Gregory Loranzo T 12/17/1983 6/13/1941 6/30/1961

Greunke Emmery A. 6/22/1954 8/1/1919



Griem Jon 11/23/1972

Grishaber Carleton G 3/5/1995 2/18/1942 11/25/1946

Grobe Laurence D 7/8/1995 9/28/1944 7/27/1946

Grobe Lewis E 1/10/1978 4/29/1918 6/3/1919

Groth Gerald K 9/11/1995 6/24/1955 6/23/1957

Crouch Jesse 02/14/1894

Gruentzel Bette R 7/14/1979 4/5/1943 5/25/1943

Grundeman Erwin 1/1/1973

Grunst Otto 6/18/1956 4/29/1918 7/14/1919

Guenther Charles O 2/23/1970 10/2/1917 4/14/1919

Gurnee David C 7/20/1972 6/13/1945 12/1/1945

Gutche Melvin E. 5/9/2001

Gutowski Alexander 12/5/1927 7/3/1917 8/14/1919

Maves Robert 5/11/2002 11/13/1942 10/9/1945

Hackworthy Herbert 4/16/1961 12/12/1917 6/18/1919

Haferbecker Howard 11/27/2005 2/15/1949 4/30/1966

Halfmann Phil B 8/21/1980 3/29/1918 6/9/1919

Hall Albert A 8/6/1913 05/17/1861 08/21/1861

Hammer James C. 5/15/1944 9/1/1943 5/15/1944

Hanson Jens 5/7/1904 11/27/1863 07/18/1865

Hancock Edward W 12/14/1957 5/10/1915 8/13/1917

Hanselman Norman Wm 3/2/1989 10/14/1942 2/9/1946

Hansen John I. 1/26/1944 7/22/1918 2/6/1919

Hardacker Floyd A 9/12/1974 6/15/1918 12/13/1919

Harris Richard 6/10/1989 5/26/1942 10/20/1945

Hartmanstorfer Frank 11/25/1982 10/27/1942 12/20/1945

Hartzheim Emery Walter 10/14/1985 4/25/1942 2/6/1946

Hauert Edwin J 7/15/1966

Haufschildt Leroy 12/1/2003 1/11/1943 1/10/1946

Haugen Karl M 8/13/1958 11/19/1917 7/17/1918

Hausher Gordon E 10/24/1983 12/2/1942 1/10/1946

Heiss William 7/30/1918 5/19/1915 7/30/1918

Hendricks Robert. J 10/13/1999 6/16/1943 1/18/1946

Henk Ray Sr 3/21/1966 5/9/1917 5/24/1919

Herrman Nicholas 6/14/1912 10/13/1864

Herrmann Robert K 9/21/1975 1/22/1942 6/12/1945

Hertzfeldt Clarence L 7/16/1972 5/29/1943 3/3/1947

Herzog Charles V 2/28/1966 9/11/1942 2/14/1946

Hess Reuben 1/8/1971

Miller Harold W 12/26/1987 8/5/1917 6/17/1919

Hinnenthal Hugo H 1/25/1981 9/7/1917 2/19/1919

Hoefer Fred William 2/28/1913 01/18/1864 10/27/1865

Hoeppner Paul 3/9/1979 5/25/1918 5/30/1919

Hoerning Bernard 11/3/1971 7/22/1918 12/13/1918

Hoffman Louis 4/7/1926 8/13/1918 12/10/1918

Hoffman Frank J. 6/22/1937 03/01/1897

Hoffman Emil C 4/17/1946 04/28/1898 11/09/1898



Hogenson John R. 11/3/2004 7/16/1952 7/15/1956

Holmes Ira J. S. 7/22/1916 07/31/1862 01/18/1863

Holbrook Ronald L 11/18/1995 7/3/1961 7/1/1964

Holtz Lyle 6/16/1988 2/15/1944 5/29/1946

Holzer Leslie F. 11/1/1950 9/7/1917 6/6/1919

Honick Peter J 7/19/1961 7/18/1918 1/8/1919

Hopfensperger Clarence 9/21/1964 9/17/1943 12/17/1945

Hopkins Charles W 2/14/1910 08/08/1864 07/17/1865

Hoppe Otto H 12/12/1968 7/8/1918 9/16/1919

Horn Rueben R. 1/1/1943 8/12/1942 11/24/1943

Horn Arthur H 11/6/1957 7/22/1918 2/6/1919

Horn Glenn Joseph 12/26/1999 1/11/1951 10/7/1959

Hrudka Ladimier Dr. 6/11/1959 5/24/1918 7/31/1918

Hulbert Clyde Ira 9/14/2001 9/16/1947 9/9/1949

Hussner Helm C 2/22/1972 7/6/1918 1/8/1919

Huth Elton C. 7/3/2000 2/25/1953 2/18/1955

Immel Herbert H 5/19/1974 10/10/1942 3/16/1943

Ince Frank 8/23/2002 9/7/1950 9/30/1966

Jahnke Wm. Edward 10/19/1982 2/24/1942 9/7/1945

Janda Rudolph Rudy 10/23/2004

Jansen Edward C. 1/13/2001 1/4/1943 3/4/1946

Jensen Arthur R. Bob 6/4/2001 5/15/1947 5/15/1947

Jewell Thomas E. 11/13/1978 8/23/1976 9/13/1976

Johnson Melvin 7/8/1987 12/19/1944 10/29/1946

Johnson Yngve A. 11/8/1980 10/18/1940 1/22/1946

Johnson Thorston Oscar 9/23/1982 4/11/1924 4/27/1928

Johnson Bentley M. 11/19/1962 5/14/1918 9/30/1921

Johnson George E. 6/16/1972 7/25/1918 12/20/1918

Johnston William Col. 09/02/1881

Jorgenson Harvey 8/17/1988 9/15/1942 10/7/1946

Jorstad Sr. Douglas Lee 3/27/1980 6/11/1968 6/4/1970

Hoffman Archabald 9/7/2015

Joyce Thomas 1/1/1913 03/01/1865 05/26/1865

Judge Basil T. Sr. 3/4/2000 9/30/1946 7/21/1949

Jury Emerson E. Rev. 6/10/1995

Kahler Harvey I. 4/20/2001

Kahler Charles F. 4/4/1972 11/25/1942 3/29/1943

Kampo Alex F. 3/19/1998 10/15/1940 7/13/1945

Kanouse Dr. Abijah Wood 5/31/1928 08/24/1864 07/01/1865

Kasten Herman B. 11/1/1933 5/15/1918 9/30/1921

Kerschl Freidrich 9/15/1987

Kessler Robert B. 4/20/1944 12/1/1942 4/20/1944

Kiar Robert T. 9/23/2002 6/7/1942 9/18/1945

Kirchner George 03/03/1896 03/01/1864 06/27/1865

Kirsch Nicholaus 4/24/1925 09/17/1861 12/03/1864

Klahorst Henry H. 5/31/1969 6/14/1918 1/13/1919

Klitzke William Carl 3/4/1931 4/25/1918 5/31/1919



Klopstein Orville C. 9/17/1992 9/25/1941 10/26/1941

Kluess Raymond 12/1/1918 7/24/1918

Klundt Henry 9/12/1983 3/29/1918 1/25/1919

Knuth Elmer C. 2/26/1990 3/20/1942 10/19/1945

Knuth Fred 3/3/1957 7/22/1918 12/11/1918

Koerner Edward C. 12/6/1993

Koester Walter 2/18/1952

McGinnis Edward J. 1/1/1956 6/12/1918 9/30/1921

Konrad Dean P. 5/7/2003 10/22/1952 6/30/1953

Kopenhefer Ralph B. 12/2/1952 10/14/1898 03/23/1899

Korte Arnold H. 11/8/1918

Korte Fred Wm. 6/2/1934 9/18/1917 5/26/1919

Kosbab Richard 2/2/1929 10/24/1918 11/2/1918

Kranzusch James Henry 9/24/1986 11/12/1944 12/21/1946

Kranzusch Theodore A 8/22/1996 6/13/1945 10/22/1945

Kranzusch Arthur C. 1/24/1942 9/4/1918 12/18/1918

Krasinski Roman Z. 4/6/1979 3/5/1941 11/21/1944

Krause Rudolph 5/26/1993

Kretschmann Alfred E. 8/24/1924 12/15/1917 6/27/1919

Kronberg Douglas R. 5/4/1995

Krueger Carl F. 12/13/1900 10/01/1864 06/12/1865

Krueger Harold P. 4/13/1995 11/16/1951 11/1/1955

Kruschke Walter F. 11/16/1954

Kruse George T. 5/6/1942 8/26/1918 3/21/1919

Krynock Robert C. Sr. 8/22/2000 7/29/1948 10/15/1948

Kuehmsted Arthur O. 2/8/1948 8/29/1918 12/11/1918

Kuehn Joseph 09/09/1899 01/11/1862 01/24/1865

Kuether Frank 2/18/1957 7/23/1918 5/9/1919

Kugel James M. 1/13/2002 6/4/1945 8/19/1946

Kunstman Frank C. 11/29/1965 2/13/1918 6/21/1919

Kutler Fred W. 1/1/2000 08/01/1862 07/02/1865

Laabs Mahlon W. 10/11/1999 10/31/1941 9/3/1945

Laabs Harry 3/10/1978 2/18/1918 4/24/1919

LaBerge Roger G. 1/11/1984 10/14/1943 10/22/1945

Lahee Capt. Horace R. 08/14/1899 05/07/1861 05/24/1863

Lahn Harold C. 7/15/1965 8/6/1960 2/5/1961

Lamers Dennis D. 7/24/1994 6/24/1970 1/23/1972

Landry Thomas W. 6/12/1956 2/6/1943 11/10/1944

Lansing Abraham 08/23/1888 08/25/1864 05/17/1865

Larsen Niels C. 10/20/1993 3/21/1941 11/8/1945

Lashway Henry C. 11/22/1993 9/1/1942 1/5/1946

Lastofka Louis J. 3/4/1971 1/5/1951 12/7/1954

Lawe Ransom 2/17/1904

Learned Lawrence C. 10/27/1966

Leimer Charles 01/27/1879 08/14/1862 06/08/1865

Leman Craig 3/31/1987 12/9/1913 7/7/1919

LeMieux Henri J. 7/14/1979



Leppla Harold M Dr. 9/26/1960 10/21/1918 12/18/1918

Lewis Chester J. 11/26/1995

Liesch Anton 5/7/1970 5/1/1918 1/3/1919

Lillge Roy 7/9/1954 5/1/1918 6/30/1919

Lillge Henry 10/18/1940 7/8/1918 2/3/1919

Lillge Edwin J. 4/5/1925 9/18/1917 2/27/1920

Limpert John A. 3/21/1944 1/28/1954 1/27/1956

Limpert George J. 7/16/1957 8/30/1918 12/24/1918

Loope Wm. R. A. Dr. 04/30/1891 10/18/1861 10/19/1864

Lust William E. 6/15/1990

Luttman Arthur H. 12/8/1956 12/5/1942 11/14/1944

VanHandel Raymond 2/18/1967 10/27/1942 12/6/1945

Maahs Charles John 8/27/1986 6/8/1918 9/3/1919

Macklin Wilmot F. 3/12/1998

Mahloch Ronald J. 9/9/1993 4/19/1976 9/26/1991

Mann Marie M. 1/6/2003

VanHandel Anthony J. 6/24/1991 10/26/1948 10/20/1949

VanHandel Cornelius J. 9/12/1964 7/14/1945 12/11/1945

VanHandel Edward H. 10/25/1976 1/1/1942 12/8/1945

Van Heuklon James 8/11/1938 10/12/1861 07/21/1862

Matschke Fred 9/8/1907 02/24/1865 07/03/1865

Matthes John 10/13/1910 12/20/1864 08/26/1865

Mayer Larry Norman 8/9/1982 10/15/1961 8/10/1962

Mayer Otto J. 6/2/1963 5/3/1918 7/10/1919

McConagha William A. 12/21/1983 5/13/1918 8/13/1919

McCoy Donald 4/29/1968 7/8/1942 2/6/1945

McCoy Alexander 12/08/1893

McDonald William James 12/25/1983

McGinty James T. 5/12/1971 4/25/1942 9/7/1945

VanHeuklon George 09/24/1897 10/10/1861 10/09/1865

McGregor Roy C. 10/27/1962

McGuire Leland 11/17/1987 6/25/1943 8/28/1945

McHugh Francis J. 7/26/1987 9/10/1945 4/29/1947

McIntire William A. W. 10/15/1958

McKendree William 08/06/1864 08/06/1864

McPheeters William E. Dr. 1/14/1962 8/5/1919

Mead Leonard William 11/3/1941 4/12/1917 8/19/1919

Meagher William D. 6/17/2002

Meidam Stephen 7/15/1937

Meidam Miles R. 12/28/1997 3/30/1943 6/10/1943

Meidam Adrian W. 3/30/1984

Melchert Donald 7/23/1974 2/2/1943 1/22/1946

Merollo Daniel J. Jr. 5/27/1974 5/4/1943 11/12/1945

Merollo Daniel J. Sr. 4/1/1981 5/8/1918 9/30/1920

Merrill Wm. Wallace 08/17/1895 01/28/1865 09/27/1865

Merrill Willard (Pvt) 03/25/1899 04/28/1898 11/09/1898

Mielke Joseph 2/9/1994 12/1/1952 11/30/1956



Mielke Albert 9/28/1960 9/18/1918 9/26/1918

Miles Samuel W. 6/4/1973 7/15/1942 1/1/1946

Miller John P. 1/3/1973 5/29/1944 10/12/1945

Miller Clarence F. 2/1/1976 10/15/1942 1/17/1946

Miller George 2/6/1924 11/19/1862 09/08/1863

Ming Samual P. 01/10/1896 03/24/1862 07/25/1863

Miotke George C. 11/14/1999 7/5/1943 12/22/1945

Missling Ralph J. 1/16/2000 2/24/1943 12/1/1945

Mitchell Robert S 7/20/1966

Mitchell John H. 4/15/1985 7/25/1918 7/18/1919

Morgan William J. 7/13/1997 10/8/1940 11/12/1946

Morris John P. 6/3/2002 9/12/1945 2/6/1946

Morse Ernest B. 8/1/1936 6/10/1918 6/27/1919

Mory George H. 8/18/1948 7/5/1918 4/11/1919

VanLinn Edward J. 1/25/2005 9/19/1946 2/7/1948

Motiska Michael 11/20/1966 6/6/1941 12/1/1945

VanLinn David J. 12/27/1980 1/23/1976 1/22/1979

Mueller Donald W. 11/16/1963 9/10/1941 10/28/1945

Muench Raymond J. 11/24/1981 11/16/1919 11/16/1920

Murphy Daniel 9/7/1950

Murray Gordon James 11/22/2000 6/21/1971 6/20/1975

Myers George H. 08/01/1891 02/18/1865 08/14/1865

VanLoo Clarence 8/29/1979

VanPatten Cornelius J. 5/12/1987

VanRooy Thomas 5/14/1997 3/11/1959 2/24/1961

Nabbefeld Arthur John 10/21/1997 5/2/1946 3/8/1948

Nelson Archie 6/5/1919 5/17/1918

Never Lee G. 7/4/1997 9/27/1956 10/2/1958

Nichols Clarence A. 2/16/1935 11/11/1918

Nicholson Harry 10/20/1970 1/25/1943 6/15/1943

Nickasch Ruben 12/31/1946 5/30/1918 9/30/1921

Noble George 11/11/1899 08/11/1862 06/25/1865

Noffke Sherman C. 4/2/1975 2/22/1944 5/3/1966

Nohr Louis F. 8/25/1937 10/19/1918 12/18/1918

Norenberg Carl 7/15/1918 8/6/1917 7/15/1918

Norman Lawrence T. 8/6/2003 6/27/1941 6/26/1946

Notaras John G. 11/5/1979 5/2/1945 7/6/1946

Noyes Russell L. Jr. 1/6/2003

Nutting Harry E. 11/7/1987

O'Bright George R. 9/14/1992 1/20/1951 1/19/1953

O'Donnell William J. 6/30/1946 06/24/1898 11/05/1898

Oenes Erwin Julian 3/7/1992

Olfson Walter Irvine 11/8/1948 12/15/1917 1/27/1919

Olmstead Lamar 3/5/1917 09/07/1861 03/21/1865

Olson Robert G 6/10/1977 4/7/1917 5/18/1919

Orbison Thomas E. Sr. 10/4/1963 6/13/1919

Orbison Mary 9/10/1980 10/13/1918 1/16/1920



Orbison Frank H. 4/7/1980 7/31/1942 5/3/1947

Packard Strong C. 6/21/1903 08/27/1864 06/20/1865

Paddock Oscar 7/13/1911 09/02/1864 06/23/1865

Page William G. 10/26/1978 10/15/1940 1/13/1946

Palmbach Clemens 5/6/1992

Pardee Charles A. Dr. 4/22/1955

Parkinson George 5/11/1960 4/15/1917 3/27/1919

Pasch Robert 01/01/1899 04/28/1898 11/10/1898

Pauls Roy 12/14/1938 7/8/1918 1/16/1919

Pearson Charles M. 2/23/1963 10/1/1917 9/4/1919

Peot Marjorie J. 7/14/2003 1/10/1944 12/3/1945

Peotter Walter G. 4/1/1970 5/1/1918 7/3/1919

Peotter George E. 9/20/1972 1/30/1918 6/21/1919

Peske Fred C. 1/24/1967 5/28/1918 8/27/1919

Peterman Steve 5/11/1991 7/19/1979 7/17/1984

Peterson Ralph 6/21/1999 8/21/1940 5/31/1944

Peterson Russell 3/20/1989 6/30/1943 3/29/1946

Peterson Talbot 10/4/1979 8/30/1943 5/8/1946

Pfeffer Joseph 3/15/1949 5/25/1918 6/1/1919

Phillips Charles Theo. 3/30/1925 6/22/1916 5/16/1919

Pickering Clyde "Ben" 10/28/1965 5/4/1918 1/11/1919

Pierce Kenneth W. 12/10/2000 9/28/1942 11/23/1946

Pierce Allan A. 11/29/1997 1/10/1962 12/13/1963

Pierre John A. 10/10/1969 7/23/1917 1/17/1919

Pingel Alfred W. 11/2/1987 7/3/1917 3/27/1919

Plamann Melvin E. 1/9/1983 3/26/1942 11/5/1945

Playman Harold L. Dr. 6/15/1971 9/25/1918 12/1/1918

Pollo John Jr. 10/23/1980 7/19/1916 6/27/1919

Polzin George W. Dr. 9/27/1974 10/4/1918 12/18/1918

Pomeroy Henry, Lt. Col. 02/29/1876 11/01/1861 02/11/1864

Pomeroy Ralph 1/4/1921 04/28/1898 11/09/1898

Pond Charles Sr. 8/29/1971 5/6/1957 2/24/1959

Popp Elmer C. 10/8/1920

Portmann Joseph 12/30/1996 1/27/1941 12/22/1945

Potter Ralph Oram 5/17/1927 11/22/1917 7/24/1919

Priest William Henry 9/30/1930 08/07/1862 02/27/1863

Priest James E. 12/28/1861 09/13/1861 12/28/1861

Prindle Kenneth G. 12/4/1986 7/15/1941 6/28/1943

Probst Jason 12/12/1989 7/11/1984 2/17/1988

Puffer Waldo J. 2/9/1960 1/26/1943 1/7/1946

Purath Fredrich 4/12/1904 01/31/1865 09/04/1865

Radick Michael 12/15/1957 4/23/1918 1/8/1919

Radtke Paul A. 9/10/1998 11/15/1943 4/29/1946

Ramminger Herbert 6/12/1974 6/21/1942 10/20/1945

Randall Levi 2/7/1911 07/16/1861 09/27/1861

Randall Rier H. 1/11/1907 07/11/1861 09/27/1861

Rechner John 6/28/1984 12/3/1943 12/30/1945



Reckard J. Marion 10/01/1868 01/06/1863 10/06/1863

Rawlinson George R. 3/1/1958 9/3/1918 1/24/1919

Reese Thomas 4/22/1902 08/21/1862 05/15/1865

Reetz Louis F. 4/11/1932 7/26/1918 2/7/1919

Reetz William Albert 6/7/1988 4/25/1917 6/1/1919

Reeve James T. (Theo) 11/3/1906 09/18/1861 06/08/1865

Reffke Erwin Carl 12/14/1982 11/25/1942 8/27/1943

Rehfeldt Rudolph 12/3/1947 4/25/1918 6/1/1919

Reinke Harold E. 12/14/1980 8/10/1942 1/21/1946

Reinke Herman G. 7/4/1997

Reinke Harry F. 10/23/1971

Reitz Herbert 8/30/1998

Relien Gilbert J. 6/25/1990 5/28/1944 4/22/1946

Renner George A. 8/27/1930 5/25/1918 3/24/1919

Reuss Clarence W 4/11/1957 11/1/1939 1/30/1942

Reuss James E. 2/6/1998 12/9/1942 2/14/1946

Reynolds Laurence W. 9/3/1999 2/15/1943 12/5/1945

Richards James E. 05/20/1863 10/01/1863

Ricker Andrew 4/19/1919 12/01/1864 10/09/1865

Riesenweber Charles 5/18/1924 03/03/1864 08/29/1865

Ritger Arthur 1/14/1951 10/29/1918 12/5/1918

Roberts John David 5/20/2001

Robinson Edmond 02/23/1894 08/13/1862 03/15/1864

Rochon Lawrence M. 9/6/1979 3/3/1943 10/31/1945

Rogers Richard E. 12/29/1997 1/6/1951 1/6/1954

Rogers Holbrook, (Bud) 6/9/1992 1/7/1942 9/7/1945

Rohm Elmer R. 8/13/1966 5/10/1915 12/4/1919

Roll George A. 4/29/1978 4/30/1917 5/19/1919

Ronk Robert C. 3/9/1990

Roth Walter E. 1/30/1996 8/12/1941 9/23/1944

Roth Ralph G. 3/31/1971 6/11/1942 11/5/1945

Roth Donald L. 3/16/1986

Rothe Eugene G. 2/18/1998 9/8/1943 3/19/1946

Rule Russell 12/24/1926 5/25/1918 9/6/1919

Rupiper Donald J. 7/13/2002 3/15/1950 10/9/1953

Ruth William L. 12/25/2004 6/2/1964 5/14/1968

Ryan Samuel Sr. 04/12/1876

Ryan David J. 1/30/1917 08/05/1862 03/21/1863

Sager William F. 11/29/1964 1/10/1918 7/16/1919

Sager Robert K. 7/26/1963 2/7/1940 9/13/1945

Sager Eugene R. 4/30/1969 12/14/1942 9/20/1945

Saiberlich Raymond A. 6/21/1988 10/15/1918 12/12/1918

Saiberlich Henry A. 10/25/1958 7/24/1943 3/22/1946

Salentine Carl 12/16/1994 10/16/1942 3/17/1954

Sanborn Monroe 09/01/1876

Sauer Tim A. 6/13/1972 5/2/1918 6/26/1919

Saunders Henry V. 5/5/1955 9/17/1917 8/13/1919



Schabo Elmer C. 6/15/1980 8/26/1918 1/7/1919

Schwendler Carl 9/5/2018

Scheil Clarence 7/28/1972 10/2/1917 2/22/1919

Schmelling Theo. 11/20/1887 12/30/1863 12/30/1864

Schmidli Emil H. H. Jr. 6/18/2005 6/13/1942 2/5/1946

Schmidt John F. 3/23/1912 09/20/1864 07/02/1865

Schmidt Franklin 6/28/1996

Schmitz Richard R. 3/10/2000 7/1/1944 6/30/1947

Schmitz John E. 10/19/1971 5/25/1918 6/29/1919

Schneider Thomas H. 5/17/1953 7/11/1945 1/20/1947

Schneider Andrew S. 6/9/1946 8/15/1917 5/27/1919

Schoepke Gerald 1/8/1987 1/20/1958 12/21/1959

Morris Marion 5/12/2013

Scholz Gottlieb 05/25/1899 10/04/1864 07/18/1865

VanWyk Paul 10/30/1921 4/15/1915 5/26/1919

Schroeder Orville H enry 11/11/1933 07/14/1818 5/14/1919

Schroeder Milton G. 4/27/1962 1/6/1943 12/27/1945

Schroeder Carl J. 12/9/1969 2/5/1918 1/30/1919

Schroeder Carl A. 1/14/1981 8/26/1942 2/12/1945

Schroeder Brian Howard 10/2/1985

Schroeder George 5/20/1957 7/18/1918 5/16/1919

Schucknecht Walter H. 6/30/1931 7/18/1918 3/28/1919

Schultz William Ludwig

Voigt Raymond B 12/14/1971 3/29/1918 4/17/1919

Schultz Albert F. 1/15/1960 06/15/1898

VanWyk Frank 8/16/1992

Schultz Ferdinand 08/20/1899 02/22/1865 06/12/1866

Schulz Joseph H. 2/28/1965 5/25/1918 4/3/1919

Schulz Harold F 5/14/1954 9/30/1918 12/20/1918

Schulze Willard R. 12/3/2002 5/14/1945 8/15/1945

Schwandt Gustave C. 6/7/1936 04/28/1898 11/10/1898

Rice Otis 12/17/2015 11/13/1942 1/11/1946

Schwingle Eugene 9/10/1992 9/29/1953 9/13/1956

Scott Ira C. 6/11/1909 10/10/1864 07/19/1865

Semler Richard 8/30/1959 9/28/1917 4/23/1919

Sengstock Victor M. 8/8/1997 4/19/1943 12/7/1944

Selig Edward F. 11/30/1951 7/18/1918 2/7/1919

Sheldon George S. 8/14/1917 08/12/1862 01/25/1863

Schutte Frederick 12/16/2015

Shepherd Sewell 9/26/1909 08/31/1864 06/26/1865

Sherman Irvin C. 12/16/1973 5/31/1917 7/15/1919

Sherriff Robert 1/1/1912 08/28/1864 06/20/1865

Sherry Carl A. 9/24/1997 2/27/1918 2/4/1919

Shimek Benjamin Chas. 3/7/1983 6/28/1918 6/23/1919

Simpson Albert C. 9/9/1926 09/03/1864 06/09/1865

Sindahl Armond C. 7/13/1995 12/28/1943 6/8/1944

Slattery Kenneth T. Lt. 6/18/1944 11/10/1944 6/17/1977



Smith Leslie C. 9/11/1976 6/14/1918 6/12/1919

Smith Lloyd W. 3/22/1968 7/30/1917 8/31/1920

Smith Paul 9/6/1999 5/26/1944 9/13/1944

Smith Corwin L. 1/21/1995 7/27/1949 11/25/1952

Smith Carl W. 11/27/2000 3/24/1943 5/8/1945

Smith Fredrick 2/23/1998 8/10/1948 8/15/1952

Smith Douglas D. 10/23/1989 7/31/1972 7/30/1976

Snell George

Snider Egbert L. 1/1/1918

Vaughn Russell A. 7/11/2002 4/5/1941 4/5/1946

Sonnleitner Joseph John 11/20/1996 1/5/1943 12/4/1945

Soper Amasa 02/12/1883 10/26/1861 09/30/1862

Sorenson LeRoy J. 2/15/1988 4/11/1951 4/1/1953

Speel Francis L. 3/26/2005

Spencer Lyle 8/21/1968 1/14/1943 12/11/1945

Spencer William E. 09/26/1862 10/01/1862

Spencer Frank S. 4/24/1921

Sproat William 08/20/1867 06/28/1861 03/15/1864

Stabe Allen 9/12/1986 4/8/1942 11/10/1945

Stadler Marvin W. 4/27/2003 12/10/1958 3/6/1962

Stake Sylvester V. 1/14/1991 9/24/1940 7/1/1945

Stammer William 8/15/1924 08/14/1862 07/05/1865

Stammer Sheldon 2/17/1953 9/18/1917 8/6/1919

Johnson Stanley 12/9/2015

Stammer Clarence 10/10/1923 7/22/1918 2/20/1919

Standiford Justin H. 2/1/2000 10/2/1946 4/1/1948

Stansbury Emory 04/02/1899 08/20/1861 09/01/1864

Stark Ernest 11/22/1973 7/26/1918 12/11/1918

Steenis Wilbur H. 12/7/1974 1/23/1945 2/18/1946

Steenis Peter 03/25/1885 06/28/1861 01/23/1864

Hameister William C. 2/25/2006

Stegamann William L. 12/23/1901 04/28/1898 11/09/1898

Steinart William F. 7/14/1932 04/21/1862 03/10/1863

Steinert George h. 3/9/1956 2/20/1918 6/21/1919

Stelzer George 7/15/2001 1/6/1954 12/24/1955

Sternagel Otto P. 10/20/1977 9/18/1917 7/2/1919

Stevens Charles A. 1/1/1911 04/13/1865 04/22/1865

Steward James G. 9/18/1995

Stewart Issac N. 12/6/1915 09/23/1864 06/26/1865

Stillman Richard Lester 5/9/1984 9/14/1951 10/31/1951

Stillman Ellicott 1/12/1985 5/29/1918 12/24/1918

Storch Carl August 8/16/1950 2/14/1908

Storm William 5/30/1921 4/25/1918 3/11/1919

Streck Viola M. 1/27/1996 11/7/1943 11/2/1945

Strobl Howard 3/18/1979 2/25/1953 2/15/1955

Stroebe Reinhold 08/06/1899 03/11/1865 08/22/1865

Strong Henry F. 09/20/1896 10/03/1861 04/08/1865



Kielgas Allan 5/7/2013

Strover Glendale James 3/16/1989 1/18/1945 1/21/1945

Wick Raymond M. 12/24/2015

Gennigen Paul W. 1/14/2016

Swamer Bernard 3/14/1972 6/13/1942 3/21/1946

Swamp George N. 7/7/1968 9/26/1942 8/1/1945

Swanson Robert L. 8/15/2002 11/26/1957 11/16/1961

Swiekatowski John A. 8/7/1990 7/7/1955 12/15/1967

Sykes Lewis H 05/14/1864

Thalke Charles 11/20/1948 8/2/1917 7/16/1920

Thiel Robert L 9/5/1988 6/10/1943 10/31/1962

Thompson Merrel W. 3/28/1920 9/18/1917 8/4/1919

Thompson Charles M. 1/17/1959 11/12/1917 3/8/1919

Voeltz Wayland 8/19/1975

Tierney Gerald E. 2/1/1971 2/15/1955 9/10/1958

Timmel Alfred R. 2/11/1988 1/23/1946 9/20/1947

Voge John F. 8/2/1957 7/15/1917 6/6/1919

Tobin James Lee 3/8/1995 6/5/1969 7/29/1973

Tock Raymond Otto 4/19/1985 12/18/1943 10/30/1945

Totzke Elmer 5/6/1987

Tornow Raymond W.A. 9/28/1987

Town Ephram P. 10/20/1890 08/25/1864 06/20/1865

Voigt Martin W. 7/29/1960 8/14/1918 1/11/1919

Turner Henry Capt. 01/01/1879 08/07/1862 03/19/1865

Uebel Moritz E. 11/1/1951 04/28/1898 11/14/1898

VanBuskirk William L. 5/30/1970 12/9/1942 6/18/1946

Kuschel Omar 9/10/2015

Reynebeau Richard 1/30/2016

Verity William 01/27/1899 09/03/1864 06/20/1865

Reinke Rob John 10/7/2015

Landmann Ted 10/21/2015

Hawkins Robert, B 11/11/2015

Wolff Lyle 9/8/2015

Verstegen Michael H. 6/10/1931 9/18/1917 4/17/1919

Verwey George 2/15/1971 7/3/1917 5/16/1919

Thao Yeng Pao 2/25/2016

Schmelzer Eugene R. 3/14/2016

Volpe Geno 12/25/1991 7/24/1952 7/17/1954

McCrory Robert G. 3/21/2016

Vaughan James J. 3/24/2016

Wallace Robert 12/29/1885

Walters Walter J. 6/4/1900

von Allmen Joseph R. 6/13/2013

Lee Donald L. 5/28/2013

Wagg Fred E.G. 8/18/1900 04/28/1898 11/09/1898

Warner Charles H. 4/22/1917 08/15/1862 06/08/1865

Watkins Robert 6/27/1980 9/20/1917 6/7/1919



Kamphuis Jerome 4/13/2016

Hidde Roland "Jack" 2/11/2010

Gothe Donald L. 5/17/1927 1/1/1950 1/1/1952

Doire Sr. George 10/3/2015

Weisshahn Clifford F 11/17/2001 5/31/1951 5/24/1955

Porlier George 1/27/2017

Weiland Gary 12/1/2013

Doering Ronald 6/7/2013 1/22/1969 11/8/1970

Lindloff William K. 6/3/2017

Marcinek Robert 10/25/2017

Lemke Howard 12/6/2017

Zuehlke Maryln 2/28/2018 10/4/1958

Lor Nhia 2/25/2018

Lenz William C. 12/4/2017

Walter Robert 5/29/2018

Schroeder Robert D. 6/4/2018

Rohan Ben J. 5/23/1994

Sanger Herbert J. 11/30/2017

Tracanna Peter N. 5/20/2018

Wolff Glen 5/2/2019

Meltz Ramona 1/7/2019

Hoppe Leo M. 6/11/2019

Derks Larry R. 8/8/2019 11/20/1956 11/15/1958

Felzer Theodore "Ted" 12/25/2018

Endlich James H. 9/19/2019

Perry Norman R. 8/27/2019

Vanden Boomen Arnold 12/11/2019

Svetlauskas James 2/11/2020

Waldo L.H. 04/06/1895 08/06/1862 06/30/1865

Waldron Jonathon 4/6/1974 9/15/1942 10/12/1945

Winslow Kenelm 5/29/1969 8/30/1918 12/10/1918

Wojahn Henry 3/1/1947 7/8/1918 3/13/1919

Zilske Frank 3/6/1944

Zilzke Robert 12/6/1954

**Holmes Burton H.

Burmeister Fredrick C. 1/1/1902 12/28/1864 10/19/1865

Herrling Dennis W 6/25/1983 8/22/1954 8/21/1956

Miller Robert E. 5/22/2006

Kanouse Ralph E 8/29/1911 04/28/1898 11/09/1898

Borden Keith F. 5/22/2006

Doire Jr. George V. 6/3/2006 10/27/1972 6/8/1976

Lorenz Kenneth Wm. 7/27/1984

Parish Harold F. 5/13/1979

Crapeau Philip G. 3/27/2006 2/10/1943 3/9/1946

Wunderlich Michael 1/4/2006

Yost Donald E. 1/12/2000

Gmeiner Russell L. 7/12/2006



Pasch Reinhold 12/25/1957 5/25/1918 5/30/1919

Wilcott James A. 8/15/1920

Oppel John W. 09/20/1873

Reetz Walter J. 5/31/1944 6/5/1918 1/3/1919

Lee Rufus V. 1/1/1910 10/21/1861 07/23/1862

Rohrbach Ludwig

Helm Oscar W. 12/18/1947 6/15/1918 6/14/1919

Ashman John 01/26/1892

Krause Arthur R. 12/12/2006

Wilmsen Fredrich B. 12/26/1991

McSorley Jeffrey J. 1/22/2007 5/13/1969 5/1/1971

Neuman Albert 1/8/1985

Nagan Robert F. 2/18/2007

Timm Earl J. 8/19/1999 2/21/1941 10/3/1945

Wiegand Clara M. 6/11/2002 12/28/1942 3/31/1946

Wiegand Robert John 10/19/1988 8/10/1942 11/7/1945

Ziemer Albert 12/28/1991

Heise Kenneth K 10/27/1950 4/28/1950

Lyman Gerald H. 2/27/2007 2/2/1950 2/2/1953

Hertel John 10/25/1931

Kuenzli Quentin D. 3/5/2007

Wenzlaff Walter C. 12/4/1962 10/22/1918 12/17/1918

Koch Frank C. 7/19/1991 9/18/1917 8/12/1919

Johnston Fremont Faville 12/27/1992 9/30/1918 12/20/1918

Scheil Oscar G. G. 10/18/1977 12/14/1917 7/15/1919

Newling Maurice 12/22/2006 11/23/1942 2/7/1946

Sheridan Neil P. 5/3/2007 3/24/1951 3/25/1952

Ritchie Garrett B. 5/8/2007 12/12/1941 9/27/1945

Hoffman Willis C 8/3/1962 11/11/1918 11/11/1918

Paul William L. 5/13/2007

Bixby Philip 3/5/1943

Whitcomb Robert T. 1/13/2003

Sairs George T. Sr. 7/24/1976 3/28/1942 12/11/1945

Schleis Edward L. 8/5/2007

Losselyong Donald F. 8/19/2007

Brandt David L. 5/7/2007 1/18/1952 1/17/1956

Moore Ralph D. 12/4/1964 5/29/1917 5/13/1919

Hollenback Jerome N. 8/24/2007 9/4/1946 12/9/1947

Kuban Walter 1/18/1989 8/19/1942 12/28/1943

Kimball Thomas E. 8/3/2004 4/9/1945 4/11/1949

Monroe James 12/24/1899

Kolosso Sr. Jerome E. 4/11/2009

Schlegel Harry A. 12/11/1954 5/24/1918 6/21/1919

Rehbein George R. 1/5/2008 6/5/1959 6/7/1960

Hand Norman L. 8/30/2004 9/10/1954 8/30/1956

Barlow Raymond C. 2/2/2008 9/14/1961 3/30/1962

Koletzke Dean R. 3/18/2008



Wichman Kenneth E. 5/2/2008 7/15/1960 7/13/1962

Cook Jr. Lawrence S. 5/22/2008 6/23/1952 6/22/1955

Knauf Charles F. Dr. 6/3/2008

Hartel John F. 2/19/2001 10/2/1940 12/3/1945

Johnson Robert E. 6/17/2007

VanderZanden Scott D. 2/26/1992 8/7/1986 5/23/1989

Schroeder Carlton J. 2/29/2008

Dane Peter E. 08/09/1880 08/11/1862 06/30/1865

Zuhlke Raymond J. 8/17/2008

Fischer Donald C. 9/12/2008

Goman Helen 10/15/2008 4/26/1943 1/14/1946

Vinci Harold 1/25/2006 3/22/1944 7/9/1946

Kamasky Edmund J. 12/10/2008 3/22/1944 7/9/1946

Brown James E. 2/10/2009 3/30/1959 3/29/1962

Vandenhoy Jr. Richard J. 3/13/2009

Larsen LaVerne R. 6/14/2009

Stricker Nicholas H. 10/22/2009 4/9/1964 10/17/1966

Brannan William 10/27/2009

Keddell Kenneth R. 11/1/2009

King Ronald L. 11/23/2009

Boettcher Adelbert L. 12/2/2009

Frazier Drew C. 12/19/2009 4/2/1945 7/16/1946

Lingelbach Charles J. 2/27/2010 3/8/1942 3/3/1946

Wiegand Frank H. 2/27/2010

Hoffman Kenneth B. 3/8/2010

Roesken Juergen H. 3/11/2010

Wallis Donald C. 3/21/2010

Wilber Marion B. 4/20/2010

Falk Regina V. 3/25/2010 5/18/1944 2/18/1946

Claypool Blaine W. 6/20/2010

Deltour Richard M. 6/25/2010 8/13/1968 8/12/1970

Goodman Solomon 6/26/2010

Newell Braton O. 11/19/1962 08/12/1862 11/19/1862

Davis Clyde R. 1/22/2010 2/7/1964 2/5/1967

Bartelt James A. 8/9/2010

Cotter James C. 9/11/2010

Reinke Richard W. 12/23/2010 1/11/1952 1/12/1954

Hardy Norbert 5/22/2011

Schuck Kenneth J. 6/10/2011

Zimmerman Robert 3/26/2011

Clark Dean E. 5/3/2001 9/12/1960 9/11/1962

Miller Wilbur 8/4/2011

Langdon Duane C. 8/2/2011

Duvernay Ronald W. 10/13/2011

Baumler John L. 10/8/2011 6/27/1946 5/4/1948

Manske Clifford R. 10/25/2011

Warren Dwight D. 12/4/2011



Martell Michael 12/3/2011 5/28/1986

Balch Robert 10/13/1989

Busch Edward J. 1/28/2012

Sherry William C 1/10/2012

Brown Gordon A. 4/13/2012

Craven Daniel H. 12/7/2009

Ruwoldt John 6/26/2012

Bruchs Ira 7/12/2012

Goman Robert 5/19/2012

Keane Keith 10/13/2011

Keane Elizabeth 4/26/2005

Peterson Eugene 11/21/2012

Schaefer Donald 12/27/2012

Hauert Robert 3/8/2013

Retzlaff Gerald 3/20/2013

Dalke Ronald 4/22/2013

Bishop Glenn 3/10/2013

Wood Carolyn 5/13/2013

Torres Jesus 5/21/2013

Johnson Fredrick 5/26/2013

Miller William T. 6/2/2013

Herzog Bruce 11/13/2012

Gosz Richard 6/12/2013

Loveall Thomas R. 6/7/2013

Johnson Kenneth 7/8/2013

Prink James 7/30/2013

Braeger Marvin 8/13/2013

Skeens Michael 9/2/2013

Brennecke Richard 9/4/2013

Lundt Warner O. 10/14/2013

Smith Philip 3/4/2014

Hill Charles 10/15/2013

Burton Francis 11/26/2013

Haas Francis 12/26/2013

Harper Glenn 3/9/2014

Mueller Bruce 5/10/2014

Clark John T. 12/8/2013

DeFord Joshua 6/10/2014

Hartel Margaret 12/29/2013

Scheig Henry 2/3/2014

Maynard William 2/5/2007

Walker Gordon 8/14/2014

Klemp Clyde 6/13/2014

Managan Thomas 9/8/2014

Barry John 9/10/2014

Hastings Fredrick 10/6/2013

Porter David 12/17/2014



Glass Roy 9/18/1988 1/11/1952 10/10/1953

Stark James J. 12/20/2014

Hurst Harry 1/2/2015

Tralongo Salvatore 1/6/2015

Mueller Lloyd 1/14/2015

Elgin June 3/7/2015

Skeens Lowell 3/16/2015

Jury Donald 3/14/2015

Schubbe Burnell 1/9/2015

Puffer Richard 4/28/2015

Miller George 11/15/2014

Errington William 6/6/2015

Feavel Robert 6/13/2015

Moder Luke 2/3/2015

Thompson John "Jack" 12/11/2015

Ramsay William 4/1/2016

Ultang James 7/25/2016

Hulsey Fred 8/13/2016

Spencer Frank Sibley 9/16/2016 9/22/1942 12/15/1945

Miller James 10/28/2016

Radtke John 10/28/2016

Brueggemann Richard 11/30/2016

Jewell Clifford 3/10/2017

Gabrielson Floyd 11/30/2016

Kowald Roger 4/1/2017 3/1/1951 8/1/1952

Kuntsman Richard 3/12/1998

Kottke Jack E. 12/30/2016

Reetz Wayne 12/29/2016

Schoen William 4/14/2016

Schroeder Arthur 7/24/2017

Parker Ronald A. 6/18/2017

Olson Alton Arthur 8/28/2017

Kohl Charles 9/12/2017

Sawyers Robert 10/23/2015

Allinger Don 9/23/2017

Van Zeeland Larry 10/16/2017

Griffin Gary 4/6/2017

Koestner Robert 11/8/2017 5/29/1943 1/26/1946

DeFord Rodney 12/1/2017

Sweetalla Delvin J. 11/21/1992 9/7/1951 6/17/1953

Nygaard Erick Dan 12/11/2017

Hansen Allen J. 12/21/2017

Conn Timmy Alan 2/13/2018

Schultz Donald 4/4/2018

Sabater-Tirado Frank 5/16/2018 3/30/1988 2/14/2001

Burton Norman John 4/14/2018

Jorstad Jerome L. 6/13/2018



Groth Norman C. 12/4/2017 5/28/1965 12/10/1968

Sigler Samuel Y. 11/3/1995 9/20/1959 3/13/1960

Zimmerman Arnold D. 12/9/2017

Latzko Robert 6/6/2018

Towner Thomas J. 8/25/2018

Gurnee Franklin S. 2/11/2005

Godschalx Maria 8/8/2018

De Bruin Mark L 9/10/2018

Remley Samuel G. 10/4/2018

Jakl Dennis A. 12/6/2018

Steiner Chester 2/18/2019

Garvey Dan 2/26/2019

DeFord Sr. Marquito L. 3/27/2019

Trams Curtis D. 1/1/2019

Parker John M. 6/26/2017

Keller Charles E. 4/20/2019

Mossholder David M. 5/13/2019

Lamers Stephen E. 5/25/2019

Cerbolles Rudolfo "Rudy" 5/26/2019

Wood Grayson 6/3/2019

Guyon William J. 6/11/2019

Metko Ronald 9/3/2018

Carroll Bret C. 7/11/2019 6/20/1987 6/30/2007

Fahrenkrug Carl F. 9/15/1998

Koleske James 2/3/2020

Cook Allen 5/8/2018

Walters Erie H. 11/25/1962 5/27/1918 7/21/1919

Kuebler james 8/14/2015

Johnson Robert W. 2/16/2012

Buss Rick Thomas 1/20/2020

Abendroth Frederich C 11/11/1980 5/31/1918 12/30/1918

Acher Aaron J. 09/08/1894 09/08/1864 06/26/1865

Adsit F. E. 10/01/1861 09/01/1863

Allan Dr. Newlin W 6/30/1961 4/7/1917 5/24/1919

Anderson Cyrus 2/8/1920 5/25/1918 6/3/1919

Anderson Carl A. 8/20/1986

Appleton John 12/19/1882 11/27/1863 04/01/1865

Arenz Donald E. 3/29/2000 11/25/1941 3/5/1943

Arnold Fredrich 3/9/1903 10/01/1864 06/02/1865

Artis Horace 6/11/1910

Aspinall Alfred 7/8/1902 01/03/1862 10/07/1862

Baer John M. Capt. 1/25/1936

Baer Albert W. Sr. 2/26/1990 10/15/1940 6/11/1945

Baetz Sheldon P. 4/6/1980 11/20/1917 3/13/1919

Ballard Jesse Earl 7/2/1986 7/3/1917 5/18/1919

Banker John A 2/3/1922 08/29/1864 06/27/1865

Barnard Allan L. 1/15/1999 8/4/1955 8/1/1958



Barnhart Samuel H. 3/21/1926 08/16/1864 07/03/1865

Bartell Edward 12/24/1930

Barth Clifford W. 12/23/1983 4/26/1943 4/13/1946

Bartmann John Fred. 4/15/1983 6/24/1917 7/2/1919

Kowald Margaret 11/18/2014 8/28/1950 11/1/1972

Bauer Clifford A. 3/19/2002

Bowlby Howard Wellington 7/24/1983 7/8/1943 2/4/1946

Campbell Howard 7/7/1995 2/5/1943 7/31/1945

Carey James B. 4/17/1900 11/19/1863 10/27/1865

Carlson Harold P. 7/17/2002 4/3/1942 10/12/1945

Behling Charles H 1/27/1978 5/27/1942 3/27/1943

Bellis Merlin Sr 2/15/1986 12/16/1941 9/22/1945

Benishek Carl F. 5/13/2000 7/31/1964 9/29/1965

Benjamin Louis V 4/15/1967 7/3/1917 5/10/1919

Bergan Robert L. 4/8/2003 12/7/1951 12/4/1955

Bergner Robert B. 1/8/2000 9/24/1969 5/2/1971

Berholtz John A 10/13/1984 2/15/1944 2/27/1946

Bessett Roger J 5/26/1992 11/4/1942 11/4/1948

Bessie Millard J. 12/11/1948 3/30/1918 6/27/1919

Bethe Everett Wilson 9/1/1930 04/28/1898 11/11/1908

Beula Richard J 8/30/1992 5/24/1944 6/4/1946

Scheibe Harold 6/22/2015

Bilter Benjamin 3/19/1921 4/10/1917 5/18/1919

Blaese Roger C 2/20/1995 4/16/1952 4/15/1955

Blood E.J. 09/27/1885 01/02/1862 12/10/1863

Bloom Donald A 11/11/1981 1/25/1945 2/22/1946

Bloomer John F. 10/25/1965 1/8/1918 4/9/1919

Boettcher Herbert A. 10/14/1953 2/20/1919

Boettcher Herbert J. 6/17/1977 9/4/1918 2/6/1919

Bolton Ernest L. Dr. 10/17/1961 6/4/1918 12/30/1918

Bomier Godrey Vet. 4/6/1915 05/27/1864 09/23/1864

Bonger Robert (Bert) 4/29/1958 4/2/1918 4/24/1918

Boon Richard Henry 10/24/1959 6/28/1944 11/3/1945

Bradford Sr. Alfred S. 12/29/1973 9/18/1967 9/5/1969

Bradley Greg 7/16/1995 11/30/1993 7/16/1995

Braeger Walter 7/23/1939 4/26/1918 4/15/1919

Braeger George 10/14/1954 5/25/1918 1/21/1919

Bragg Wallace J. 1/17/1961 2/28/1942 9/23/1945

Brainard A. K. 1/9/1901 08/15/1864 10/17/1864

Brandt Chester F. 2/1/1988 10/29/1942 11/5/1945

Brehmer Leroy E. 4/1/1999 1/19/1943 12/30/1945

Breitung Albert A. 3/26/1918 10/27/1863 05/11/1865

Bremer Charles B. 5/16/1995 3/29/1951 3/20/1953

Brennecke Henry 1/9/1957 8/14/1918 6/17/1919

Brewer James W. 1/21/1943

Brockman Fred 7/21/1904 03/09/1865 06/12/1865

Brown Benj. F. 6/13/1925 10/23/1864 06/12/1865



Brown J. G. 12/31/1861 01/07/1865

Brownell Tellinghast 4/20/1914 07/30/1862 05/30/1865

Bruehl William C. 8/19/1994 5/22/1943 8/23/1945

Buchanan William 5/14/1920

Bucklew John J 4/1/1974 3/19/1943 11/9/1945

Budrick Robert Paul 3/12/1987 12/31/1974 12/7/1981

Budrick John K. 4/17/1993

Buesing Melvin 7/28/1989 3/10/1941 3/26/1946

Bullock Loring B. 3/25/1914 11/23/1863 05/19/1865

Bullock Lovell 03/26/1895 11/12/1861 01/01/1863

Burby Donald L. 5/6/1993

Burgess Jack Ray Sr. 8/7/1987 10/25/1960 10/23/1964

Burhans Donald E. 8/20/1994 12/28/1942 1/9/1946

Burkett Robt. Geo. 7/11/1937 5/22/1918 9/30/1921

Burley Lawrence A. 5/20/1980 6/13/1944 1/30/1946

Burmeister Roy 5/16/1993

Bushey George P. 1/1/1917 11/12/1863 07/20/1865

Buske William 3/4/1939 12/16/1896 12/23/1899

Buss George J. 6/22/2002 1/23/1951 5/3/1974

Busse John 02/25/1897 03/23/1865 07/28/1865

Butch Amel 12/3/1990 6/13/1944 1/30/1946

Everetts A. B.

Everson Sr. Harold W. 1/13/1999

Faas Bob Adrian 9/22/1990 2/10/1953 2/5/1957

Fairbanks Sylvester 10/26/1889 09/30/1864 07/08/1865

Feavel Leland 4/30/1971 4/23/1943 3/30/1945

Carpenter Howard F. 8/14/1945 2/20/1918 9/4/1919

Cate Alden G. 1/1/1906 12/28/1861 08/09/1865

Cavert Charles 1/1/1904 02/20/1864 05/27/1865

Chamberlian John H. 1/1/1924 08/24/1864 06/20/1865

Chandler James C. 4/3/1961 9/24/1942 11/30/1945

Chilson W.H. 4/28/1909

Clark John B. 12/27/1962

Clark Norman B. 7/14/1906 12/24/1864 08/22/1865

Claspill John H. Sr. 06/24/1885

Cole Frank L. 5/3/1933 08/12/1898 02/28/1899

Collins Joseph C. 4/11/1982 7/3/1964 8/30/1966

Comella Frank P. 8/18/1986 1/14/1946 3/22/1947

Conkey Theodore 03/17/1880 01/16/1862 10/27/1865

Conner James G.

Corbett Kenneth H. 11/3/1964 10/14/1918 12/21/1918

Cumber Charles S. 9/25/2005

Cumber Frank J. Sr. 3/2/1958

Daily Tom J. 3/22/1995

Damrow Eugene E. 10/15/1943 5/18/1942 10/15/1943

Daniels Sr. Charles D. 3/29/1952 06/06/1898 03/31/1899

Danielsen Ralph 7/6/1989 2/23/1944 11/10/1945



Darling Joseph Willis 6/5/1983 2/17/1958 7/15/1958

Davis Thomas Pearson 8/29/1930 06/17/1899 07/08/1899

Davis Evan 12/28/1894 10/25/1863 07/12/1865

De Bruin Harold F. 3/20/1999 7/6/1945 8/17/1945

De Leest Robert F. 6/27/1993

De Shaney June E. 8/8/1999 9/26/1942 11/27/1945

DeLong Donald V. 9/30/2002 3/26/1951 3/3/1953

DeShaney Walter M. 6/3/1998 3/14/1945 10/30/1946

Dessel Joseph 10/17/1955 5/10/1917 5/30/1919

DeZemler Charles 10/27/1987 4/25/1942 11/20/1945

Dhein Neil Edward 5/11/2005 8/31/1942 10/26/1945

Dietrich John C. 5/12/1971 12/14/1898 12/14/1899

Doerfler Mathias 4/21/1930 06/15/1898 11/10/1898

Dort Oscar L.. 1/9/1918

Downey Howard A. Dr. 6/8/1958 1/5/1918 12/14/1918

Downey Herbert F. 3/30/2005 3/2/1943 2/4/1946

Dunn Thomas C. 1/1/1918

Hedberg Oscar W 12/22/1929 7/3/1917 6/1/1919

Eastman Jan 9/14/1991 3/12/1969 1/19/1973

Eggert Francis R. 10/16/2002 6/14/1945 12/11/1945

Ehlert Dennis A. 10/5/1974 10/12/1970 4/19/1972

Eick Earl C. 1/1/1906 06/16/1898 11/09/1898

Elm Lemuel Nelson 2/25/1989 6/13/1945 7/28/1949

Elseth Jeanette E. 8/8/1998 4/20/1944 2/20/1946

Engel Earl E. 6/3/1967 3/1/1916 5/21/1919

Glander Carl A 2/5/1969 7/8/1918 5/17/1919

Hanson George 11/23/1946 7/22/1918 2/7/1919

Fink Robert H. 5/27/1998 2/18/1957 1/29/1960

Fiscella Ben J. 8/17/1989 9/26/1942 10/27/1945

Franklin Edward R. 08/22/1898 02/27/1864 06/06/1865

Fredricks Marvin L. 10/27/1944 3/31/1943

Freeman Hiram Guerney 12/3/1926 09/12/1861 05/10/1865

Friedwald George B. 3/5/2005 2/20/1942 9/5/1945

Fritz Sydney 1/26/1987

Fulcer George H. 6/19/1931 9/3/1918 12/4/1918

Gabathuler Roland L. 12/20/1990

Gass Fredrich 7/13/1924 11/25/1863 10/23/1865

Gatz Max F. 4/22/1940

Gaulke Edward A. 10/28/1965

Gebheim Alfred A. 6/9/1959 6/29/1942 1/17/1945

Gehring John L. 10/24/1924 08/21/1862 06/12/1865

Getsfried Leo P. 2/21/2005 12/30/1941 2/16/1945

Gibson Wm. (Bill) 6/13/1998 10/29/1959 9/30/1960

Giebisch Herbert 8/12/1998 1/19/1942 10/12/1945

Gilbertson Gordon 9/13/1999 1/13/1942 11/30/1945

Giles Albert Edward 6/7/1982 3/28/1944 11/7/1944

Gillespie William J. 10/22/1918 2/7/1918 10/22/1918



Ginnow Walter L. 4/28/1926 4/25/1918 5/20/1919

Gloff John 3/18/1977 11/24/1942 3/9/1943

Godfrey James W. 5/31/1911

Godschalx Raymond J. 8/4/1997 1/27/1942 10/17/1945

Goehler Robert L. 7/2/1990 1/31/1946 6/8/1948

Goldbeck Beck H. 3/4/1992 11/18/1942 7/12/1945

Goodland Clark 7/22/1929 1/9/1918 6/18/1919

Goodrich George Robert 6/30/1950

Gottschalk Donald L 7/19/1999 7/29/1964 9/19/1967

Grapengieser Earl H. 12/27/1969 6/24/1942 2/13/1943

Green John T. 4/7/2001 9/9/1942 10/14/1945

Gregory Harvey G 7/17/1986 10/27/1941 9/20/1945

Greselin Geno 3/3/1998 7/13/1942 5/25/1945

Grobe James M 9/2/1977 1/5/1953 12/25/1954

Grogan Jerome J. 3/9/1999 9/25/1951 6/4/1953

Grootemont John M. 11/22/2002

Gruenstern Reinhold, A 7/8/1972 4/11/1941 9/6/1945

Grupe Ferdinand 03/25/1889 09/30/1864 06/14/1865

Haase Roy Reynold 8/28/2000 7/29/1941 5/20/1945

Hageman William 7/17/1918 4/6/1918 7/17/1918

Hameister Herman E 12/19/1959 4/20/1918 12/27/1918

Hamilton Col. H. L. 9/30/1958 3/1/1941 4/30/1956

Hanchett James 1/26/1929 07/30/1863 07/03/1865

Hancock Johnson 2/4/1931 01/28/1864 07/12/1865

Hartsworm Gerald 1/13/1975 6/13/1941 10/19/1945

Hartwig Earl W 1/12/1982 7/13/1917 5/17/1919

Hartwig Albert C 3/14/1966 7/3/1918 12/23/1918

Hauert Alvin 9/29/1945 7/14/1917 5/18/2006

Hausher Meta A. 12/29/1950

Haworth Edgar (Edworth) 6/30/1931

Hecht Albert O 5/18/1951 04/28/1898 11/09/1898

Hedberg David N 7/3/1943 6/4/1917

Hehne Mildred L. 2/27/2000 11/9/1918 11/5/1920

Heinemann Capt. Fred 6/10/1929 09/06/1861 12/04/1864

Heinritz Jay R 12/7/1994 11/4/1948 5/28/1952

Heins John T 3/9/1955 4/24/1918 8/13/1919

Herrmann Rudolph C 7/6/1966 4/3/1917 5/13/1919

Herzberg Albert 10/2/1981 3/29/1918 5/30/1919

Hilfert Charles H 6/21/1916 05/29/1862 01/31/1863

Hoeppner Fred Jr 7/17/1971 5/25/1918 7/22/1919

Hoffman Harry K. Sr. 9/5/2003 8/10/1948 8/12/1952

Hoh Orrin W 8/8/1962 9/16/1942 4/16/1943

Holub Sylvester G. 7/20/2002 7/20/1942 11/30/1945

Hoppe Eugene O. 3/14/1986 3/7/1946 8/1/1947

Hurd Henry Harrison 2/3/1921 02/24/1864 06/02/1865

Humphries Sr. James W 7/3/1959 10/30/1943 11/12/1945

Immel Victor H 2/10/1971 6/17/1941 10/4/1941



Ingenthron Richard J. 6/22/2003 10/25/1946 4/1/1948

Ingold Arthur J. Jr. 1/9/1922 10/7/1918 12/21/1918

Jabas Richard L 10/17/1970 6/20/1946 4/23/1948

Jahnke Herman A 10/11/1918 12/15/1914 10/11/1918

Jesser Eugene A. 7/17/1998

Jewett John D. 11/21/1862 08/26/1862 11/21/1862

Johnson Jack 8/4/1997 9/15/1942 9/8/1945

Johnson William K. Dr. 12/2/1934 5/6/1916 12/20/1920

Johnson Sigvard L. 8/19/1976 7/24/1942 8/29/1945

Johnson Arlin E. 10/17/1992 1/9/1956 1/8/1958

Johnson Donald D. 10/1/1998 1/26/1956 11/22/1957

Johnston Everett Oney 7/29/1918 7/29/1918

Johnston Alden M. 10/21/1967 8/13/1917 5/10/1919

Jones Henry M. 03/18/1888 01/01/1862 10/07/1865

Jones Newland P. 4/1/1962 6/2/1941 4/11/1946

Jorstad Vernon L. 6/24/1996 3/16/1945 12/8/1945

Juhnke John 9/2/1921

Jury Lewis E. 10/1/1970

Koehnke Henry F. Jr. 8/14/1926

La Pine Lewis James 1/22/1968 5/1/1918 6/30/1919

Laabs Marguerite 8/26/2000 11/22/1944 9/27/1945

LaChappelle William Joseph 6/3/1987

Kamasky Mary M. 8/3/2004 3/15/1945 1/11/1946

Karrow Herbert H. 8/15/2002 2/4/1942 2/28/1945

Kasten Ervin E 5/4/1981 12/28/1943 3/2/1944

Kasten Herman 9/1/1971

Keats Fenton G. 12/2/1933 4/14/1917 6/3/1919

Keller Raymond Fred 11/3/1996

Kellner Roger 3/14/1980 9/18/1969 3/19/1972

Kenyon Wallace B. 09/25/1890 02/14/1862 04/02/1863

Kenyon William 1/31/1908 03/23/1865 07/28/1865

Kerrigan Earl J. 1/21/1999 1/19/1942 12/4/1945

Kessler Floyd R. 7/27/1965 7/15/1917 5/16/1919

Kibbie Fred William 4/7/1938 5/15/1918 1/15/1919

Kimball Nelson W. 4/8/1901 10/21/1864 07/22/1865

King James Edward 12/11/1923 01/01/1861

Kipp Malcolm 5/13/1924

Klarner Ervin W. 5/27/2004 10/14/1943 11/8/1945

Klause Oscar 7/21/1944 10/22/1942 7/21/1944

Kleinhans Theodore J. Rev 2/27/2002

Knapp Luke 08/18/1864 10/26/1865

Knuijt Jeffery J 2/20/2003

Knutson Douglas Dean 6/19/1990 2/24/1943 2/26/1946

Koehnke Walter H. 9/8/1960 5/24/1918 5/24/1919

Koerner Elmer E. 4/5/1961

Koletzke Max, Sr. 4/28/1958 4/3/1918 12/19/1918

Kranz Douglas A. 5/24/1998 3/24/1943 12/1/1945



Kranzusch Melvin 1/3/1988 3/27/1942 11/19/1945

Krause Leo H. 1/1/1943 5/25/1918 8/5/1919

Kretzschmar Hanns O. 5/15/2000 2/15/1955 10/31/1978

Krolow Fred 12/29/1956 5/25/1918 2/24/1919

Krueger John W. 2/5/1937

Krueger John H. 7/15/2002 2/10/1966 1/21/1968

Kruschke Herman 1/1/1903

Kruse Henry Karl 10/22/1960 2/27/1918 3/14/1918

Kruse Henry R. 11/1/1986 7/27/1944 7/29/1946

Kuehnl John 4/23/2000 6/17/1969 12/22/1971

Kuester Donald R. 11/10/1948 11/7/1945 8/15/1946

Laemmrich Robet P. 12/19/1999 10/13/1958 10/12/1962

Lahn Gerald 7/4/1980 1/4/1943 12/24/1945

Lake John R. 7/12/1923 08/13/1862 06/12/1865

Lambie Del 8/1/1985 4/2/1918 3/29/1919

Lamers Richard H. 10/16/1981 10/1/1942 11/22/1945

Landis Ralph V. Dr. 12/26/1978 6/8/1942 11/13/1945

Langstadt Godfried 5/15/1931 01/25/1862 11/15/1865

Lappen Cliffird C. 5/19/1980 12/28/1942 11/17/1945

Lappen Daniel E. 6/15/1997 2/23/1982 7/25/1982

Malott Gregory 3/31/1990 9/13/1973 9/8/1976

Mandel Raymond A. 12/31/1988 7/9/1942 11/23/1945

Learman Anthony E. 3/29/2004

LeGault Douglas A. 4/8/1978 10/15/1940 9/8/1945

Lehr Klaus W. 2/1/1992

Leman Angelo L. 4/20/1933 12/9/1913 7/7/1919

Lemke Edward C. 1/5/1983 7/23/1918 7/9/1919

Lester Richard 01/08/1882

Lichterman Gerald A. 10/9/1997 11/25/1983 2/24/1988

Lillge Norman 7/2/1952

Logan Anthony 11/27/1900 01/09/1862 07/14/1865

Lohrenz Wm. 3/6/1907 10/01/1864 07/18/1865

Longworth Thomas 11/7/1955 6/3/1918 9/30/1921

Losse Howard H. 6/28/2005 5/28/1941 6/3/1945

Lowery Jaime M. 10/5/2005

Parker George J. 8/22/1940 5/9/1917 12/28/1918

Lyons Joseph 5/9/1987

Maas Ernest 8/5/1917 03/18/1864 07/01/1865

Magnus James C. 11/23/1992 11/14/1951 11/13/1954

Marston Joseph Hilton 12/16/1938 12/14/1942 2/16/1946

McMahon Lamoine 9/3/1986

Meidam Dennis Sr. 12/21/1928 10/07/1864 07/16/1865

Meidam Henry R. 5/25/1954 12/17/1943 10/23/1945

Becker Deane S. 2/17/1941

Merkle Chester A. 12/26/1987 8/13/1918 1/28/1919

Merrill Wilber F. 2/24/1900 02/03/1865 10/02/1865

Meyer Raymond 4/23/1997 3/5/1947 5/20/1947



Meyer Otto F. 9/17/1972 7/22/1918 12/24/1918

Miller Willis 2/4/1992 10/2/1944 2/21/1946

Miller Roland Norton 4/15/1953 9/3/1918 2/10/1919

Miller David Ervin Capt. 7/1/1985 7/15/1979 7/1/1985

Miller George F. 1/15/1917 1/15/1917

Millheiser Frank J. 07/13/1886 08/15/1862 06/10/1865

Mitchell Thomas H. 4/29/1919 05/02/1864 09/23/1864

Mitchell William Dean 7/1/1963 4/21/1917 5/29/1919

Mitchell Robert S. Dr. 5/17/1926

Moll Otto C. 10/27/1934 6/4/1917 1/11/1919

Molling Joseph J. 6/27/1999 3/14/1941 10/30/1945

Morgan Bernard R. 5/28/2001 4/3/1945 7/30/1946

Morgan Nathan Evan Co. 10/10/1916 04/28/1898 11/15/1898

Mory Harry E. 6/21/1942 2/25/1918 7/29/1919

Mory Arthur E. 9/5/1938 2/12/1917 5/5/1919

Much Richard J. 8/20/2000 10/18/1972 10/12/1974

Muenster Lester E. 12/30/1999 9/26/1942 12/4/1943

Murray Kenneth L. 7/19/2000 1/29/1940 11/2/1945

Muttart Raymond Joseph 7/20/1982 8/13/1918 3/14/1919

Neunfeldt Raymond 10/13/1918 9/4/1918 10/13/1918

Neville Almond 4/4/1990 5/17/1949 1/5/1953

Niemuth Samuel P. 5/24/1985 9/12/1942 2/6/1945

Nitzbond Eugene J. 4/4/1999 11/15/1943 3/28/1946

Noffke Ralph F 3/18/1994 2/2/1943 1/10/1946

Notaras Paul A. 7/16/1957

Nueman Fredrich J. 9/23/1910 08/14/1862 06/13/1865

Ochsner Friedrich 12/15/1909 03/04/1865 08/29/1865

Owen James B. 8/2/1994 11/2/1955 10/31/1958

Panfield Victor 3/22/1974 7/14/1917 5/24/1919

Patten Lyman Beecher 1/18/1907

Patterson Wilson S. 10/4/1993

Peterson Allen O. 11/19/1962

Patton Zordaster 07/16/1861 01/20/1862

Patton Worthington 12/22/1909 06/28/1861 07/15/1864

Pearson Silas 9/7/1909 08/04/1862 01/01/1863

Pederson Peter C. 7/31/1979 5/7/1918 7/5/1919

Peot Arthur 3/3/1992 6/5/1942 1/20/1946

Peotter Franklin H. 5/13/1945 1/13/1943

Peterson Raymond A. 6/17/1971 7/27/1918 2/10/1919

Petraske Glenn 10/26/2003

Pettegrew Percy D. 6/22/1991 10/1/1918 12/12/1918

Phillips Carl Roy 1/22/1997 10/4/1951 10/2/1953

Philipsen Wayne 9/24/1979 2/1/1950 11/24/1953

Pierre Harvey V. 7/15/1918 4/11/1917 7/15/1918

Piette Robert J. 4/7/1988

Pingel Ernest 4/14/1957 5/25/1918 7/19/1919

Pleckman Frank 8/27/1939 7/8/1918 3/22/1919



Pohlman Peter Henry 8/4/1929 5/25/1918 6/6/1919

Pomeroy Capt. Hugh 10/25/1940 04/28/1898 11/10/1898

Pompa Harold G. 11/3/2000 1/4/1943 1/8/1946

Popp Conrad 2/16/1923 08/15/1862

Poppe Frederick W. 2/28/1957 7/22/1918 12/10/1918

Porlier Warner A. 6/16/1982 4/4/1944 12/22/1945

Potter Thomas J. Sr. 3/13/1964 1/24/1949 5/13/1949

Pozolinski Joseph H. 7/2/2001 3/6/1946 3/25/1947

Priebe Thomas G. 12/28/1994 10/6/1952 10/2/1956

Prink Verne E. 11/29/1999 5/27/1942 2/18/1946

Prust Henry 5/28/1966 5/25/1918 6/17/1919

Purdy Roy H. 8/9/1971 6/14/1918 1/24/1919

Radtke Norman A. 3/17/1997 2/4/1942 12/31/1945

Radtke Richard T. 5/30/1997 9/14/1953 9/13/1955

Radtke Arthur 6/11/1926 9/30/1918 12/20/1918

Radtke Ferdinand 2/24/1942 04/08/1898 11/09/1898

Radtke Clarence C. W. 8/4/2000 1/29/1945 10/24/1946

Reese Jessie D. 07/16/1896 12/29/1863

Reese David E. 7/13/1995

Reffke Forrest G. 12/8/1946 7/27/1944 6/23/1946

Regenfuss Robert M. 12/22/1958 3/20/1917 5/18/1919

Rehlender Herman F. 8/22/1977 7/22/1918 12/16/1918

Rehmer Charles F. 3/24/1927 7/15/1917 5/16/1919

Reichelt George C. 6/16/1994 11/18/1942 1/2/1946

Reinke Roy 5/14/1973 2/17/1942 1/1/1945

Rethlesberger John 09/21/1898 10/14/1864 07/14/1864

Reynolds Charles C. 8/9/1920 01/05/1864 01/21/1866

Richter Jr. Gustave 12/20/1971 10/17/1942 3/10/1943

Ricker Arthur P. 12/8/1973 7/22/1918 9/4/1918

Rippel William 4/13/1919 11/10/1862 01/29/1865

Risse Adolph 2/26/1943 7/22/1918 2/20/1919

Risse Rudolph A. 10/21/1969 9/4/1918 3/13/1919

Robbins Dale Walder 8/5/1983 8/16/1967 6/3/1969

Robinson G. L. Prt.

Robinson Andrew N. 01/01/1890 09/18/1861 06/26/1862

Rohloff Paul H. 6/1/1966

Rohrig William 07/05/1897 03/03/1862 04/06/1863

Rondou Clifford J. 1/6/1984 2/15/1943 10/4/1945

Roocks Erwin F. 11/2/1977

Root Elmer Wallace 2/17/1983 9/30/1918 12/20/1918

Rosebush John McNaughton 11/5/1978 4/1/1942 1/6/1946

Sykes Richard 10/26/1963 04/28/1898 11/09/1898

Ross William August 10/22/1963 04/28/1898 11/09/1898

Rule Clinton B. 1/11/1977 5/25/1918 9/6/1919

Rusch Alvin E. 12/26/1982 11/26/1943 12/16/1945

Rusch Emery R. 2/20/1946 7/8/1918 3/14/1919

Russell Abraham 10/14/1891



Russell Charles 04/09/1877

Ryan Sam L. Jr. 3/28/1907 02/18/1862 12/29/1862

Sachs William H. 12/23/1964 7/27/1918 2/7/1919

Saecker Austin H. 11/26/1974 5/15/1918 9/30/1921

Sager Arthur E. 8/22/1981 8/13/1918 1/24/1919

Sagert Charles Wm. 9/12/1997 10/26/1961 5/1/1964

Sample Charles 5/15/2001 1/4/1943 11/1/1945

Sanborn Loran L. 1/29/1922 05/19/1864 09/16/1864

Santkyul Henry H. 9/5/1952 8/14/1918 12/12/1918

Sauberlich Henry 7/25/1910 09/28/1864 07/19/1865

Saxton W. J. 12/20/1894 08/21/1862 02/26/1865

Schaefer Charles F. 3/11/1930 3/5/1900 3/4/1903

Schafelke Henry A. 11/6/1959 5/15/1918 1/20/1919

Schaffelke William G. 7/15/1918 6/22/1916 7/15/1918

Schatzman Frank B. 8/31/1931 5/25/1918 5/22/1919

Schiller LaVern E. 7/15/1996 2/25/1953 9/8/1959

Schinderle Arthur J. 2/11/1999 10/8/1942 11/24/1945

Schinke Robert J. 7/9/1968 4/13/1945 7/25/1946

Schneider Elmer Alvin 9/7/1968 2/19/1915 2/5/1918

Schneider Frank 8/14/1951 5/1/1918 6/21/1919

Schnetzer Robert G. 10/16/1987 7/9/1952 4/25/1954

Sheldon Sanford S. 03/04/1891 04/10/1862 04/10/1865

Schroeder Clifford A. 3/4/2004 3/18/1960 3/24/1961

Schuck Pearl 1/12/2001 6/29/1945 7/10/1946

Schultz Junior H. 10/13/2003 12/12/1942 10/13/1946

Schultz Walter J. 4/12/1971 4/2/1918 3/8/1919

Schulz Samuel 3/28/1958 12/12/1918 8/30/1919

Schulze John W. 12/23/1987 2/18/1942 12/8/1945

Schwerbel Ralph C. Lt. 12/25/1944 10/1/1940 12/25/1944

Scott Bruce Robt. 9/2/2002 8/2/1943 5/15/1946

Steudel John D. 8/3/2002 9/9/1942 11/30/1945

Steward Rodger E. 11/12/2001 10/15/1961 8/1/1962

Sitterson Cephas B. Jr. 10/19/1963 3/5/1941

Slomski Mark 6/1/1993

Smith William H. Corp. 02/04/1894

Smith Dean Allen 3/4/1980 3/4/1946

Smith Edward A. 7/3/1988 7/28/1944 11/7/1945

Smyrneos Charles 2/2/1997 10/10/1942 12/16/1945

Sonsthagen Allen D. 4/4/1990

Spaude Louis 9/3/1918

Spaulding George H. 3/22/1977

Spencer Frank E. 4/7/1930 4/7/1919 3/8/1919

Spencer Dorothy 3/24/2005

Spychalla Frank Charles 11/1/1984 4/21/1917 5/15/1919

Stark John J. 4/8/1965 1/2/1943 10/31/1945

Steffen Clement H. 11/16/1956

Stiener John B. 12/06/1893 03/20/1865 07/11/1865



Stillman David B. 3/17/1910 08/30/1864 06/20/1865

Stilp Albert J. 1/29/1967 7/29/1942 11/30/1945

Stoeger Charles F. 9/11/1975 12/7/1942 10/10/1945

Stolzman James R. 9/15/1987 2/10/1959 2/7/1964

Storm Ernest 3/8/1926 7/8/1918 1/17/1919

Stowe Dennis Gilbert 6/23/1917 08/31/1864 07/06/1865

Streck Otto A. 10/30/1968

Tradewell Jean 2/18/2005 10/9/1944 2/8/1946

Treiber David A. 12/23/2002 7/14/1956 12/20/1956

Swiertz Walter V. Jr 6/2/1961 11/9/1948 6/30/1950

Talbot Marvyn A. 7/7/2003 1/13/1943 1/24/1946

Tawter Joseph T. 4/11/1998

Tedford Clinton S. 3/18/2003 10/21/1958 7/21/1961

Thies John 7/1/1974 2/22/1944 4/18/1946

Thomas Earl 5/1/1955 2/26/1918 5/7/1919

Thompson William E. 3/1/1939

Thompson Wilber 11/1/1922

Tidwell Charles E. 4/9/1999 2/22/1945 11/30/1946

Timmins Thomas J. 7/30/1997 8/8/1974 8/5/1977

Tippet Earl J 4/20/1975

Tischer Fredrick 07/08/1893 02/22/1865 08/01/1865

Tobin Ernest James 3/17/1987 8/11/1942 12/29/1945

Trettien Fredrich 03/19/1891

Waltman Frank L. 7/12/1933 5/25/1918 7/18/1919

Wing Ebenezer 8/20/1910 08/27/1864 06/02/1865

Wing James 3/7/1923 02/27/1864 06/02/1865

Wirth John 7/23/1916

Witthuhn Elmer 10/17/1918 9/3/1918

Pommerenke Walter J 8/21/2006

Tubbs Byron B. 8/4/1924 09/07/1864 05/26/1865

Turkow Martin 10/15/1969 8/1/1918 12/16/1918

Uckerman Herman 4/20/1956 4/29/1918 5/14/1919

Underhill Robert A. 9/24/1983

VanderLois Russell F. 2/27/1979 2/17/1944 4/6/1947

Washechek Geo. J. 1/11/1989 3/12/1944 10/23/1945

Watters Dale 5/9/1987 2/27/1946 4/19/1947

Weber Norbert Arthur 4/23/1995 7/29/1953 7/11/1955

Wege Roger 12/7/2001 1/30/1952 1/6/1954

Wegner Reinhardt A. 7/1/1925 4/3/1917 4/25/1919

Wegner Albert 5/12/1926 2/8/1918 7/28/1919

Weimar Fredrick K. 1/11/1910 12/31/1861 12/04/1863

Weimar Edmund G. Ed 4/1/1902 10/14/1861 08/20/1863

Weiss John H. 8/6/1967 6/19/1916 5/16/1919

Weller William 07/10/1899 01/01/1864 07/18/1865

Wells Day E 11/15/1993 3/18/1949 4/6/1951

Wenzlaff Richard G. 11/24/1929 8/10/1942 2/24/1944

Wenzlaff Richard W. 2/24/1944 8/10/1942 2/24/1944



Werner Rudolph N. 1/30/1974 5/25/1918 5/28/1919

Werner Frank L. 12/24/1964

Werth Robert L. 3/18/1998

Wettengel Fredrick William 04/24/1882 08/16/1861 08/21/1861

Wheeler Richard A. 9/28/1980 6/19/1916 5/16/1919

Wheeler Samuel S. 1/5/1903 09/17/1861 05/25/1864

Wheeler Clifford A. 4/21/1996 9/13/1949 11/30/1952

Whirry Harvey W. 12/13/1951 5/25/1918 7/21/1919

White Lyman L. 03/17/1873 06/28/1861 07/15/1864

White Edwin R. 5/9/1901 02/12/1864 10/27/1865

Whitefoot Robert J. 12/1/1960

Whitman John George 09/28/1877 04/22/1861 04/14/1863

Whitman Cecil E. 5/8/1994 5/11/1945 8/22/1946

Wiegand William 1/21/1914 03/27/1864 07/26/1865

Wiegand John W. 7/20/1996 3/3/1943 1/7/1946

Wienandt Kenneth 7/11/1991 1/11/1943 12/20/1945

Wiese George 9/12/1946 5/25/1918 2/9/1919

Wilbur Wayne W. 7/3/1973 6/24/1916 6/10/1919

Wilcox Russell L. 11/22/1963 2/11/1943 12/8/1945

Wilke Paul C. 11/18/1963 9/15/1914 5/16/1919

Wilken DuWayne E. 6/15/1982 5/31/1944 6/5/1946

Will Herbert 4/27/1922 4/25/1918 3/11/1919

Willer Harvey E. 12/19/1994 2/23/1949 2/21/1950

Willer Gene D. 1/13/1977 1/7/1953 1/6/1956

Williams Kenneth O. 3/31/1972 1/6/1944 8/30/1945

Williams Richard G. 11/8/2001 1/13/1949 12/1/1952

Williams David L. 12/2/1986 7/25/1985 12/2/1986

Wilpolt Louis 5/1/1941

Wilson Lewis 4/30/1931 11/24/1863 09/11/1865

Wilson William 12/17/1928 03/04/1861 08/03/1865

Wilson Francis G. 05/14/1864 09/16/1864

Wilson George F. 11/4/1929 1/15/1918 12/28/1918

Woldt Gilbert W. 9/19/2004 10/26/1942 10/13/1945

**Crouch Jesse 01/01/1894 12/05/1861 06/12/1862

Wolf Frank 10/20/1924 10/21/1861 07/16/1865

Wolf Edward C. 11/5/1950 5/16/1918 1/10/1919

Wolfe Leigh S. 4/7/1986 2/1/1918 12/17/1918

Wolff Helmuth O. 3/27/1963 4/25/1918 9/15/1919

Wolff Edwin 11/27/1918 5/25/1918 11/27/1918

Wolfram Christian 12/01/1894 10/01/1864 06/19/1865

**Fuller Charles A. 12/16/1890

Wolt Darold 2/12/1981 6/4/1944 7/5/1946

Wood George G 4/16/1949 10/29/1918 1/14/1919

Wood Emmett C. 8/25/1964 7/18/1918 1/11/1919

Woosnam Jane 11/25/1993 12/16/1943 1/3/1945

Worcester John Bigelow 12/4/1985 12/14/1942 10/23/1945

Wunderlich Lyle W. 8/1/2004 9/24/1942 3/11/1946



Wundrow Wilbert Len 5/6/2002 6/26/1944 7/28/1944

Wurm Emil C. 2/26/1996 4/25/1942 8/21/1945

Wutt Delmar A. 6/26/1980

Yaeger Harold G.C. 5/25/1994 12/28/1944 7/6/1947

Younger Frank B. 10/16/1943 8/23/1943 10/16/1943

Youtz Merrill A. Dr. 9/21/1964 9/18/1917 2/28/1919

Zeh Edward Jr. 7/21/1952

Zerbel Aaron 6/23/1950 04/28/1898 11/11/1898

Ziemer William F. 10/31/1986 9/4/1918 1/6/1919

Zilkse Charles H. 12/13/1945 9/18/1917 1/13/1919

Zilske William A 7/10/1963 11/21/1917 1/10/1919

Zimmerman Karel K. 8/30/1997 9/9/1942 6/19/1944

Zimmerman John D. 1/10/1922 10/03/1864 07/18/1865

Zschaechner Robt. H. 2/8/1989 1/5/1943 12/8/1945

Zuehlke Julius 3/4/1918 09/23/1864 01/03/1864

Zuehlke Wm. H. 2/1/1969 04/28/1898 10/18/1898

Zumach Irvin W. 1/7/1975 7/1/1918 12/12/1918

Zwack James Bertae 12/23/1995

Bedell John W 11/15/1907 01/08/1862 03/17/1863

**Brown Martin 5/19/1918 01/05/1862 08/28/1865

Driessen Leo A. 12/9/2004 2/22/1945 12/14/1946

McGuire Jr. Howard R. 9/25/2007

Ducklow William 6/23/1985

Jones Billie 11/25/2004

Ester Leland 4/13/2006

Wegenke George D. 4/26/2006 5/22/1942 11/12/1945

Ohler Richard E 4/16/2006

Bishop Arthur J. 8/21/1974 7/22/1918 2/20/1919

Brown William M. 7/15/1918

Weber Russell G. 1/28/1988 8/10/1953 8/9/1956

Noffke Harold L. 9/21/1986 10/10/1945 6/23/1947

Selingo Robert J. 10/7/1984 3/3/1943 12/22/1945

**Knapp Lonrig B. 01/01/1862 08/20/1861

Whirry Earl C. 2/8/1966 2/18/1918 5/27/1919

Schabo Earl W. 6/24/2006

Christensen Carlyen H. 6/3/2000 7/22/1942 11/2/1943

Bertrand Steven R. 7/14/2006 9/30/1971 8/8/1978

Wilbur Russell W. 10/15/2005 8/30/1951 8/20/1955

Holmes Wesley 10/18/1913 10/23/1861 06/14/1865

Dutton Arthur H. 9/21/2006 2/7/1943 11/1/1948

Waedel Fredrich 2/25/1914 08/14/1862 01/10/1865

Waugus Clyde W. 12/13/2006 10/15/1940 3/23/1946

Heiges Howard M. 1/2/2007

Estergaard Hjalmarnmn 7/23/1967

Hill Floyd A 2/6/1948 3/27/1944 1/8/1947

Johnson Amos A. 10/10/1927

Lillge Gordon O. 4/18/1970 2/22/1944 5/8/1946



Reick Clarence A. 8/7/1979 4/9/1941 1/7/1942

Ray David A. 2/15/2007 7/8/1952 1/14/1955

LaRocco John T. 12/11/1999 4/1/1943 2/26/1946

Zibolsky Bernhart C. 5/11/2007 9/29/1944 7/13/1946

Sabee Agnes 1/8/1979 5/25/1944 4/6/1945

Wiersema Jim A. 5/20/2007

Hoffmann Rudolph H 8/30/1975 5/14/1917 10/10/1919

Rahn Carl D. 5/29/2007

Armstrong Thomas M. 6/14/2005 8/31/1962 8/30/1965

Klahorst Jr. Edward A. 6/12/2007

Crowe Pat M. 3/12/2007 10/26/1965 10/31/1985

Neimuth Karl P. 7/25/2007 7/10/1958 7/9/1962

Kaphingst Louis J. 10/18/1983 6/15/1918 12/12/1918

LaBorde Eugene F. 7/18/2000 5/21/1942 12/20/1945

Reinke Clifford 1/14/1973 11/20/1942 11/18/1945

Dercks John L. 5/11/1987 3/3/1943 11/13/1945

Jahnke Floyd 5/15/1993

Lemke Fred 12/12/1905 12/18/1861 01/09/1865

Gibbs Charles 1/23/2014

Ehlert Elroy 7/19/2013

Pooler Larry 8/3/2014

Fischer Cyril J. 12/24/2004 9/10/1958 8/9/1961

**Puffer John I. 12/12/1864

Jones William H. 8/24/1915 03/08/1864 07/18/1865

Palmer Samuel 10/08/1863 09/07/1861 10/08/1863

Vanden Berg Elmer J. 1/27/2008

**Kemp Charles B. 5/13/1932 7/13/1901 7/15/1904

Gundlach Audrey R. 2/22/2008 5/24/1944 4/7/1950

Rydell Edward A. 4/14/2008

Peotter Gilbert E. 3/17/2008 7/28/1944 8/21/1946

Wakeland George 6/3/2008 8/27/1962 8/26/1964

Spychalla Leonard J. 6/7/2008 1/5/1944 5/18/1946

Mitchler Sr. Gerald Geo. 11/4/2007 10/23/1969 6/30/1972

Carnes F. Clark 6/25/2008 5/1/1943 1/19/1945

Herrmann Donald M. Sr. 1/17/2008

Maloney Francis D. 6/25/2008 1/9/1951 12/27/1954

Hough Shannon L. 7/5/2008 6/14/1994 6/24/2005

Dorschner Roger F. 11/12/2008 4/6/1955 4/5/1957

Recker David R. 12/2/2008 7/12/1965 4/30/1969

Meltz Lawrence L. 11/17/2008

Hrdlick Richard J. 1/20/2009

Weller John F. 4/3/2009

Lillge Melvin R. 6/2/2009

Stapel Carl A. 2/5/2009

Sannes Kenneth E. 5/25/2009

Strehmel John D. 6/30/2009 8/25/1954 8/24/1956

Quigg Jr. Edward C. 1/14/1999 3/8/1943 10/18/1945



Chavlovich Stephen 7/16/2009

Vanden Boogaard Elmer J. 10/2/2009

Dreyer Joseph 11/25/1917

Wagner Ellde I 12/8/2009

Gabert Stanley R. 2/1/2010

Clarke James A. 2/13/2010

Dorchester Daniel E. 3/19/2010

Sloane Henry C. 1/14/1915 03/18/1865 02/19/1866

Goldgar Bertrand A. 10/14/2009

Hansen Wayne F. 7/19/2010

Gasper Raymond 10/5/1987 1/30/1951 1/29/1954

Lange Eugene F. 8/19/2009

Holeton Joseph R. 8/30/2010

DeBruin Henry P. 10/14/2010

Hoppe Earl 10/27/2010

Dresang David L. 8/7/2006

Behl Gerald H. 4/29/2011 6/26/1944 7/5/1946

Clanton John 10/19/2011

Zarins Gunars 11/24/2011 1/1/1954 1/1/1956

Coakley Robert 12/7/2011

Copper David 12/21/2011

DuVall Jr. Kenneth K. 8/23/2011

Thatcher Stanley 6/4/2012

Tischer Kenneth W. 7/1/2011

Rusch Jr. Alvin 8/21/2012

Belling John 11/11/2012

Plainse Ross 1/17/2013 2/28/1944 4/22/1946

Meisenhelder Daniel 4/3/2013

Isenberg William

Bodway Norbert M. 4/20/2013

Lichterman Lynn 8/25/2013

Schmelzling Hans 10/11/2013

Nielsen Arthur 10/27/2013

Taubel Raymond 10/27/2013

Harn Mark 1/18/2014

Kallio Robert W. 2/14/2014

Voigt Steven 8/26/2014

Waters Emery 11/9/2014

Filen James 12/22/2014

Huven James 12/27/2014

Newhouse Eugene 3/11/2015

Graham Michael 3/27/2015

Asmus John R 7/13/1994 12/30/1942 12/11/1945

Bauer Billy A. 4/1/1993

Belling Richard E. 11/6/1997 2/25/1942 1/27/1945

Calahan John F. 1/17/1999 12/17/1943 5/3/1946

Calto George Wm. 6/5/2002 5/29/1943 3/3/1946



Ernst Alvina D. 5/15/1992

Hammond Benjamin D 7/23/1996 11/24/1982 7/22/1996

Hammond James Gordong 3/7/1991

Heeter Charles 1/2/1997 6/29/1942 11/7/1945

Horn Henry H. Jr. 4/3/2002 11/10/1941 10/21/1945

Immel Norman W. 7/24/2001 7/18/1952 7/16/1954

Noffke Roy O. 3/21/1999 9/9/1942 9/30/1945

Onkels Melvin K. 10/30/2000

Powell Duane L. 5/31/2005 7/21/1965 7/20/1967

Reifsnyder S. Boyd 8/4/1996

Ryan Francis D. 1/10/2000

Stein John D. 9/29/1998

Tesch Lester E. 9/30/1998

Timm Jane A. 10/16/2002

Wiedemann Daniel 6/15/1994 6/8/1961 5/25/1965

Wilfer Michael J. 2/28/2004 7/1/1969 5/4/1973

Wilson James A. 4/27/2000

Yach Jerome S. 5/22/1996 4/18/1941 4/24/1943

Azzi Frank 6/10/2007

Annen Sr. Harold W. 12/5/2007

Springer Kenneth W. 12/17/2001 6/20/1946 4/16/1948

Melzer Willilam G. 10/13/2008

Field Walter F. 9/2/2009 6/1/1953 6/1/1955

Kuebler John I 11/3/2009

Timm Jr. Marvin W. 5/2/2010

Ernst Delbert 6/25/2010

Dyer John D. 11/25/2010

Sheldon Willard R. 4/14/2011

Vail John 9/26/2011

Britton Gene E. 11/10/2011

Decleene Bernard J. 3/27/2012

Mitala Joseph 5/18/2012

Bruss Llyod 1/29/2010

Wolff Delbert 1/28/2013 10/23/1942 11/1/1945

Mach Robert L. 3/30/2013

Staedt Thomas 12/9/2011

Timm Sr. Marvin 9/4/2013

Haas Louis A. 7/10/2014

Alsbury Charles R. 9/22/2014

Janssen James 1/5/2015

Wingert Eugene 1/1/2015

Stephan John J. 9/14/2017

Lee O. Richard 9/2/2017

O'Brien George, Jr. 6/6/2018 5/11/1945

Bourassa Michael J. 7/16/2020

Blom Dennis P. 8/13/2020

LaCount Bruce 8/10/2020



Heil Stephen J. 3/12/2020

Bennett Michael J. 6/25/2018

Skeens Sharon 8/29/2020

Prentice Eldon Nathaniel (Jr.) 9/2/2020

Sparks Dan 9/4/2020

Sell David A. 4/16/2020

Streufert Gerhardt F. 8/8/1985 8/31/1944 7/9/1946

Plank David 9/30/2020

Kuusisto Ronald, Sr. 8/27/2016

Dahms Michael C. 10/22/2020

Ogilvie Andrew 11/8/1918 7/22/1918 11/8/1918

Carr Charles "Chuck" 1/30/2013

Hebbring William A. 11/19/1949

Chapman Clyde K. (Jr.) 12/12/2020

Boughton Robert 2/7/2021

Wrege Marvin 2/22/2021

Bullock Alonzo 1/14/1913 08/08/1862 06/23/1865

Lewis Valerie M. 4/11/2020

McGrath Morris D. 12/27/1887 12/30/1861 02/22/1864

Taylor Kenneth D. 5/2/2021

Humphrey John 9/19/1901

Boldt Oscar C. 6/9/2020

Ossian William Franklin "Frank" 8/24/2018

Xiong Neng 12/11/2020

Schafelke Gerald "Jerry" B. 1/19/2021 7/30/1953 7/29/1955

Boyden Edward 5/28/2021 11/20/1950

Walker Thomas L. 5/28/2017

Yingling Francis H. 2/12/2002

Bittorf Fred 11/6/2016

Krause Theodore R. 8/30/2021

Pomplun Harold C. 6/27/2021 10/15/1961 8/10/1962

Conkey Julian H. 7/7/2021

Bitter William E. 8/6/2020

Henschel Rodney A. 7/29/2021

Wofford Noble A. 8/9/2021

Zempurs Indulis G. 2/19/2021

Costello Philip A. 5/24/2010

Kenney Dr. Robert A. 9/11/2020

Bishop Douglas S. 9/9/2021

Mentzel Thomas E. 8/10/2021

Schultz Theodore B. 2/26/1963

Haroski John 11/18/2003

Hermanson Matthew D. 4/28/2011

Hurley Terrance H. 9/21/2021 3/15/1965 3/17/1967

Stierman Paul T. 1/24/2008 2/19/1970 9/24/1971

Stratton Dale 2/24/2013

Rouman John 2/16/2013



Kent David 11/1/2021

Mentzel Donald "Don" D. 11/11/2021

Lauer James R. 12/28/2021

Salentine Edward A. 9/9/2021

Whitman Lyle E. 11/12/2021

Gostas Michael 1/15/2022 3/2/1964 3/1/1966

Nichols William R. 1/11/2022

McCarthy Leo A 1/20/2022

Reff Charles R. 3/3/2022 5/31/1963 3/6/1966

**Everts A. B. 10/25/1873

Fraser William 06/28/1861 08/14/1862

Gallagher Frank 11/14/1898 11/21/1863 07/17/1891

Gehring Gottlieb 4/26/1902 09/03/1864 06/20/1865

Gilson Samuel H. 04/17/1881 10/09/1861 07/05/1862

Green William 06/30/1894 09/03/1861 11/03/1864

Grube Fred Inf. 05/25/1889

Gurnee W.T. 07/20/1898 08/25/1862 08/29/1865

Hayden Dr. Franklin L. 07/17/1895 01/15/1864 09/04/1865

Heckert Herman Sr 1/4/1923 10/04/1864 08/09/1865

Huckins George

Hyde Capt. Welcome 11/2/1902 02/28/1862 05/21/1862

Johnston George C. 6/23/1906

Kearn John 6/8/1933 6/8/1933

**Kesting Charles 01/01/1898 02/24/1865 10/31/1865

Acker Ralph L. 4/10/2022

McComber Dennis G. 10/16/2020

Babcock Tyrone 9/6/2021

Fietzer Douglas E. 6/11/2021

Lundgren Richard 1/15/1992

Bravick, MD Donald D. 12/13/2021

Miller Carlton H. 9/28/2003

Tock Edward 2/14/2014

Johnson Dennis Clark 6/1/2022

Fyfe Donald M. 11/7/2021

Jurgensen Leonard R. 8/4/1979 6/27/1944 6/1/1946

Watry Robert P. 7/31/2020

Slomski Alvin T. 8/19/2001 9/23/1940 8/18/1945

Hayford Donald 5/15/2017

Hert William "Bill" K. 4/12/2022

Sanchez Arturo 7/12/2013

Derks Jerome R 4/8/1999

Jones Mark L. 6/24/2021

Thiel Robert Bruce 11/10/1990 9/26/1966 9/18/1969

Heiden Dean Merle 1/24/2023

Flaherty Kevin P 3/23/2023

Drootsan Thomas 12/28/2022 9/1/1955 8/31/1959

Consolo Thomas P 3/4/2023 12/5/1961 12/4/1963



Consolo Suzanne M 3/15/2019 12/27/1961 8/13/1963

Mentzel Richard 2/7/2023 8/15/1952 8/14/1954

Wendt Wilburn E. 3/23/2007

Brophy James R. 10/22/2006

Glass John J. 12/9/2006 12/3/1952 12/2/1954

Chapman Charles D. 5/7/2007 9/3/1942 11/3/1945

Speilmann Siegried 9/15/2009

Porter James E. 7/3/2010

Krentz Jr. Joseph M 3/22/2021

Schleitwiler Frank J. 10/6/2016

Kirchner Robert D. 9/1/2021

Walbrun David J. 7/21/2012 3/17/1958 3/14/1960

Meacham G. Richard 7/14/2022

Scheinpflug John 9/23/2021 10/28/1974

Purdy Thomas Lee 7/27/2022

Marston III Joseph H. 8/15/2021

Slomski Patrick A. 10/3/2012

Dorn David L 6/14/2022

Lemke Richard W. 10/3/2022

Young James 10/9/2022

Strobel Alex 9/5/2022

Boettcher Richard 12/1/2021

Lamers Denny 10/29/2022

Dodd Brooks 1/10/2023



Branch Rank War Space ID

United States Army sp4 (E-4) (T) Unknown 21_22_X_1

United States Air Force A1C Unknown U_2_X_17

United States Army SP 3 (T) Unknown COL GAR_300_6_P

United States Army Unknown F_50_X_6

United States Air Force Master Sergeant Unknown S_28_X_8

United States Army SP4 E4 (T) Unknown COL GAR_300_5_L

United States Marine Corps Unknown 32_32_X_4

United States Army Unknown S_64_X_5

United States Army Unknown 16_49_X_6

United States Army Civil War M_72_X_13

United States Army Spanish American War 6_14_W_4

United States Navy Unknown 3_5_X_11

United States Army Unknown 4_13_X_5

United States Army Unknown 32_8_X_9

United States Army Unknown L_76_X_8

United States Army Unknown T_39 & 40_X_14

United States Army World War II 29_33_X_5

United States Army World War II M_56_X_5

United States Army VietNam War L_74_X_12

United States Army Unknown F_66_S_6

United States Navy World War II P_8_X_21

Unknown 25_41_S_6

United States Navy World War II K_124_S_2

United States Army World War II M_46_X_97

United States Air Force World War II H_33_S_5

United States Army Officer World War II 6_64_N_4

United States Army Unknown M_57_X_143

United States Army World War I 25_6_N_5

United States Army World War II 23_35_S_3

United States Navy World War II M_56_X_7

Unknown 19_3_E_6

United States Army Spanish American War 1_11_X_4

Peace Time O_72_X_7

United States Army Civil War E_70_X_7

United States Marine Corps Unknown 6_32_X_6

United States Army World War I 23_43_X_5

United States Army World War II 9_16_X_9

United States Army World War II L_21_S_2

Unknown D_54_E_11

United States Army World War II V_28_X_7

United States Navy World War II 4_37_X_10

United States Army Civil War N_40_W_1

United States Navy World War I E_48_S_5

United States Army World War II O_94_X_5

United States Army World War I 26_7_X_6



United States Army World War II 14_13_X_3

United States Army World War II M_46_X_49

United States Army World War I 17_37_N_1

United States Army World War II 22_59_X_7

United States Army World War II 17_71_X_10

United States Army World War I 9_52_X_5

United States Navy World War II V_31_X_1

United States Army 1st. LT. Civil War G_67_X_1

United States Marine Corps World War II 4_2_X_6

United States Army Unknown 1_11_X_5

United States Marine Corps Korean War M_76_X_12

United States Air Force Capt. World War II 22_75_N_3

United States Army Civil War 17_102_X_2

United States Army Civil War 12_33_X_4

United States Army World War II S_65_X_3

United States Army Civil War T_39 & 40_X_19

United States Navy World War II 3_2_X_12

United States Army World War I 16_50_X_4

United States Marine Corps VietNam War M_78_X_81

United States Marine Corps World War I P_35_X_10

United States Army World War II 33_18_X_1

Unknown 33_18_X_1

United States Army Korean War 3_15_S_3

Unknown 10_23_E_1

United States Navy Peace Time G_66_X_10

United States Navy World War II 4_20_X_5

United States Army World War I 14_84_X_9

United States Army Spanish American War 17_48_X_7

United States Army Peace Time 3_36_X_6

United States Army World War II 26_6_X_4

United States Army World War II 26_6_X_6

United States Army Civil War M_79_X_25

United States Army Korean War O_99_N_4

United States Army World War II 32_22_X_1

United States Army Spanish American War 12_67_X_7

United States Navy Unknown 25_18_N_6

United States Army World War II D_1_X_27

United States Army Peace Time M_64_X_69

United States Army Civil War D_83_X_4

United States Army Civil War K_93_X_4

United States Army World War II M_54_X_94

World War II 23_35_S_7

United States Army World War II and Korean WarM_56_X_8

United States Air Force Korean War 27_32_X_4

United States Air Force Unknown 12_69_X_5

Unknown O_62_X_2

United States Army Civil War O_55_X_1



United States Army World War I 27_49_X_10

United States Army World War I D_38_X_6

United States Army World War I S_13_E_1

United States Army World War II L_73_N_5

United States Navy World War II 15_22_X_11

United States Navy World War II 19_36_X_8

United States Army Civil War K_65_X_3

United States Navy World War II 6_36_S_4

United States Army World War I 26_10_S_3

United States Army World War I S_21_X_4

United States Army Civil War 7_29_S_1

United States Army World War I 5_81_E_1

United States Army World War II V_33_X_10

US Army and Air Force World War II 17_11_N_3

United States Army World War II 7_13_X_1

United States Air Force World War II G_26_N_4

World War I G_26_N_2

United States Army World War I G_26_N_1

United States Air Force World War II O_73_S_3

United States Army Civil War 16_38_X_11

United States Army World War II 29_9_N_4

United States Army Pvt. Civil War M_80_X_20

United States Army Civil War 12_53_X_2

United States Army World War II U_3_X_9

United States Army World War I N_25_X_3

United States Coast Guard Korean War 3_10_X_6

United States Army T/SGT World War II 16_2_X_8

United States Army Civil War D_81_X_5

United States Army World War I 10_33_X_5

United States Army World War I 22_47_X_3

Civil War N_95_X_6

United States Marine Corps World War II 2_42_X_9

United States Army World War II T_58A_X_1

United States Army Civil War T_20_X_2

United States Navy World War I 19_27_W_1

Unknown E_7_X_6

United States Army World War II E_7_X_12

United States Army World War II P_15_X_10

United States Army Civil War O_75_X_2

United States Navy VietNam War 17_62_S_6

United States Army World War II 19_5_W_5

United States Army Civil War U_10_X_11

United States Army World War II 17_61_X_4

United States Army World War II 27_30_X_6

United States Army Pvt Civil War G_89_X_3

United States Army World War II and Korean War6_62_X_6

United States Army World War II N_94_E_3



United States Army Peace Time 33_46_X_10

United States Army CPL World War I 26_43_X_7

United States Army World War II 11_41_N_6

United States Army World War II 22_48_X_11

United States Army World War II M_78_X_29

United States Navy World War II 2_6_X_10

World War II 29_20_X_12

United States Navy World War II 33_25_X_6

United States Navy World War II I_31_X_3

United States Army World War I 1_12_X_8

Unknown 29_35_S_4

United States Army World War II 28_13_X_12

United States Army World War II 28_13_X_6

United States Navy World War II and Korean War3_14_S_2

United States Army World War II 3_14_S_3

Unknown O_67_X_4

Unknown D_4_X_5

United States Army Spanish American War N_87_W_4

United States Army Civil War O_2_X_3

United States Army World War II and Korean War16_24_S_6

United States Army World War I M_70_X_35

United States Army Civil War M_62_X_40

United States Army Civil War F_34_X_5

United States Army World War II S_7_X_9

United States Army Civil War N_94_W_2

United States Army World War II 26_42_X_7

United States Army World War I 12_15_X_6

United States Army World War II M_48_X_63

United States Army World War II 4_41_X_4

United States Army World War II 6_47_X_3

United States Air Force Unknown 23_50_X_5

United States Air Force Korean War M_70_X_88

United States Army VietNam War L_29_N_7

United States Army Civil War D_94_X_2

United States Navy World War I 33_43_S_4

United States Army Korean War D_81_X_9

United States Army World War II and Korean War23_51_X_4

United States Army Korean War 3_7_X_5

United States Army Civil War F_11_X_6

United States Army World War II 32_15_X_1

United States Army World War II P_32_X_11

United States Army Civil War E_29_X_2

World War II S_16_X_1

United States Navy World War II 3_22_X_1

United States Air Force VietNam War 22_48_X_3A

World War II 25_38_S_4

United States Army Civil War O_36_X_6



United States Navy World War I 11_35_X_6

United States Air Force Peace Time 28_16_N_8

United States Army Peace Time T_35_X_11

United States Army Civil War N_57_W_1

United States Army World War I 6_41_SE_4

World War II 17_32_X_14

United States Army World War II 6_20_N_2

United States Army World War I 34_4_S_6

World War II 25_1_N_6

World War II 7_25_E_6

World War II R_27_X_12

United States Army World War II 19_40_S_16

United States Army World War II 3_37_X_5

World War II 29_10_N_6

United States Air Force World War II O_67_X_7

United States Army Civil War D_1_X_13

United States Army World War II 29_49_X_8

United States Army Civil War D_30_X_2

United States Army Civil War G_47_X_1

United States Army Spanish American War G_47_X_6

United States Army World War I 17_76_X_8

United States Army Korean War 26_33_X_11

United States Army World War I 10_66_W_6

United States Army World War I 28_28_S_3

United States Army Peace Time S_53_X_13

United States Army Civil War 17_27_S_1

United States Navy World War I 29_60_X_3

United States Army World War II 25_8_X_3

United States Army VietNam War P_60_X_7

United States Navy World War I 11_47_X_6

United States Army World War II 6_65_N_2

United States Navy World War II K_7_X_5

United States Army Civil War R_14_X_1

United States Navy World War II 22_56_N_4

United States Army World War II L_51_X_6

Unknown R_44_X_10

United States Air Force Unknown 27_32_X_8

United States Army World War I O_79_X_1

United States Army Pvt Civil War M_64_X_12

United States Navy World War I 16_17_X_3

United States Army World War I 9_9_E_1

United States Navy World War II M_46_X_99

United States Army Pvt Civil War M_79_X_28

United States Army World War I U_32_X_4

United States Army World War II 33_50_X_1

United States Army World War II 5_65_W_2

United States Army Spanish American War 11_9_N_3



United States Army Civil War 10_37_X_1A

United States Army World War I 25_33_X_10

United States Army VietNam War 19_36_X_4

Korean War and VietNam WarG_49_N_5

United States Army Civil War M_79_X_23

United States Army World War I 14_10_X_4

United States Army World War II 18_2_S_5

United States Army World War I 23_23_S_3

United States Army Civil War O_16_S_2

United States Air Force Peace Time M_62_X_92

United States Army Civil War E_47_X_5

United States Army Civil War E_47_X_9

United States Army Spanish American War 11_41_N_5

United States Army Spanish American War 11_41_N_7

United States Army Peace Time L_8_X_7

United States Army Cpl. World War II 32_27_X_2

United States Army Korean War 22_35_X_11

United States Army VietNam War S_48_X_7

United States Army World War I 14_51_X_5

United States Army World War II 7_26_X_5

United States Army World War I P_2_X_11

United States Army World War II G_44_N_3

United States Army Spanish American War L_47_X_4

United States Air Force VietNam War 19_40_S_11

United States Marine Corps Korean War 19_2_E_6

United States Army World War II 19_2_E_4

United States Air Force World War II 1_29_E_10

United States Army World War I M_70_X_37

United States Army World War I 22_21_X_7

United States Army World War I 22_36_X_9

United States Army World War II 11_21_X_10

United States Army World War I K_86_X_2

United States Army Peace Time 24_31_X_1

United States Army World War II G_80_X_11

United States Army Spanish American War R_8_X_1

United States Army World War II 15_33_X_8

United States Army Pvt Civil War M_64_X_9

United States Navy World War II 28_13_X_7

United States Army World War II L_12_X_7

United States Army VietNam War M_47_X_51

United States Army World War I 6_49_S_1

United States Army World War I R_34_X_9

United States Army World War II 6_61_S_2

United States Army World War II D_1_X_41

World War II 23_31_S_6

United States Army World War II and Korean War18_12_X_5

United States Army World War I 33_20_X_4



United States Army World War I 22_20_X_1

United States Air Force World War II 22_84_X_3

United States Army World War II M_48_X_61

United States Army World War I 27_10_X_1

United States Air Force Peace Time 22_41_X_3

United States Army Civil War M_46_X_48

United States Navy World War II R_36_X_12

United States Army Unknown K_72_X_4

United States Army World War I 6_61_N_2

United States Army World War I 12_15_X_9

United States Army World War II D_71_X_13

United States Navy World War II 29_42_SW_5

United States Army World War I 23_23_S_1

United States Navy World War II T_39 & 40_X_13

United States Army World War I C_41_X_7A

United States Army World War II and Korean War33_50_X_3

United States Army World War I N_63_X_7

United States Army Civil War 17_56_S_1

United States Army PVT. World War II 11_20_W_4

United States Army Civil War G_71_X_5

United States Army World War I 19_6_SE_3

United States Army World War II 7_2_N_10

United States Army World War I 23_49_E_5

United States Army World War I 17_58_S_6

United States Coast Guard World War II 15_32_X_4

United States Army World War II M_47_X_54

United States Army World War II P_8_X_23

World War I G_83_X_5

United States Army World War II 22_45_X_1

United States Army World War I R_30_W_6

United States Army World War II 4_2_X_1

United States Army World War I 11_4_X_1

United States Navy World War II 23_27_S_4

United States Army World War I 8_3_X_10

United States Army Civil War R_12_X_4

United States Army World War II O_45_X_8

United States Navy World War II 17_26_X_5

United States Army World War II 25_9_X_9

United States Army World War I 14_83_X_9

United States Army World War I I_9_W_3

United States Army World War I N_55_X_12

United States Army Civil War G_54_X_3

United States Army World War I L_54_X_1

United States Army World War I 23_32_X_10

United States Army World War I 14_49_E_1

United States Navy Spanish American War P_2_X_7

United States Army Spanish American War M_36_S_5



United States Marine Corps Korean War D_4_X_8

United States Army Civil War 9_12_X_2

United States Navy Peace Time 4_41_X_15

United States Army World War II 22_40_X_5

United States Army World War I 14_24_X_1

United States Army World War I 26_12_N_3

United States Navy World War II P_45_X_1

United States Army Civil War 19_28_E_2

United States Army World War I 11_33_SE_1

United States Navy World War II H_25_W_3

United States Army World War I 18_5_N_4

United States Army Korean War 29_18_X_8

United States Army World War I 14_56_W_3

United States Army Korean War O_87_E_5

United States Navy World War I 33_48_X_1

United States Army Korean War 12_70_E_3

United States Army World War II 17_43_S_4

United States Army World War II and Korean WarM_78_X_83

United States Coast Guard World War II 34_5_S_4

United States Marine Corps Korean War L_29_N_8

United States Army World War II 25_15_N_6

United States Army World War II 33_10_X_8

United States Army Peace Time 22_59_X_12

United States Army World War II 3_1_X_6

United States Army World War II 22_86_S_1

United States Navy World War II 3_26_N_6

United States Navy World War I 6_56_X_3

United States Army World War I 29_65_W_1

United States Army Unknown G_2-4-5_X_1

United States Army World War II 29_24_X_10

United States Army VietNam War 19_47_X_5

United States Army Unknown K_39_X_1B

United States Army Civil War 12_63_X_3

United States Air Force World War II and Korean WarM_64_X_70

United States Army World War II 18_20_S_4

Unknown 17_74_W_3

United States Army World War II 33_11_E_3

United States Army World War II 17_2_S_9

United States Army Civil War O_43_S_1

United States Navy World War I P_63_N_1

Unknown S_65_X_5

United States Army World War II 27_35_N_3

United States Army World War II M_80_X_77

United States Army Civil War F_56_X_1

United States Army Civil War N_41_W_3

United States Navy World War I 29_23_S_6

United States Army World War I 23_5_X_9



United States Army World War II M_48_X_59

United States Army World War I L_33_N_1

United States Army World War I 26_19_S_3

United States Army World War II 14_6_E_3

United States Army World War I 14_6_E_4

World War II 28_27_S_2

Unknown 29_40_X_1

United States Navy World War I 18_46_N_6

United States Army Korean War 6_4_X_8

United States Army Spanish American War 11_30_X_7

United States Army World War I 17_24_S_3

United States Army World War I 10_26_W_4

United States Army World War I 23_20_S_4

United States Marine Corps World War II M_2_N_7

United States Navy World War II 23_21_X_12

United States Army World War I 17_17_X_12

United States Army World War II P_52_X_6

United States Army World War I 4_31_X_1

United States Army World War I 10_42_X_1

Unknown M_45_X_4

United States Army PVT Civil War M_47_X_53

United States Air Force Korean War 3_13_X_2

United States Army World War I E_29_X_5

United States Army World War I 18_38_S_4

United States Marine Corps Peace Time 3_3_X_4

United States Army World War I 4_7_S_1

United States Army Civil War M_56_X_6

United States Army World War I 28_25_X_1

United States Navy World War II D_46A_X_1

United States Army World War I 34_2_X_3

United States Army Civil War D_74_X_5

United States Army World War II I_16_X_11

United States Army World War I 15_31_X_3

United States Army World War II M_79_X_27

United States Army Civil War T_64_X_6

United States Army Peace Time 25_6_N_4

United States Army VietNam War M_66_X_12

United States Navy World War I and World War IIP_5_X_17

United States Army Civil War I_33_W_3

United States Army World War II 33_53_X_3

United States Army World War II D_27_X_14

United States Air Force Korean War 2_23_X_3

United States Army Civil War D_36_E_1

United States Army World War II 9_29_X_5

United States Army Civil War F_36_X_5

United States Army PVT World War I N_72_X_4

United States Navy World War II 7_5_X_12



United States Army World War I N_8_X_9

Unknown P_18_X_7

United States Army World War I 16_35_S_10

United States Army World War I 19_39_N_3

United States Army World War I O_34_X_6

United States Army World War I O_34_X_4

United States Air Force Korean War K_75_X_2

United States Army World War I K_75_X_5

United States Army Civil War 1_12_X_5

World War I 27_48_X_3

United States Navy QM12/C World War I and World War II26_2_X_3

United States Army World War II M_78_X_32

United States Navy FIREMN2C World War I 19_24_W_2

World War II 34_8_N_3

United States Coast Guard Peace Time M_44_X_1

United States Navy World War II 29_66_X_8

United States Army Peace Time M_68_X_9

United States Army World War II M_70_X_34

United States Army World War II M_78_X_31

United States Army Civil War 9_2_X_1

United States Army Civil War E_15_X_1

United States Army Civil War 14_5_X_2

United States Army Peace Time 23_31_N_5

United States Army World War I 23_31_N_1

United States Marine Corps World War I S_61_X_11

United States Army World War II 6_1_X_5

Unknown 6_1_X_1

United States Air Force World War II 17_1_X_7

United States Army World War II 29_63_X_8

United States Army Civil War N_24_X_1

United States Army World War I 28_28_S_5

United States Marine Corps World War II 25_11_X_11

United States Army World War II 26_17_X_8

Unknown 27_18_X_12

United States Army Civil War F_39_X_2

United States Army World War I 2_32_X_4

United States Army World War I 16_36_X_1

United States Army World War II P_44_X_5

United States Army Civil War D_53_X_2

United States Army World War II R_31_X_8

United States Army World War II 15_12_S_3

United States Army World War II T_56_X_6

United States Army World War II L_76_X_2

United States Navy World War I L_76_X_9

United States Army Civil War N_76_W_2

United States Army Spanish American War E_35_X_3

United States Navy Korean War P_40_X_6



United States Army World War I 22_21_X_3

United States Marine Corps World War II T_57_X_1

United States Navy World War I 25_5_S_3

United States Navy World War II 29_13_X_12

United States Army Civil War 26_3_N_1

United States Army Korean War E_14_S_2

United States Navy World War II 14_28_X_10

United States Air Force World War II 33_53_X_2

Unknown O_88_X_3

United States Army World War I 22_20_X_7

United States Marine Corps World War II M_48_X_62

United States Army World War II 4_39_X_16

United States Navy World War I C_44.5_X_1

United States Navy World War I and World War IIL_16_X_3

United States Air Force Korean War 19_44_X_5

United States Army World War II 18_34_N_4

United States Marine Corps Peace Time 19_44_X_4

United States Army World War II 12_28_X_4

United States Army World War I 27_37_X_4

United States Marine Corps World War II V_41_X_4

United States Air Force VietNam War M_62_X_89

United States Army Civil War T_33_X_2

United States Marine Corps World War II L_74_X_2

United States Navy VietNam War 23_36_W_11

United States Army Peace Time 33_52_N_14

United States Navy World War II 32_18_N_4

United States Army World War I 10_5_W_4

United States Army Peace Time V_24_X_11

United States Army World War I 14_78_E_3

United States Army World War II 7_25_W_4

United States Marine Corps World War I 16_53_S_7

United States Army SGT Civil War K_94_S_8

United States Navy World War II and Korean War18_4_N_3

United States Army PVT World War I 22_36_X_1

United States Army World War I P_3_X_1

United States Army World War II 15_10_X_5

United States Navy World War II 33_14_X_8

United States Navy Korean War S_9_X_7

Unknown S_61_X_7

United States Army Korean War E_61_N_8

United States Army Spanish American War M_54_X_43

United States Air Force World War II P_32_X_10

United States Army World War I 28_17_X_1

United States Army Civil War 1_22_X_1

United States Army World War I 22_86_N_1

United States Army World War I D_69_X_C

United States Army World War I D_69_X_A



United States Army World War II D_69_X_D

United States Army Civil War I_45_X_9

United States Army Civil War M_48_X_1

United States Army World War II 23_39_X_6

World War II 27_50_X_9

United States Army World War I T_55_X_3

United States Army World War I P_8_X_19

United States Army Spanish American War R_7_E_1

United States Army World War I 9_43_X_3

United States Army World War I 9_24_X_9

United States Marine Corps World War II 14_79_X_2

United States Army World War I 14_53_E_6

United States Army World War I O_68_W_6

United States Army World War I 34_17_X_5

United States Army Peace Time D_81_X_11

United States Army World War II M_76_X_8

United States Army World War II T_39 & 40_X_20

United States Army World War II V_35_W_2

United States Army World War I 11_19_X_3

United States Army World War I P_3_X_3

United States Army World War I 22_21_X_1

United States Navy World War II L_11_X_5

United States Army VietNam War F_55_X_14

United States Army World War I 14_45_X_12

United States Army World War I 7_10_X_2

United States Navy World War II 27_31_X_1

United States Army World War I C_39_X_4

United States Army World War I 32_4_X_1

United States Army World War I 4_40_S_5

United States Army Civil War E_31_X_1

United States Army Spanish American War E_31_X_3

United States Army Peace Time L_53_N_1

United States Army Civil War 14_66_X_1

United States Army World War II 14_41_E_4

United States Army World War I 16_24_N_1

United States Army Civil War 1_20_W_4

United States Army Civil War 1_20_W_1

United States Army World War II P_54_X_1

United States Navy Peace Time 2_38_X_8

United States Army World War II K_20_X_3

United States Army Civil War M_77_N_3

United States Army World War I 33_49_N_8

United States Army World War II P_58_S_4

United States Army World War II 4_39_X_1

United States Army Civil War C_16_X_10

United States Army Civil War 8_5_X_2

United States Navy World War II 11_2_X_8



United States Army Civil War T_53_X_1

United States Army World War I 7_16_X_5

United States Army Civil War 1_13_X_1

United States Army World War I 25_13_S_1

United States Army World War I 9_72_X_10

United States Army Civil War C_26_X_2

United States Army World War II 25_10_X_13

United States Army World War I P_5_X_15

United States Army World War II 16_6_X_5

United States Army World War II 25_2_X_7

United States Army World War II 16_4_X_3

Unknown 34_26_S_8

United States Navy World War II 33_26_X_3

United States Navy World War I 16_37_X_3

United States Army World War II R_34_X_11

United States Army World War II R_34_X_12

United States Army World War II S_8_X_7

United States Army Pvt. Civil War M_79_X_22

United States Army Civil War 10_58_X_1

United States Army Civil War O_41_X_3

United States Army World War I G_92_S_5

United States Army World War II 2_33_X_1

United States Army Civil War 12_41_X_4

United States Army World War II N_81_X_5

United States Air Force Korean War O_55_X_5

United States Navy World War II R_39_W_17

United States Army SGT World War I 15_8_X_3

United States Army World War I 23_32_X_3

World War I S_26_X_11

United States Army World War II 32_24_X_6

United States Army World War II 22_34_X_9

Unknown S_62_X_6

United States Navy World War II 15_16_X_7

United States Army World War I I_3_S_1

United States Navy Korean War M_72_X_74

United States Army VietNam War M_78_X_109

United States Army Unknown E_17_X_6

United States Army CPL Civil War E_17_X_3

United States Army World War I 16_44_X_3

United States Army World War II L_30_X_5

United States Army World War II L_30_X_12

United States Army World War I N_64_W_3

United States Navy World War II O_57_X_4

United States Air Force World War II and Korean War19_1_E_12

Unknown F_73_X_3

United States Navy World War I 18_17_X_9

United States Army World War I 17_4_N_6



United States Army World War I 17_21_X_12

United States Marine Corps VietNam War 16_3_X_5

United States Army VietNam War 27_37_X_10

United States Army Civil War M_64_X_10

United States Army World War II 8_12_E_10

United States Army Civil War 17_70_W_1

United States Navy World War II 6_15_E_4

United States Navy World War II P_39_X_10

United States Army World War I M_54_X_42

United States Army World War II P_58_N_6

United States Army World War I T_44_X_8

United States Army Peace Time M_79_X_26

United States Air Force Unknown S_8_X_12

United States Army Civil War I_13_W_3

United States Army World War I R_28_X_10

United States Army World War I 15_24_S_3

United States Army World War II 25_45_S_3

United States Navy World War I S_41_E_1

United States Army World War I 27_37_X_7

Unknown 22_73_S_5

United States Army World War I 25_28_S_1

United States Army World War I 33_42_X_1

Unknown N_93_E_1

United States Army World War I 2_35_E_3

United States Army Spanish American War 25_15_S_1

United States Army World War II R_28_X_15

United States Army Civil War R_5_W_2

United States Army World War I G_86_X_8

United States Army World War I 12_34_X_8

United States Marine Corps World War II 22_65_S_4

United States Army Spanish American War 17_47_X_1

United States Army World War II V_7_X_5

United States Army Korean War and VietNam WarP_8_X_24

United States Army Civil War N_35_W_1

United States Army World War I 9_24_X_10

United States Army World War II L_70_X_1

United States Army World War I H_17_X_13

United States Army Civil War 14_30_W_2

United States Army Unknown K_45_N_3

United States Army Civil War R_4_W_3A

United States Army Civil War 6_43_N_1

United States Army Civil War K_95_X_2

United States Army World War I N_35_E_5

United States Navy World War I 26_11_X_10

United States Army Civil War T_31_X_4

United States Army World War II 22_57_N_1

United States Army World War II 6_61_N_4



United States Navy World War I O_89_X_6

United States Army World War I P_53_S_6

United States Army World War II D_46_X_4

United States Army Korean War M_67_X_3

United States Army World War II 10_63_E_6

United States Army Korean War 22_31_X_12

United States Navy VietNam War P_36_X_12

United States Army Civil War D_1_X_11

United States Army Civil War L_20_S_1

United States Coast Guard World War II S_7_X_1

United States Army World War II M_54_X_95

United States Army Civil War F_22_X_4

United States Army Korean War U_3_X_13

United States Army World War II 27_44_X_11

United States Army World War II U_13_X_2

United States Army Civil War T_38_X_6

Unknown E_49_X_5

United States Army Civil War D_52_X_3

United States Navy World War II M_47_X_50

United States Army World War II P_21_X_1

United States Army S/STG World War II 22_49_X_10

United States Army Civil War 26_40_S_1

United States Army World War I 29_18_X_4

United States Navy Unknown K_80_X_7

United States Army World War I 29_18_X_1

United States Army World War II 27_33_X_4

United States Army Civil War T_52_X_2

United States Army World War I 22_47_X_6

United States Army World War II 16_39_N_1

United States Army Civil War K_84_X_2

United States Army Korean War 15_20_X_5

United States Army Spanish American War D_59_X_4

United States Army Civil War 14_20_E_4

United States Army World War I 14_20_E_8

United States Army Korean War P_35_X_8

United States Army World War II 18_4_S_4

United States Army Civil War E_1_X_8

United States Army World War II 12_43_X_5

United States Army Civil War U_36_X_1

United States Navy Korean War 9_53_SW_4

United States Navy VietNam War 33_21_X_4

United States Navy World War I 29_61_X_4

United States Army PVT World War I 15_16_X_2

United States Army World War II 11_26_S_6

United States Army Korean War H_12_X_3

United States Army Civil War N_41_E_1

United States Army Civil War F_63_E_8



United States Army Unknown 28_12_X_2

United States Coast Guard World War II 22_45_X_12

United States Air Force Captain World War II 25_32_N_4

United States Marine Corps Korean War K_9_X_3

United States Army World War II 22_53_X_4

United States Army World War II H_33_N_3

United States Navy Peace Time V_34_X_4

United States Air Force VietNam War 3_40_N_1

United States Army Civil War D_31_X_9

United States Army World War I N_75_W_5

United States Army World War II and Korean War18_20_S_3

United States Army World War I 18_51_X_7

United States Army World War I N_70_X_7

United States Air Force Korean War 18_11_X_9

United States Navy Peace Time M_62_X_41

United States Army World War II E_65_X_8

United States Army World War I O_12_X_5

United States Air Force VietNam War M_44_X_6

United States Army World War II 17_52_X_12

Unknown 27_49_X_5

World War II 12_57_X_9

United States Army Civil War K_26_X_3

United States Army World War I P_8_X_20

United States Army Captin Civil War D_62_X_8

United States Army Peace Time 33_24_S_1

United States Army World War II 11_53_X_11

United States Army Unknown 17_53_X_8

United States Army Unknown 22_4_X_4

United States Army Civil War K_3_X_1

Unknown 28_42_X_10

United States Air Force Unknown 28_41_X_1

United States Army Unknown 22_17_X_3

United States Coast Guard World War II 11_54_X_5

United States Army World War I I_9_E_1

United States Army World War I 14_54_E_3

Unknown 7_23_X_5

United States Navy Unknown 33_9_X_4

United States Army Korean War M_80_X_21-A

United States Army World War II 27_21_X_7

United States Navy Korean War S_51_X_8

United States Army Civil War T_63_X_7

United States Army Spanish American War R_4_W_1

United States Army Unknown D_1_X_45

United States Navy Unknown 28_21_X_1

United States Army Spanish American War R_15_X_1

United States Army Civil War 17_56_N_3

World War I O_92_X_2



United States Army Peace Time 2_16_X_8

Korean War V_22_X_5

United States Army Korean War 14_13_X_6

United States Army World War II and Korean War33_18_X_9

United States Navy Korean War P_26_W_2

United States Navy Chief Petty Officer VietNam and Desert Storm 28_11_E_6

United States Navy VietNam War V_16_X_10

United States Army VietNam War M_49_X_140

United States Navy World War II D_18_X_9

United States Army Korean War 33_47_X_11

United States Army Unknown 33_41_X_4

National Guard Unknown 25_25_N_7

VietNam War S_32_X_11

United States Coast Guard Unknown S_4_X_7

United States Air Force Unknown S_58_X_12

United States Air Force Korean War and VietNam War3_3_X_7

US Army and Air Force 1st Lieutenant World War II O_49_X_9

United States Marine Corps Unknown M_81_X_173

United States Marine Corps Unknown S_33_X_1

United States Army World War II 11_54_X_3

United States Army MSGT Unknown 12_1_X_8

United States Marine Corps Unknown 9_56_X_6

United States Army SP4 Unknown U_2_X_21

United States Coast Guard World War II 9_9_E_5

National Guard Unknown 17_33_X_3

United States Navy Korean War 15_6_X_8

US Army and Air Force Unknown V_22_X_7

United States Air Force VietNam War 32_34_X_12

United States Army Civil War D_29_X_1

United States Army World War II O_89_X_13

United States Army World War I C_29_X_C

United States Army World War I 29_68_X_6

United States Army World War I 10_56_X_2

Unknown 6_60_S_6

United States Air Force World War I 6_51_S_4

United States Army Civil War R_7_W_2

United States Army Korean War V_27_X_1

United States Army Unknown M_41_W_12

United States Army Spanish American War O_43_S_5

United States Navy Korean War 5_83A_X_2

United States Air Force VietNam War 33_18_X_3

Korean War 9_37_X_10

United States Army World War I 25_32_S_1

United States Air Force 1st Lt. World War II and Korean War28_41_X_4

Unknown M_78_X_111

United States Navy World War II 28_19_X_4

Unknown 16_54_N_6



United States Army World War I 10_12_X_2

Unknown D_58_W_1

United States Army Civil War F_55_X_26

United States Navy World War I L_31_X_3

United States Army Civil War H_9_N_2

Unknown 10_19_X_1

United States Army World War I 19_42_S_3

Unknown F_28_X_1A

United States Navy World War II P_32_X_3

United States Marine Corps World War II 2_6_X_23

United States Army VietNam War V_25_X_14

United States Army World War II 19_15_W_6

World War II 33_14_X_10

United States Army World War II 22_20_X_12

United States Army World War II 22_43_S_4

United States Army World War II 22_43_S_6

World War I 22_54_S_1

United States Army Korean War 22_74_N_3

United States Army Korean War D_46_X_1

World War I 23_49_W_5

World War II S_19_X_3

United States Army World War I 29_52_S_4

United States Army World War I 34_12_N_3

United States Army World War I and World War IIG_2-4-5_X_13B

United States Army World War I G_17_N_9

United States Army World War II M_47_X_103

United States Marine Corps Korean War 19_46_X_13

United States Army World War II 33_19_X_9

United States Army World War I L_23_S_6

United States Army Unknown 34_26_S_3

Unknown O_62_X_5

World War II P_35_X_12A

United States Army World War II V_34_X_7

World War II I_9_W_4

United States Marine Corps Korean War 32_13_X_11

United States Air Force Korean War M_47_X_105

United States Army VietNam War 25_13_S_4

United States Army World War II M_47_X_106

United States Army World War II 14_54_W_6

United States Navy World War II 17_19_X_6

United States Army Civil War D_97_X_4

United States Army Unknown C_31_X_15

United States Army World War I G_90_S_4

United States Air Force Korean War 19_38_S_11

United States Army Korean War 32_1_X_5

United States Air Force VietNam War V_20_X_9

United States Army World War II 28_2_N_3



United States Army SP4 VietNam War 25_27_N_9

United States Army CPL Korean War 4_41_X_1

United States Army World War II S_52_X_1

United States Army TSGT World War II M_79_X_115

United States Army World War II 29_65_E_3

United States Army Peace Time M_47_X_57.5

United States Navy Korean War 22_73_S_1

United States Army Civil War U_1_X_5

United States Marine Corps VietNam War 22_50_S_6

United States Air Force World War II 10_65_X_6

United States Navy PM2C World War II 9_80_X_3

United States Navy World War II M_72_X_75

United States Navy World War II M_72_X_72

United States Navy Peace Time 5_21_X_2

Unknown 3_17_X_7

United States Air Force Korean War and VietNam War22_24_X_5

United States Army PFC VietNam and Desert Storm M_41_W_6

United States Navy SM 1st. Class World War II S_13_W_6

National Guard Unknown 18_3_X_4

United States Coast Guard VietNam War 3_7_X_11

United States Army World War II 32_28_X_5

United States Army TEC5 World War II M_80_X_120

United States Air Force Lt. Col World War II V_31_X_7

United States Army World War II 22_43_S_3

United States Navy World War II 34_12_N_5

United States Navy quatermaster VietNam War N_97_X_4

United States Marine Corps World War II 3_10_X_3

United States Army Korean War 5_53_X_3

United States Navy PR3C World War II L_51_X_5

United States Army World War II 4_27_X_12

United States Army SP4 VietNam War 22_47_X_12

United States Army World War II M_78_X_110

Civil War U_22_X_5

United States Navy VietNam War 4_38_X_10

United States Army Korean War 33_3_X_11

Unknown 33_6_X_3

United States Army Pvt. 1st. CLass Korean War 25_2_X_8

Unknown 12_70_W_7

United States Air Force World War II 22_73_S_2

United States Navy VietNam War N_42_W_4

United States Army Peace Time V_27_X_4

United States Army World War II 14_73_X_6

United States Army MSGT World War II 22_33_X_9

United States Navy VietNam War P_39_X_1

United States Navy World War II 6_63_N_12

United States Air Force World War II 7_7_X_4

United States Army World War II and Korean War7_11_X_4



United States Army Unknown 32_14_X_6

United States Army Unknown S_18_X_6

United States Army Korean War 15_36_X_8

United States Army World War I N_35_E_6

United States Army World War II 25_21_S_2

United States Air Force VietNam War M_80_X_78

United States Army VietNam War 29_27_X_7

United States Army Unknown 18_25_X_12

World War II and Korean War9_80_X_3

United States Army Unknown 16_16_S_7

United States Air Force Unknown 16_16_S_7

United States Air Force VietNam War 22_16_X_7

Unknown 32_8_X_1

United States Navy VietNam War 11_1_X_9

United States Army Unknown P_48_X_4

World War II and Korean WarM_80_X_121

United States Air Force Unknown O_75_X_6

United States Air Force World War II L_9_X_6

United States Army Unknown U_6_X_5

United States Air Force Unknown 28_6_X_5

United States Army Unknown 14_46_X_10

United States Air Force Unknown 25_9_X_6

United States Army VietNam War L_12_X_11

United States Army Unknown M_42_X_6

United States Army VietNam War 29_17_N_3

United States Navy Unknown 9_18_X_8

United States Navy Unknown G_26_N_3

United States Army Unknown 32_31_X_8

United States Army Unknown 27_32_X_1

United States Navy World War II P_42_X_11

United States Army VietNam War P_40_X_2

United States Army Unknown 11_41_S_11

United States Navy Unknown V_14_X_6

United States Army Unknown 27_32_X_9

Unknown 33_47_X_7

United States Army Unknown 8_9_E_8

United States Air Force Unknown 34_15_X_10

United States Army Unknown 17_104_X_9

United States Navy Unknown M_80_X_122

World War II V_33_X_16

United States Air Force World War II 17_79_X_4

United States Marine Corps Aviator Captain World War II K_86_X_1

United States Navy Unknown 22_84_X_7

United States Navy World War II 22_60_X_7

United States Navy Unknown 15_26_S_6

United States Army VietNam War 28_1_X_10

United States Army Peace Time 33_5_X_5



United States Army Korean War 22_18_X_8

United States Army Unknown D_55_S_6

United States Army World War II 29_60_X_8

United States Coast Guard World War II 28_22_X_5

United States Army World War II 7_26_X_9

Unknown 3_40_N_5

United States Navy Unknown 32_31_X_2

United States Navy World War II 18_20_S_5

United States Navy Korean War S_32_X_8

United States Army Korean War K_20_X_11

United States Marine Corps VietNam War M_48_X_58

United States Army Unknown 16_34_X_10

National Guard Unknown O_79_X_10

United States Army Unknown P_68_X_8

United States Navy World War II and Korean WarP_24_X_9

United States Army Unknown 4_2_X_10

United States Air Force Unknown P_59_X_9

United States Army Korean War 4_39_X_9

United States Navy Radioman Second Class, USNRWorld War II H_6_X_5

US Army and Air Force World War II S_31_X_9

United States Army Unknown 25_22_X_11

United States Navy Unknown 19_40_NW_3

US Army and Air Force World War II 22_59_X_10

United States Army SGT World War II and Korean WarM_79_X_117

United States Air Force S/SGT Korean War D_12_X_1

United States Navy Unknown 10_57_X_5

Unknown 18_26_X_6

United States Army Unknown 33_51_X_11

United States Air Force Unknown D_1_X_19

United States Army World War II 23_48_S_4

United States Navy Unknown M_81_X_171

United States Army Unknown 28_6_X_12

United States Army Unknown 25_30_N_6

United States Marine Corps Unknown P_37_X_8

United States Army World War II 7_28_X_3

United States Army Unknown S_20_X_7

United States Navy Unknown S_33_X_7

US Army and Air Force World War II 27_32_X_7

United States Army VietNam War 31_28_X_6

United States Army Korean War 3_36_X_2

United States Navy Unknown M_49_X_135

United States Army Master Sergeant Korean War 33_53_X_8

United States Air Force Unknown 21_39_X_6

United States Marine Corps Unknown 29_11_X_3

United States Army SGT Unknown 31_18_X_3

United States Marine Corps Unknown 16_44_X_9

United States Army Unknown 19_47_X_8



United States Air Force SSGT VietNam War O_6_E_10

United States Army Peace Time 4_37_X_17

Unknown L_67_S_4

United States Navy Unknown S_5_X_8

United States Army Unknown 17_87_X_8

United States Navy Unknown D_72_X_9

United States Army World War II M_81_X_174

United States Army Unknown L_65_S_7

United States Army World War II 2_17_X_5

United States Navy Unknown U_17_X_6

United States Marine Corps World War II 14_26_X_9

United States Army Unknown 4_16_X_4

VietNam War 31_28_X_3

United States Air Force Korean War M_81_X_181

United States Navy World War II S_26_X_10

United States Navy World War II 10_62_E_5

Unknown 22_85_X_7

United States Army VietNam War S_20_X_5

United States Army Unknown M_57_X_146

Unknown L_9_X_6

United States Army Unknown S_19_X_5

United States Army Unknown 21_21_X_3

United States Navy LCDR Unknown M_81_X_180

United States Army Korean War S_34_X_3

United States Army Unknown E_2-4-5_X_16

United States Navy Unknown M_81_X_184

United States Army World War I 22_46_X_12

Korean War E_30_X_9

United States Navy Lt. Jr. Grade World War II R_26_X_10

United States Army Unknown S_28_X_11

United States Navy World War I 16_29_X_6

United States Army Civil War N_84_X_2

United States Army Civil War E_39_X_5

United States Army World War I 11_43_N_5

United States Army World War I 15_13_S_3

World War II 11_49_X_8

United States Army Civil War 19_36_X_2

United States Army World War II 32_26_X_1

United States Army Civil War 10_24_X_1

United States Army Civil War 14_34_X_1

United States Army Civil War 9_12_X_7

United States Army Civil War 1_11_X_1

United States Army World War II I_42_X_6

United States Army World War I and World War IIP_8_X_22

United States Army World War I T_39 & 40_X_17

United States Army Civil War 29_20_X_1

United States Army Peace Time M_56_X_67



United States Army Civil War M_25_S_3

World War I 16_50_X_3

United States Army World War II 19_34_W_4

United States Army World War I N_87_E_5

United States Air Force Master Sergeant Unknown D_12_X_2

United States Air Force World War II 17_48_X_8

United States Army World War II 6_36_S_6

United States Army World War II 14_53_W_4

United States Army Civil War F_31_X_2

United States Navy World War II S_9_X_5

United States Army World War II 10_52_X_10

United States Navy World War II 26_7_X_12

United States Army VietNam War 27_33_X_7

United States Army World War I 29_38_S_3

United States Air Force Korean War 32_15_X_6

United States Army VietNam War M_2_N_4

United States Army World War II 19_43_X_8

United States Navy World War II 22_18_X_2

United States Army World War I 19_45_N_2

United States Army Spanish American War L_65_N_1

United States Navy World War II P_18_X_5

United States Army Korean War 23_12_S_6

United States Army World War I O_49_X_7

United States Army Korean War M_48_X_60

United States Army Civil War E_10_X_3

United States Army World War II 26_9_S_4

United States Navy World War I 33_56_X_10

United States Navy World War I M_33_S_5

United States Army World War I 27_18_X_6

United States Army World War I 6_21_X_1

United States Army Civil War 14_63_W_1

United States Army World War I 15_22_X_6

United States Army World War II V_37_W_4

United States Army VietNam War U_7_X_7

United States Army Unknown M_54_X_96

United States Army World War I 22_55_N_1

United States Army World War I 14_2_W_6

United States Army World War II 15_1_X_4

United States Army Civil War H_22_E_3

United States Navy World War II U_19_X_12

United States Army World War II 27_44_X_2

United States Army Civil War F_36_X_9

United States Army Korean War V_33_X_4

United States Army World War I 28_25_X_7

United States Army S/SGT World War II 16_2_X_4

United States Army Civil War N_95_X_2

United States Army Civil War 17_20_X_1



United States Army Civil War N_87_E_1

United States Army Civil War M_80_X_21

United States Navy World War II 33_48_X_12

United States Army Civil War E_7_X_1

United States Army World War II 27_21_X_1

United States Marine Corps VietNam War 7_27_X_4

United States Army VietNam War 7_27_X_5

United States Army World War II 6_62_X_4

United States Army Civil War L_28_S_2

United States Army Civil War D_98_X_3

United States Army World War II 19_24_NE_4

United States Air Force VietNam War 28_20_X_2

United States Army World War II 12_22_X_8

United States Navy World War I 22_89_S_3

United States Navy World War II G_77_N_2

United States Navy World War II S_37_X_7

United States Army Civil War G_77_N_2

United States Army Pvt. Spanish American War M_46_X_47

US Army and Air Force Korean War and VietNam WarS_28_X_9

United States Army Civil War K_68_S_3

United States Navy World War II S_62_X_12

United States Army Civil War G_63_X_1

United States Air Force World War II 15_23_N_5

United States Navy Korean War 6_38_X_6

United States Army Civil War D_26_X_1

United States Navy World War II O_79_X_12

United States Army World War I 17_9_X_1

United States Army Civil War N_70_X_1

United States Army Civil War K_79_X_1

United States Army Civil War 1_12_X_1

United States Army World War II 6_56_X_8

National Guard Unknown 2_16_X_3

World War I 34_15_X_7

United States Army Civil War E_65_X_3

United States Army Civil War E_60_X_1

United States Army Spanish American War U_19_X_6

United States Navy VietNam War M_79_X_22A

United States Army World War II L_22_S_6

United States Army Civil War C_3_X_5

United States Army Civil War E_60_X_9

United States Army PVT World War I 5_87_E_2

World War II 28_40_X_2

World War I 7_17_W_12

World War II 26_19_S_6

United States Army World War II 18_14_N_3

United States Army Spanish American War 23_42_S_4

United States Army World War II D_45_X_1



United States Marine Corps Korean War K_102_N_2

United States Army Spanish American War 23_40_S_5

United States Army Civil War F_11_X_2

United States Army World War II O_92_X_9

United States Army World War II T_21_X_7

United States Army World War II 25_38_S_4

United States Army Korean War M_72_X_76

United States Army World War II 25_39_S_3

United States Army World War I 23_32_X_7

United States Army World War II S_39_X_12

United States Air Force World War II 27_12_X_12

United States Army Spanish American War 11_35_X_5

United States Army Spanish American War 34_4_S_1

United States Army Civil War 14_72_W_2

United States Army World War I 27_11_X_12

United States Marine Corps World War II 26_17_X_12

United States Army Civil War F_18_N_3

United States Army World War I 25_20_X_1

United States Navy VietNam War 25_16_S_6

United States Army World War II 19_1_W_8

United States Army VietNam War S_66_X_2

United States Army Spanish American War L_40_X_2

United States Navy World War II 25_11_X_12

United States Navy World War II 23_33_N_3

United States Army World War I and World War II17_103_X_4

United States Army World War I 29_2_X_4

United States Army World War I G_71_X_12

United States Army Korean War M_56_X_64

United States Army World War II V_34_X_3

United States Army Civil War H_36_X_6

United States Army World War II 25_25_S_4

United States Army Civil War E_67_X_7

United States Army World War II S_5_X_13

World War II S_35_X_2

United States Army World War I 23_5_X_8

United States Army World War II 33_18_X_12

United States Army Civil War D_64_E_3

World War I 22_34_X_6

United States Army World War I 8_13_X_8

United States Navy World War II 26_41_X_10

United States Army Civil War G_59_X_3

United States Army World War II 25_31_NW_5

United States Air Force Peace Time 9_47_X_9

United States Army World War II 32_10_S_5

United States Army World War II 15_13_N_2

United States Army World War II 33_32_X_1

United States Navy World War I 19_2_W_3



United States Army World War I 23_45_S_1

United States Army World War II 19_28_E_6

United States Army Civil War D_1_X_5

United States Air Force World War II V_33_X_21

United States Army World War II 11_24_N_6

United States Navy World War II 12_17_X_11

United States Army World War I E_56_X_11

United States Navy World War II R_8_X_7

United States Army VietNam War P_19_X_11

United States Army World War II M_34_X_9

United States Army World War II 22_39_X_3

United States Army World War II 23_31_S_5

United States Army World War II 27_48_X_11

United States Army Korean War V_33_X_6

United States Army Korean War 33_46_X_3

United States Air Force World War II P_22_X_11

United States Army World War II N_92_X_12

United States Army Civil War 11_34_N_2

United States Army World War II 22_20_X_10

United States Army World War I 26_19_N_1

United States Army World War I 15_20_X_3

United States Army World War II and Korean WarR_34_X_3

United States Army Civil War K_97_X_2

United States Army Civil War 26_24_S_1

United States Army World War II 17_1_X_8

United States Army World War I M_62_X_38

United States Navy World War I M_62_X_39

United States Army World War I 2_23_X_7

United States Marine Corps World War II 19_6_N_2

United States Army Civil War 23_17_X_9

United States Army Spanish American War I_34_X_11

United States Army World War I 25_20_X_6

United States Army World War I F_20_W_6

United States Army Civil War 3_24_X_2

United States Army Korean War 26_43_X_9

United States Army World War I 10_65_X_10

United States Army World War I 16_19_N_3

United States Army World War I 25_37_N_6

United States Army Civil War 6_9_X_1

United States Army World War I L_54_X_4

United States Air Force Korean War M_78_X_108

United States Army World War II 6_57_X_2

United States Army World War II S_3_X_2

United States Army World War II 7_5_X_1

United States Army Civil War M_72_X_16

United States Navy World War II D_71_X_9

United States Army World War II 22_81_S_4



United States Army World War II 7_5_X_3

United States Army World War I 2_32_X_1

United States Navy World War II R_14_X_6

United States Army World War I 9_33_X_6

United States Army Unknown V_30_X_8

United States Army Captain Civil War M_78_X_30

United States Air Force World War II 3_8_X_12

United States Marine Corps World War I 17_66_X_8

United States Navy World War II 22_86_S_3

United States Army Peace Time N_100_E_1

United States Navy Peace Time M_56_X_65

United States Army World War I 11_6_S_1

United States Army World War I N_34_X_3

United States Army Civil War D_75_X_7

United States Army World War II L_62_X_5

United States Army World War II 19_47_X_3

United States Army World War I 15_29_X_1

Unknown 18_18_NW_2

United States Army World War I 3_20_X_3

United States Army World War I 7_24_E_7

United States Army World War II I_16_X_12

United States Navy World War II 15_33_X_3

United States Army World War II M_64_X_71

United States Coast Guard World War II 29_42_NW_5

United States Army World War II P_63_N_3

World War I 33_49_S_4

United States Navy World War I 18_14_S_3

United States Air Force World War I 7_25_W_6

United States Army VietNam War 22_62_W_3

United States Army Civil War 17_75_X_1

United States Army Civil War 16_55_X_1

United States Army World War II M_62_X_91

United States Army World War I 27_35_N_1

United States Army World War I 16_11_X_7

United States Army Civil War M_41_E_1

United States Army PVT Co. A 21st Wis Inf.Civil War 26_9_N_1

United States Army World War I 11_14_S_3

United States Army World War II 23_27_S_5

United States Navy World War II 28_9_N_3

United States Air Force Korean War and VietNam WarL_9_X_3

United States Army Cpl. Civil War M_72_X_14

Unknown 32_8_X_5

United States Army World War II C_39_X_2

United States Army World War I 3_20_X_5

United States Army World War I 24_47_X_12

United States Army World War I 6_31_X_9

United States Army World War II 17_17_X_9



United States Army World War II 8_10_W_11

United States Army World War I L_27_X_2

United States Navy VietNam War V_20_X_2

United States Army World War I 17_31_X_4

United States Marine Corps Peace Time O_54_W_3

United States Army VietNam War 3_16_S_6

Unknown N_73_W_1

United States Army World War I 18_38_S_5

United States Army World War II O_15_X_2

United States Army Korean War and VietNam War34_22_X_6

United States Navy World War II 28_32_S_3

United States Navy Peace Time 33_22_X_4

United States Army World War II 25_29_N_1

United States Army Civil War F_50_X_3

United States Army World War II I_8_E_1

United States Marine Corps World War II S_20_X_6

United States Air Force World War I and World War IIP_31_X_13

United States Army Civil War O_90_X_1

United States Army World War II 17_85_X_4

United States Marine Corps Peace Time 8_16_X_6

United States Army VietNam War S_30_X_5

United States Army SGT World War II 28_39_X_1

United States Navy VietNam and Desert Storm P_47_X_6

United States Army TEC-5 World War II S_19_X_2

National Guard Unknown 7_18_X_2

United States Army World War I N_72_X_3

United States Army World War I 32_10_N_1

Unknown D_28_X_1

United States Navy Peace Time 5_31_X_18

World War I 23_14_S_1

United States Army Civil War T_26_X_5

United States Army Civil War M_48_X_3

United States Navy World War I 14_24_X_4

United States Army World War II 33_47_X_15

United States Army Unknown M_48_X_3A

United States Army World War I P_5_X_14

National Guard Unknown 2_5_X_16

United States Army Civil War 18_20_S_1

United States Marine Corps Korean War 11_14_N_7

United States Army World War II E_70_X_27

Unknown 10_48_X_8

United States Army Civil War D_8_X_2

United States Army PFC World War II 15_12_S_2

United States Army World War I 1_23_X_3

United States Army World War I M_37_X_4

United States Army Civil War E_35_X_4

United States Army Korean War O_14_X_4



United States Army World War I 6_17_X_6

United States Army World War II C_32_X_4

United States Army World War I E_31_X_9

United States Air Force Peace Time M_47_X_55

United States Army Civil War O_11_X_11

United States Army Civil War I_30_X_1

United States Army Civil War U_6_X_1

United States Army World War I 2_10_X_5

United States Army World War I O_88_X_1

United States Army World War I 25_38_N_3

United States Army World War II 29_66_X_6

United States Army PFC World War II 22_57_S_6

United States Army Spanish American War 14_65_X_1

United States Army World War I 26_3_S_2

United States Army World War I N_7_X_3

United States Army VietNam War P_59_X_3

United States Air Force World War II 18_22_X_6

United States Army World War II 14_78_E_5

United States Army World War I T_43_X_11

United States Army World War I 18_10_N_4

United States Air Force A1C Korean War M_48_X_4

United States Army World War II 28_9_N_6

United States Army World War II 6_52_X_9

United States Army World War II 18_4_N_6

World War I 33_14_X_4

United States Army Civil War K_111_S_1

United States Army Civil War K_59_X_2

United States Army Peace Time C_36_X_3

United States Army World War I 11_3_X_4

United States Army Civil War 1_10_X_1

United States Army World War II 14_79_X_8

United States Navy Peace Time 22_46_X_6

United States Army Civil War E_24_X_3

United States Army Civil War D_6_X_6

United States Army Civil War F_53_X_2

United States Army World War I S_53_X_1

United States Army World War II 14_79_X_3

United States Navy World War II 28_34_N_3

United States Army World War I V_35_W_4

United States Army World War II D_62_X_14

United States Army World War II 33_7_X_1

United States Army Korean War 27_33_X_1

United States Navy Korean War 18_1_N_6

United States Army World War I 26_9_S_1

United States Navy Unknown V_31_X_12

United States Army World War I 29_41_X_5

United States Army World War I P_2_X_12



United States Army PVT World War I L_43_X_5

United States Army Spanish American War E_31_X_4

United States Air Force World War II 4_1_X_1

United States Army Civil War 15_7_X_2

United States Army World War I 27_23_X_4

United States Navy World War II 29_47_X_10

United States Army Peace Time 25_11_X_2

United States Army World War II M_70_X_84

United States Navy Korean War 26_39_X_6

United States Air Force World War II 17_36_X_8

United States Army World War I M_54_X_45

United States Army World War I E_8_X_5

United States Coast Guard World War II 33_23_X_2

United States Army Korean War 25_22_X_8

United States Army World War I 11_55_X_8

United States Army Spanish American War 25_22_X_2

United States Army World War II 17_41_X_6

United States Army Civil War N_1_X_1

United States Army Unknown 12_77_X_8

United States Army World War II 17_97_X_6

United States Army World War I 22_88_NW_6

United States Army World War I 8_7_X_9

United States Army World War I 9_58_X_1

United States Navy World War II I_37_X_3

United States Army SGT World War II 16_4_X_5

United States Army Civil War 10_49_X_6

United States Army Civil War N_113_X_2

United States Air Force World War II 11_46_X_11

United States Army World War I 10_58_X_5

United States Army Civil War 11_31_X_2

United States Army World War I 6_64_N_1

United States Army World War I 7_13_X_1

United States Marine Corps VietNam War C_31_X_5

United States Army Pvt. Civil War M_47_X_50

United States Army Quarter Master SGT. Civil War F_19_X_5

Unknown 28_34_SW_1

United States Army Civil War 10_6_W_1

United States Army World War II 29_24_X_4

United States Army World War II 26_42_X_4

United States Army World War I 27_23_X_7

United States Marine Corps World War II 2_2_X_A

United States Army Spanish American War M_46_X_46

United States Army Peace Time 32_29_X_1

United States Army World War I I_3_S_4

United States Army World War II 28_45_X_1

United States Army World War I 15_38_S_6

United States Army Civil War I_3_N_1



United States Army Civil War E_36_X_1

United States Army Civil War E_17_X_9

United States Army World War I 22_69_S_5

United States Navy World War I 1_34-37_X_C

United States Army World War I 16_44_X_6

United States Army Peace Time M_54_X_93

United States Army World War II D_10_X_12

United States Army Civil War 6_13_X_4

United States Army World War I P_5_X_16

United States Army Civil War N_57_E_2

United States Army Pvt. Civil War M_48_X_2

United States Army Spanish American War L_41_X_5

United States Navy World War I P_5_X_18

United States Army World War I 14_9_X_5

United States Army World War I 10_18_W_5

United States Army Korean War D_1_X_24

United States Air Force World War II M_64_X_68

United States Army World War II 25_29_S_5

United States Army World War I P_58_N_5

United States Army World War I U_8_X_3

United States Navy Korean War 2_22_X_1

United States Army Civil War 11_38_N_2

United States Army Peace Time 4_22_X_8

United States Navy World War II 22_73_S_3

United States Navy World War II 29_40_S_5

United States Army World War I H_30_W_6

United States Army World War I O_7_X_7

United States Army World War II 22_62_E_8

United States Army World War II 25_1_N_2

United States Army World War II L_9_X_7

United States Navy World War II 3_27_X_5

United States Army Peace Time 3_33_X_10

United States Army World War II S_61_X_12

VietNam War 7_7_X_2

United States Army Civil War D_66_X_7

United States Navy World War II P_40_X_1

United States Army World War II 3_29_X_1

United States Army World War II E_70_X_13

Unknown P_18_X_4

United States Army Spanish American War 15_28_S_2

United States Army World War I 17_105_N_3

United States Army World War I H_6_X_1

United States Marine Corps Unknown H_6_X_6

United States Army World War I K_2_X_14

United States Navy World War II D_53_X_10

United States Army World War II 9_75_X_4

United States Army Civil War M_72_X_17



United States Army Civil War 10_32_X_2

United States Army World War II 26_18_X_7

United States Army World War II 32_29_X_5

United States Coast Guard Peace Time 2_19_X_4

United States Army PVT World War I 15_16_X_3

United States Army Civil War O_56_X_1

United States Army World War I 10_50_X_3

United States Navy World War II R_36_X_10

United States Army Peace Time M_2_N_6

United States Air Force Korean War 23_2_X_11

United States Army World War II 3_10_X_4

United States Navy World War II 19_15_W_2

United States Army Peace Time P_27_X_11

United States Navy World War II N_71_X_6

United States Army World War I 28_32_S_1

United States Army Spanish American War N_70_X_6

United States Army Civil War 17_12_X_2

United States Army World War II 4_20_X_2

United States Army VietNam War V_20_X_8

United States Army World War I 2_26_X_5

United States Army Civil War T_54_X_1

United States Army World War II M_44_X_4

United States Army Civil War K_21_X_1

United States Army World War I O_3_X_7

United States Army Civil War 14_8_E_1

United States Army Civil War G_40_S_2

Unknown N_53_S_2

United States Army World War I O_35_X_3

United States Army World War II 15_36_X_6

United States Army Civil War M_64_X_11

United States Army World War I 29_13_X_2

United States Army World War I 17_39_S_4

United States Navy Unknown D_1_X_17

United States Navy World War II R_14_X_12

United States Army World War II 33_22_X_1

United States Army World War II 4_11_X_5

United States Army Korean War M_46_X_98

United States Army Korean War 7_5_X_7

United States Army World War I 26_12_N_1

United States Army World War I 9_76_X_1

United States Army Civil War 14_33_E_1

United States Army Civil War R_37_X_1

United States Army CPL World War I 22_78_N_1

United States Army PVT Civil War M_54_X_44

United States Army Korean War P_27_X_8

United States Army World War II 29_52_N_1

United States Air Force World War II 29_52_N_3



United States Army World War I 17_69_X_8

Unknown V_31_X_12

United States Navy World War II 5_31_X_12

United States Army Civil War F_56_X_4

United States Army World War I 32_3_X_1

United States Army Civil War 11_9_S_1

United States Army Korean War 33_30_X_3

World War I 9_3_X_10

United States Army Civil War D_49_X_11

United States Army Civil War T_59_X_3

World War I 25_30_S_2

United States Army Civil War U_38_X_1A

United States Army World War II 15_26_N_6

United States Army Spanish American War M_29_S_3

United States Army World War II 18_1_S_4

United States Army World War II 3_18_X_12

United States Army World War I 27_36_X_6

United States Army World War I 27_11_X_10

United States Navy World War II 19_41_X_21

United States Army World War I 29_54_N_4

United States Navy World War II 26_11_X_6

United States Army World War I K_100_X_6

United States Navy Korean War 7_23_X_10

United States Marine Corps Korean War 7_23_X_11

United States Army World War II 14_41_E_3

United States Army Korean War M_56_X_66

United States Navy Unknown L_69_X_7

United States Army World War I 22_61_X_12

United States Army Civil War 23_5_X_7

United States Army Civil War N_96_X_3

United States Army Sgt. Civil War M_70_X_36

United States Army World War I N_96_X_1

United States Army World War II L_59_X_12

United States Army Civil War K_9_X_21

United States Army Civil War 1_16_X_1

United States Army World War I H_3_X_7

United States Army World War I 1_34-37_X_E

United States Army World War I 29_32_SE_6

United States Army World War I 9_44_X_1

United States Army Civil War G_53_S_2

United States Army Civil War U_26_X_6

United States Navy World War II 6_59_X_8

United States Army World War I E_68_X_15

United States Army World War I 17_9_X_6

United States Navy World War II 22_81_S_1

United States Marine Corps World War II L_75_X_3

United States Marine Corps World War II R_38_X_3



United States Army World War II 15_10_X_7

United States Army World War II M_31_S_5

United States Navy Korean War M_47_X_52

United States Army World War II 32_15_X_3

United States Navy World War II P_33_N_3

United States Army World War I 6_30_X_5

World War II 6_58_X_4

United States Army Spanish American War 26_4_N_4

United States Army World War I 22_54_S_6

United States Army World War I 10_56_X_4

United States Army World War I 10_56_X_10

United States Army World War II O_32_X_5

United States Army Civil War O_32_X_3

United States Army TEC 3 World War II O_39_X_4

United States Army Civil War N_74_X_1

United States Army Spanish American War D_3_X_10

United States Army World War I L_52_S_11

United States Air Force World War II V_25_X_5

United States Army Civil War 10_29_W_11

United States Army Civil War F_43_S_2

United States Army World War II 25_40_X_1

United States Navy World War II 25_23_X_2

United States Navy World War II E_31_X_6

United States Navy World War II G_85_X_5

United States Army Korean War 5_32_X_21

Royal Air Force World War II N_70_X_4

VietNam War 32_19_N_2

United States Army World War I O_76_S_6

United States Army World War I P_3_X_2

United States Marine Corps Korean War F_9_S_11

United States Army World War II 18_4_N_4A

United States Army World War II V_30_X_2

United States Army Civil War G_37_X_12

United States Army World War I and World War II23_2_X_8

United States Army World War II 17_106_S_3

United States Army World War II M_78_X_112

United States Army VietNam War M_47_X_101

Royal Air Force Korean War 27_11_X_8

United States Army Civil War 17_55_S_6

United States Army World War II N_76.5_X_6

United States Army Civil War N_65_W_5

United States Army World War II 6_32_X_5

United States Army World War II 33_19_X_11

Peace Time 9_39_X_8

United States Navy World War II 14_34_X_10

Spanish American War 17_67_S_3

United States Navy World War II 23_14_S_4



United States Army World War II 25_17_SE_10

United States Navy World War II and Korean War19_16_W_5

United States Army World War II 3_6_X_10

United States Navy World War II 3_4_X_9

United States Army World War II K_124_S_1

United States Air Force Unknown 23_10_X_4

United States Army World War I M_26_X_6

World War II 3_27_X_14

United States Army VietNam War 14_13_X_4

United States Army World War II 33_25_X_3

United States Army VietNam War 6_40_X_4

United States Air Force World War II and Korean War28_33_X_6

United States Army World War I 29_15_X_5

United States Army World War II E_63_X_8

United States Army Cpl World War II 16_4_X_4

United States Navy World War II 17_42_X_10

United States Army World War II and Korean War22_74_S_3

United States Army Civil War N_53_N_1

United States Army VietNam War 33_37_X_10

United States Army World War II S_66_X_3

United States Navy Unknown V_30_X_9

United States Army Korean War 32_15_X_11

United States Army Civil War K_20_X_8

United States Army Civil War K_67_X_3

United States Army Pvt. Civil War K_110_N_10

United States Navy World War II 29_32_SW_11

United States Army Spanish American War O_77_S_2

United States Navy World War II M_70_X_85

World War II 27_18_X_3

United States Air Force Cpl. World War II 32_29_X_7

United States Army SP4 VietNam War 27_46_X_6

United States Air Force PFC World War II 18_50_X_14

United States Air Force World War II and Korean WarM_47_X_107

United States Navy PT Boat Captain World War II 2_6_X_21

United States Air Force Unknown 16_19_S_3

Royal Air Force SSGT Korean War M_79_X_116

United States Army SPC Unknown M_69_X_9

United States Army SP3 Unknown 17_28_S_6

United States Marine Corps SGT & 1SG VietNam War 19_36_X_11

United States Air Force World War II 22_87_X_7

United States Army World War II O_8_X_4

United States Army World War II P_45_X_10

United States Navy World War II L_60_X_1

United States Navy World War II 33_39_X_9

United States Navy World War II O_64_X_4

United States Army Korean War M_66_X_14

United States Army Corpl. World War II 27_37_X_12



United States Army Korean War 28_44_X_2

Unknown S_15_X_5

United States Army Civil War 14_11_E_2

United States Army World War II 25_44_S_4

United States Navy Unknown S_32_X_1

United States Navy Unknown V_33_X_13

Unknown 33_31_X_1

United States Army LT. Civil War T_15_X_8

United States Army Korean War S_31_X_7

United States Marine Corps World War II C_12_X_4

United States Marine Corps Korean War 2_23_X_15

United States Navy World War I 17_89_S_2

United States Air Force Korean War 32_8_X_4

United States Marine Corps Korean War O_92_X_5

United States Army World War II D_34_X_11

United States Air Force Korean War and VietNam War33_18_X_6

United States Navy PM2C World War II 22_64_X_12

United States Air Force Korean War 3_7_X_9

United States Army Korean War 32_23_X_5

United States Navy Korean War M_78_X_114

United States Army Korean War 6_14_E_5

United States Navy Korean War 3_4_X_2

United States Navy Unknown 28_4_X_1

United States Marine Corps VietNam and Desert Storm 19_4_W_3

US Army and Air Force Unknown 28_44_X_6

United States Army Unknown 34_18_X_4

United States Army World War II S_52_X_4

United States Army VietNam War 22_4_X_5

United States Air Force Tech Sergeant Unknown 14_44_S_3

United States Army Korean War 22_20_X_6

Unknown 5_31_X_16

National Guard Unknown 22_79_SW_5

World War II S_24_X_4

United States Navy Unknown 23_36_W_12

United States Army Unknown D_71_X_4

United States Army VietNam War S_50_X_14

United States Navy VietNam War 33_12_S_4

United States Air Force Unknown M_78_X_80

United States Navy Unknown 5_65_W_13

United States Army Unknown 6_47_X_9

United States Air Force Unknown 33_46_X_7

United States Marine Corps Captain Unknown M_78_X_82

United States Army World War I MAUS_101_6_G

United States Air Force World War II MAUS_201_6_A

United States Army World War II MAUS_104_3_F

United States Navy World War II MAUS_201_8_G

United States Army World War II MAUS_104_6_I



United States Navy World War II MAUS_104_5_G

United States Army VietNam and Desert Storm MAUS_101_3_C

United States Army Unknown MAUS_101_3_C

United States Army World War II MAUS_201_5_G

United States Army World War II MAUS_102_4_H

United States Army Korean War MAUS_104_4_D

United States Army World War I MAUS_202_7_G

United States Army Korean War MAUS_104_3_E

United States Army VietNam War MAUS_103_3_B

United States Air Force World War II MAUS_202_4_A

United States Army Korean War MAUS_201_3_E

United States Air Force World War II MAUS_201_5_F

United States Army World War II MAUS_104_4_C

United States Army VietNam War MAUS_104_6_J

United States Air Force VietNam War MAUS_201_2_A

United States Air Force VietNam War MAUS_102_3_L

Korean War MAUS_102_3_D

United States Air Force World War II MAUS_104_2_G

United States Marine Corps World War II MAUS_201_3_B

United States Air Force Korean War and VietNam WarMAUS_103_3_G

United States Navy World War II MAUS_101_3_G

United States Navy Korean War MAUS_104_2_F

United States Navy Korean War MAUS_202_2_A

United States Navy World War II MAUS_103_5_K

United States Army VietNam War MAUS_104_6_J

United States Navy World War II MAUS_104_5_G

United States Army World War II MAUS_201_2_C

United States Navy World War II MAUS_104_3_A

United States Army World War II MAUS_202_2_F

United States Army Korean War MAUS_101_6_B

National Guard Unknown MAUS_102_3_I

United States Navy Unknown MAUS_102_6_E

United States Coast Guard Unknown MAUS_101_6_E

United States Navy Unknown MAUS_202_6_C

United States Army World War II MAUS_103_3_H

United States Air Force Korean War MAUS_102_1_A

United States Navy World War II MAUS_104_6_K

United States Army Unknown MAUS_101_5_C

United States Army Unknown MAUS_104_1_L

United States Navy Unknown MAUS_101_6_A

World War II MAUS_101_3_L

US Army and Air Force World War II MAUS_202_5_A

National Guard Unknown MAUS_202_3_H

United States Army Unknown MAUS_102_6_L

United States Navy Unknown M_65_X_148

United States Air Force Unknown H_39_X_10

United States Marine Corps Unknown 12_69_X_3



United States Army Specialist 5 Unknown U_2_X_11

United States Army Unknown M_81_X_185

United States Navy Unknown 32_31_X_1

United States Air Force Unknown MAUS_202_8_G

United States Army Unknown M_47_X_104

United States Navy Unknown P_38_X_10

United States Army World War II 19_40_S_8F

United States Navy Korean War 15_20_X_10

United States Marine Corps Unknown MAUS_101_1_A

United States Army Unknown 27_32_X_3

United States Army World War I 17_87_X_5

United States Marine Corps Korean War 33_30_X_9

United States Army VietNam War O_82_X_8

United States Army VietNam War M_49_X_158

National Guard Unknown 3_17_X_4

United States Navy Unknown M_67_X_7

United States Army Civil War 17_28_N_1

United States Army Unknown M_81_X_183

United States Army Civil War K_92_X_12

United States Army World War II and Korean WarM_70_X_87

United States Army Civil War M_47_X_56

US Army and Air Force World War II S_14_W_3

United States Army Unknown 22_66_X_6

Unknown G_87_X_12

United States Marine Corps PFC Unknown 28_3_X_2

United States Navy lietenant junior gradeKorean War 22_52_X_11

United States Army Unknown 4_20_X_10

United States Marine Corps Unknown 32_10_S_3

United States Army Unknown 24_21_X_5

United States Army VietNam War M_65_X_150

National Guard Unknown 3_40_N_7

United States Army Unknown MAUS_201_2_G

World War II V_29_X_14

United States Army VietNam War 33_6_X_10

United States Army Unknown P_21_X_11

United States Army Unknown 32_9_X_1

United States Army Unknown 3_39_X_9

United States Army Unknown 17_1_X_9

United States Army Unknown 21_35_X_8

United States Navy Unknown 21_35_X_2

United States Army World War I P_71_S_5

Unknown 33_49_S_2

United States Army SSG Unknown S_19_X_7

United States Army SGT VietNam War M_65_X_147

United States Army SP4 VietNam War M_49_X_155

Unknown S_50_X_9

World War II P_34_X_2



United States Navy Unknown MAUS_103_6_C

United States Marine Reserve Unknown M_41_W_4

United States Army VietNam War M_49_X_154

United States Army Unknown 19_1_E_12

United States Army World War II 4_29_X_8

United States Army SP4 VietNam War 28_1_X_7

United States Navy Korean War L_13_X_12

United States Marine Corps VietNam War M_49_X_157

United States Army Unknown V_25_X_9

Unknown F_14_S_4

United States Army Sgt. Civil War M_70_X_33

United States Army Civil War D_76_E_9

United States Army Civil War G_59_X_8

United States Army Civil War D_66_X_4

United States Army Civil War G_9_X_4

Civil War I_7_X_9

United States Army Civil War D_1_X_7

United States Army Civil War N_79_X_3

United States Army Civil War D_7_X_1

United States Army Civil War M_80_X_18

United States Army Civil War 2_3_X_2

United States Army Civil War G_2-4-5_X_10

United States Army World War I 23_11_X_7

United States Army Civil War G_89_X_10

United States Army Unknown L_70_X_10

United States Army Unknown 33_2_X_10

United States Army SSG VietNam War 21_8_X_6

US Army and Air Force Unknown COL GAR_300_4_F

World War II T_13_X_1

United States Navy Unknown U_6_X_10

United States Army Korean War and VietNam War15_31_X_6

United States Navy World War II 17_52_X_4

United States Air Force Unknown 33_6_X_11

World War II C_6_X_10

United States Army World War II 23_31_S_2

United States Army Korean War 3_23_X_1

United States Army World War II 7_7_X_1

Unknown S_51_X_7

United States Navy Unknown 27_17_N_2

Unknown M_53_X_1

United States Navy Unknown 22_2_X_7

United States Navy Reserves Unknown O_15_X_4

United States Army VietNam War 18_21_X_9

United States Air Force VietNam War MAUS_201_1_C

United States Marine Corps Unknown 34_22_X_10

United States Air Force Unknown COL GAR_300_3_D

United States Army Unknown COL GAR_300_2_F



United States Army Unknown COL GAR_300_2_E

United States Army Private Unknown 21_35_X_1

World War II S_3_X_6

United States Navy Korean War C_7_X_6

United States Army Korean War 22_38_X_7

Royal Air Force World War II P_45_X_5

United States Air Force Unknown 3_33_X_12

United States Navy World War II D_49_X_8

United States Army Unknown 6_46_N_5

United States Navy World War II COL N1_400_5_D

United States Navy VietNam War COL GAR_300_5_F

United States Marine Corps LCPL Unknown 29_16_X_10

United States Air Force AFC E-3 Unknown 21_42_X_11

United States Navy Unknown 21_8_X_12

United States Army Korean War E_8_X_7

United States Air Force World War II E_70_X_15

United States Navy Unknown 7_7_X_6

United States Navy Unknown 18_46_SE_4

United States Army sergeant Unknown MAUS_104_2_L

US Army and Air Force Unknown 3_5_X_9

United States Army World War II 17_1_X_12

United States Army Unknown 3_39_X_4

United States Army Unknown S_29_X_8

United States Navy Unknown V_23_X_7



VETERANS JULY 2022 - JUNE 2023 

 

 

 

                      NAME                                BLOCK            LOT                      GRAVE                            BURIAL DATE  

   

1. Robert D. Kirchner  GAR  300  5-F   July 8, 2022 

2. Carleton Schwebs  Maus N1 102  3-C   July 14, 2022 

3. David J. Walbrun  29  16  10   July 20, 2022 

4. G. Richard Meacham  21  42  11   July 20, 2022 

5. John Scheinpflug  21  8  12-A   July 29, 2022 

6. Thomas L. Purdy  E  8  7   July 27, 2022 

7. Joseph Marston III  E  70  15A   August 5, 2022 

8. Patrick A. Slomski  7  7  6A   September 6, 2022  

9. David L. Dorn   18  46 SE  4B   September 16, 2022  

10. Richard Lemke   Maus S  104  2-L   October 12, 2022 

11. James Young   3  5  9   October 24, 2022 

12. Alex Strobel   17  1  12   October 29, 2022 

13. Dennis J. Lamers  S  29  8   November 3, 2022 

14. Richard Boettcher  3  39  4-B   November 10-2022 

15. Jerome Derks   22  2  7   January 13, 2023 

16. Brooks Dodd   V  23  7   January 21, 2023 

17. Mark L. Jones   O  15  4   February 7, 2023 

18. Dean M. Heiden  Maus  201  1-C   March 3, 2023 

19. Kevin P Flaherty  34  22  10   March 31, 2023 

20. Suzanne M Consolo     GAR  300  2E   April 11, 2023 

21. Thomas P Consolo  GAR  300  2F   April 11, 2023 

22. Thomas Drootsan                     GAR  300  3D   April 21, 2023 

23. Richard G Mentzel  21  35  1-B   April 22, 2023 

24. Darwood “Lee” Babcock 21  22  1   April 28, 2023 

25. John U Knostenberg  32  32  4-A   April 28, 2023 

26. Clifford H Lyons  16  49  6-A   May 17, 2023 

27. David E Meek   U  2  17-A   May 20, 2023 

28. Daniel Losselyong  GAR  300  6-P   May 20, 2023 

29. Elizabeth Losselyong(spouse)GAR  300  6-O   May 20,2023 

30. Carol Wesolowski (spouse)     GAR                  300                    5-K   May 25, 2023 

31. Joseph R Wesolowski  GAR  300  5-L   May 25, 2023 

32. Gerald J Schricker  F  50  6-A   June 5, 2023 

33. Michael Stabile                         S                         28                      8-A                                  June 21, 2023 

 



 

 
 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

PARKS, RECREATION & FACILITIES 

MANAGEMENT 

Dean R. Gazza, Director 

1819 East Witzke Boulevard 

Appleton, Wisconsin 54911-8401 

(920) 832-5572  FAX (920) 993-3103 

Email - dean.gazza@appleton.org 

 

TO:  Finance Committee 
 

FROM: Dean R. Gazza 
 

DATE:  7/25/2023 
 

RE: Action:  Award the City of Appleton’s “2023 MSB CEA Shop HVAC Replacement 

Project” contract to Southport Engineered Systems in the amount of $664,550 with 

a contingency of 8% for a project total not to exceed $717,714.   

 

The 2023 Capital Improvement Plan includes $750,000 to replace the HVAC system for the 

MSB CEA Shop. Of that amount, $24,485 has been utilized for design, leaving a construction 

balance of $725,515. The project will include replacing the existing make-up air units, exhaust 

fans, and controls. The current HVAC units are at the end of their useful life and are in need of 

replacement. 

 

The bids were received as follows: 

 

Southport Engineered Systems (low bid)  $664,550 

August Winter and Sons, Inc.    $670,500 

Great Lakes Mechanical, Inc.    $691,209 

 

 

Our consulting engineer has written the City of Appleton a formal letter of recommendation to 

award the contract to Southport Engineered Systems. The Parks, Recreation, and Facilities 

Management Department has also reviewed the bids and is in agreement with the engineer’s 

recommendation. Therefore, we recommend awarding the contract to Southport Engineered 

Systems in the amount of $664,550 plus a contingency of 8% only to be utilized as needed. 

 

Please contact me at 832-5572 or at dean.gazza@appleton.org with any questions. 

mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org
mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org


Resolu�on #7-R-23 
Local Government Funding Legisla�on Resolu�on Expressing Support for Wisconsin Act 12 

Authors: Vered Meltzer, District 2; Chris Croatt, District 14 
Date: July 19, 2023 
Referred To: Finance Committee 
 

Whereas, the City of Appleton is excited to share that Local Government Funding Legisla�on 
Assembly Bill 245, Shared Revenue, was signed into law on Tuesday, June 20, 2023 by Governor 
Tony Evers; and 

Whereas, the City of Appleton wishes to thank all members of the legislature who voted for this 
bill. We would especially like to thank Speaker Robin Vos, Senate Majority Leader Devin 
LeMahieu, Senator Mary Felzkowski, Representa�ve Tony Kurtz, and Governor Tony Evers; and 

Whereas, the City of  Appleton wishes to thank our local legislators, Lee Snodgrass and Dave 
Murphy for their help and support of this historic ini�a�ve; and 

Whereas, beginning July 1, 2024, a full penny of sales tax goes into a segregated local 
government fund; and 

Whereas, all communi�es will see at least a 20% increase over current municipal aid except 
Milwaukee which receives 10% and the local sales tax authority; and 

Whereas, the City of Appleton will receive a 20% increase, which will help support essen�al 
local services; and 

Whereas, future percentage increases in sales tax revenue will be applied to both exis�ng and 
supplemental aids; 

Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved, that the City of Appleton thanks the Legislature for increasing 
funding for the shared revenue program and directs the Clerk to send a copy of this resolu�on 
to the state legislators represen�ng the City of Appleton, to Governor Tony Evers and to the 
League of Wisconsin Municipali�es. 

 







 

 

 

 

 

TO:  Community & Economic Development Committee (CEDC) 
 
FROM: Matt Rehbein, Economic Development Specialist  
 
DATE:  July 26, 2023 
 
RE:  Hayden Properties, LLC Variance Request – Portion of Lots 26, 27, 28 & 29 

Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 3 and Parcel ID #31-9-5712-00 
 

 

 
Hayden Properties (an entity of F Street Development) has notified the City that they have 
secured a “build to suit” project that will utilize approximately 16 acres of the roughly 30 acres 
under contract in the Southpoint Commerce Park.  The prospective tenant’s operations will 
primarily consist of manufacturing, wholesaling, warehousing, and distribution as indicated on 
the site plan (attached).  As part of the tenant’s operations, they will have a fleet of delivery 
vehicles stored and maintained on-site.  A “truck shop” of approximately 3,120 square feet is 
proposed on the site plan.  This will be used exclusively for the maintenance and service of 
tenant delivery vehicles.  No commercial truck repair will be done on-site. 
 
The Southpoint Commerce Park Deed Restrictions and Covenants, Section 2 “Land Use”, 
does not provide for a truck shop.  Additionally, Section 4 “Building Standards” (A) states that, 
“Any building erected shall be at least 7,500 square feet in area and have a gross floor area 
equal to at least 10 percent of the land area.” 
 
Staff is recommending approval of this variance as the use is complementary to the primary 
allowed use on-site, and the gross floor area of both buildings well exceeds the 7,500 square 
feet and 10 percent requirements. 
 
Hayden Properties is an entity of F Street Development.  F Street has already purchased 
approximately 55 acres in Southpoint Commerce Park and built two manufacturing / industrial / 
warehousing buildings of approximately 220,000 sq. ft. and 250,000 sq. ft, with a third 250,000 
sq. ft. building currently under construction.   

 

Staff Recommendation: 

A variance to Section 2 “Land Use” and Section 4(A) “Building Standards” to allow for an 
approximately 3,120 square foot truck maintenance facility on the approximately 16 acres of 
Lots 26, 27, 28 and 29 in Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 3 and Parcel ID #31-9-5712-00 
BE APPROVED.   

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



1

Brenda Broeske

Subject: Follow Up-F Street

From: Josh Lurie <josh@fstreet.com>  
Sent: Thursday, July 13, 2023 3:39 PM 
To: Matthew Rehbein <Matthew.Rehbein@Appleton.org>; Jessica L. Titel <Jessica.Titel@Appleton.org> 
Cc: Laurent, Nathan (Keller Inc.) <nlaurent@kellerbuilds.com>; Scott Lurie <scott@fstreetgroup.com>; Tomás Clasen 
<TClasen@reinhartlaw.com>; Jordan Lynch <jordan@fstreet.com> 
Subject: Follow Up-F Street 
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or clicking 
links, especially from unknown senders. 

Matt: Thanks for your time just now on the phone.  
 
As discussed, the prospective tenant that we are working together on finalizing the lease with will have a separate truck 
maintenance facility on site (see attached site plans), which accounts for less than the 3% of the total square footage 
between the 2 buildings.  
 
This building will be used by the tenant exclusively for maintaining their own fleet vehicles, and not as a commercial 
maintenance facility that services other vehicles.  
 
We are seeking a variance for this, and understand the timeline will be August 2nd for final approval. 
 
Nate: In terms of seeking additional variance for building materials, as discussed just now, please confirm that we will 
not be seeking one for this. 
 
Jessica: I am attaching the completed signed Application for Zoning Verification Letter here. Please confirm this is 
accurate and correct. 
 
Jordan: Please mail a check to the City of Appleton for $50.  
 
Thank you all. 
 
 

  
Josh Lurie 
GC & VP of Investor Relations 
https://linktr.ee/joshlurie 
 
Schedule a Meeting 
 
F Street Group 



2

1134 N. 9th Street, Suite 200 
Milwaukee, WI 53233 
Direct: 414.315.3190 
josh@fstreetgroup.com 
Attention: This message was sent from a source external to the City of Appleton. Please use caution when opening 
attachments or clicking links.  



1
5
'-
0
" 

P
A

V
IN

G
 S

E
T

B
A

C
K

4
0
'-
0
" 

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

T
B

A
C

K

15'-0" PAVING SETBACK

40'-0" BUILDING SETBACK

1
5
'-
0
" 

P
A

V
IN

G
 S

E
T

B
A

C
K

4
0
'-
0
" 

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

T
B

A
C

K

E
A

S
T

 M
IL

L
S

 D
R

IV
E

501'-8" 250'-0"

1
5

9
'-
0

"
1

8
'-
0

"
2

6
'-
0

"
1

8
'-
0

"

1
0

'-
0

"

2
1

0
'-
0

"
6

5
'-
0

"
7

0
'-
0

"
6

5
'-
0

"
6

9
'-
0

"

PROPOSED BUILDING

105,270 SQ. FT.

R
A

M
P

 U
P

(OFFICES)
9,000 SQ. FT.

(7) 13'-0" x 65'-0" x 48" HIGH DOCKS (7) 13'-0" x 65'-0" x 48" HIGH DOCKS

3
0
'-
0
" 

W
ID

E
R

O
L
L
IN

G
 G

A
T

E

(50) 12'-0" x 65'-0" TRAILER STALLS

15'-0" WIDE CONCRETE DOLLY PAD

PROPOSED 
VINYL-COATED 
CHAIN-LINK 
FENCE 

65'-0" DEEP CONCRETE APRON

PROPOSED 
TRUCK SHOP 

BUILDING
3,120 SQ. FT.

S
L
O

P
E

 D
O

W
N

 @
 1

/8
:1

2
 P

IT
C

H

S
L
O

P
E

 D
O

W
N

 @
 1

/8
:1

2
 P

IT
C

H

S
L
O

P
E

 D
O

W
N

 @
 1

/8
:1

2
 P

IT
C

H

S
L
O

P
E

 D
O

W
N

 @
 1

/8
:1

2
 P

IT
C

H

R.D.

S
L
O

P
E

 D
O

W
N

 @
 1

/8
:1

2
 P

IT
C

H

ROOF 
HATCH

15'-0"

40'-0"50'-0"40'-0"47'-0"

(7) 13'-0" x 65'-0" x 48" HIGH DOCKS

(4) 13'-0" x 65'-0" x 48" 
HIGH DOCKS

R.D. R.D. R.D. R.D.

(7) 13'-0" x 65'-0" x 48" HIGH DOCKS

61'-4"192'-0"600'-0"48'-0"92'-0"

65'-0" DEEP CONCRETE APRON

E
X

IT

E
N

T
R

A
N

C
E

(121) 9'-0" x 18'-0" PARKING STALLS

12

13

E
A

S
T

 V
A

N
T

A
G

E
 D

R
IV

E

12

1
2

'-
6

"

6
2

'-
0

"

8
'-
0

"

6
5

'-
0

"
6

9
'-
0

"

FUTURE ADDITION

52,500 SQ. FT.

12

12

12

12

12

12

12

2
5
'-
0
" 

W
ID

E
R

O
L
L
IN

G
 G

A
T

E

6
5

'-
0

"

(16) FUTURE TRAILER STALLS

FUTURE CONC. DOLLY PAD

FUTURE (7) 13'-0" x 65'-0" x 48" 
HIGH DOCKS

FUTURE (3) 13'-0" 
x 65'-0" x 48" HIGH 

DOCKS

FUTURE (7) 13'-0" x 65'-0" x 48" 
HIGH DOCKS

(15) FUTURE PARKING STALLS

70'-0"

3
0
'-
0
" 

W
ID

E
R

O
L
L
IN

G
 G

A
T

E

(3) 9'-0" x 18'-0" 
PARKING 
STALLS

70'-0"

PROPOSED PROPERTY LINE

SOUTH 
LAKELAND  
DRIVE

SOUTH ALLIANCE DRIVE

25'-0" WIDE
ROLLING GATE

15'-0" PAVING SETBACK

40'-0" BUILDING SETBACK

(2
5
) 

1
2
'-
0
" 

x 
4
0
'-
0
" 

B
U

L
K

 T
R

U
C

K
 S

T
A

L
L
S

(2
5
) 

1
2
'-
0
" 

x 
4
0
'-
0
" 

B
U

L
K

 T
R

U
C

K
 S

T
A

L
L
S

(5
) 

1
2
'-
0
" 

x 
4
0
'-
0
" 

T
R

A
C

T
O

R
 S

T
A

L
L
S

(5
) 

1
2
'-
0
" 

x 
4
0
'-
0
" 

T
R

A
C

T
O

R
 S

T
A

L
L
S

(15) FUTURE PARKING STALLS

PROPOSED VINYL-
COATED CHAIN-LINK 
FENCE 

30'-0"

2
4

'-
0

"
1

5
'-
0

"

BUILDING CODE ANALYSIS

PROJECT ADDRESS

xxxx S. Alliance Dr. Appleton, WI 54915

APPLICABLE CODES

2015 International Building Code (w/ WI Amendments)
ASHRE Standard 90.1-2013
2015 IEBC (Level # Alteration)

OCCUPANCY

B - BUSINESS, F1 - MODERATE HAZARD FACTORY, S1 - MODERATE HAZARD STORAGE
Accessory Use

----
Incidental Use

----
High-Piled Combustible Storage YES
Hazardous Materials NO

Multiple Control Areas NO

HEIGHT & AREA

Building Height: -'--" Maximum Allowed: -'--"
Number of Stories: -- Maximum Allowed: --
Total Building Area: -,--- S.F. Maximum Allowed: -,--- S.F.
Total Fire Area: -,--- S.F. Maximum Allowed: -,--- S.F.
Mixed/Separated Occupancies
Unlimited Area Building YES

CONSTRUCTION TYPE

Construction Classification IIB
Fire Separation Distance -'--"

FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS

Assumed Sprinkler Type NFPA 13 (ESFR)
Fire Alarm System TBD

MEANS OF EGRESS

Occupant Load TBD
Panic Hardware TBD

STRUCTURAL DESIGN

Risk Category 2
Live Loads

Roof Live Load 20 psf
Second Floor/Mezz Live Load -- psf
Collateral Load 3 psf

Snow Load
Ground Snow Load 40 psf
Exposure Factor  .9    
Thermal Factor 1.0

Wind Loads  
Wind Load  115 MPH    
Exposure Category  C

Earthquake Loads
Seismic Site Class D

PLUMBING SYSTEMS

Mens WC Required YES/NO
Womens WC Required YES/NO
Drinking Fountain YES/NO
Other Source YES/NO

MECHANICAL SYSTEMS

NO SINGLE PIECE OF EQUIPMENT OVER 400,000 BTU

SITE INFORMATION

SITE CONTENT

Building Size 105,270 S.F.     15.0%
Hard Surface 225,191 S.F.     32.0%
Green Space 372,935 S.F.     53.0%
Parcel Size (Approx.) 703,396 S.F. 16.15 Acres
Parking Provided   (124) 9'-0" x 18'-0" STALLS

  (50) 12'-0" x 65'-0" STALLS
  (60) 12'-0" x 40'-0" STALLS
  

ZONING

Property Zoning --
Setbacks FY 40'-0"  SY 40'-0"  RY 40'-0"
Hard Surface Setback 15'-0"
Coverage Limit --%
Greenspace Requirement --%
Parking Required -- Stalls
Refuse Enclosure YES/NO
RTU SCREENING YES/NO

FLOOR AREAS

SECOND FLOOR

BUILDING & FIRE AREA 

SQUARE FOOTAGES

FIRST FLOOR

CANOPIES (COLUMN SUPPORTED)

BASEMENT

WAREHOUSE

BUILDING AREA SUB-TOTALS

MEZZANINES

FIRE AREA TOTALS

N/A

105,270 S.F.

N/A

N/A

N/A

TRUCK SHOP

N/A

3,120 S.F.

N/A

N/A

N/A

3,120 S.F.

3,120 S.F.

105,270 S.F.

105,270 S.F.

PRELIMINARY NO:

SUPERVISOR:

EXPEDITOR:

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNER:

PROJECT MANAGER:

CONTRACT NO:

DATE:

SHEET:

REVISIONS

"COPYRIGHT NOTICE"
This design, drawing and detail is the
copyrighted property of KELLER, INC.
No part hereof shall be copied, duplicated,
distributed, disclosed or made available to
anyone without the expressed written
consent of KELLER, INC.

P
R

E
L

IM
IN

A
R

Y
 -

N
O

T
 F

O
R

 C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

WISCONSIN

W
IS

C
O

N
S

IN

C1.0
10.18.2022

N. LAURENT

C. MANSKE

TDP

-------

-------

P22310

-------

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 #
5
 F

O
R

:

A
P

P
L

E
T

O
N

,

SO
U

TH
PO

IN
T 

IN
DU

ST
RI

AL
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

SOUTHPOINT INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT

PROPOSED BUILDING #5 FOR:

APPLETON,

1" = 50'-0"

CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN
NORTH

SHEET INDEX

C1.0 SITE PLAN

C1.1 OVERALL SITE PLAN

A1.0 FLOOR PLAN

A1.1 TRUCK SHOP FLOOR, FOUNDATION PLAN, AND ELEVATIONS

A2.0 ELEVATIONS

A3.0 SECTIONS & DETAILS

A3.1 WALL SECTIONS/DETAILS

A3.2 TRUCK SHOP SECTION

S1.0 FOUNDATION PLAN

T2.0 SPECIFICATIONS

THE LOT DIMENSIONS AND BEARINGS SHOWN ON THIS PLAN ARE INTERPRETED 
VALUES.  FOLLOW UP INVESTIGATION WITH STATE AND LOCAL AUTHORITIES 
AND/OR WITH CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP DATA WHEN AVAILABLE IS REQUIRED.

0' 25' 50' 100' 200'

1 12.22.2022 TDP

2 01.11.2023 TDP

3 06.19.2023 TDP

4

5

6



15'-0" PAVING SETBACK

40'-0" BUILDING SETBACK

1
5
'-
0
" 

P
A

V
IN

G
 S

E
T

B
A

C
K

4
0
'-
0
" 

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

T
B

A
C

K

15'-0" PAVING SETBACK

40'-0" BUILDING SETBACK

EAST MILLS DRIVE

5
0

1
'-
8

"
2

5
0

'-
0

"

159'-0" 62'-0"
10'-0"

210'-0" 65'-0" 70'-0" 65'-0" 69'-0"

PROPOSED BUILDING
105,270 SQ. FT.

RAMP UP

(O
F

F
IC

E
S

)
(9

,0
0
0
 S

Q
. 
F

T
.)

(7
) 

1
3
'-
0
" 

x 
6
5
'-
0
" 

x 
4
8
" 

H
IG

H
 D

O
C

K
S

(7
) 

1
3
'-
0
" 

x 
6
5
'-
0
" 

x 
4
8
" 

H
IG

H
 D

O
C

K
S

30'-0" WIDE
ROLLING GATE

25'-0" WIDE
ROLLING GATE

(5
0
) 

1
2
'-
0
" 

x 
6
5
'-
0
" 

T
R

A
IL

E
R

 S
T

A
L
L
S

1
5
'-
0
" 

W
ID

E
 C

O
N

C
R

E
T

E
 D

O
L
L
Y

 P
A

D

PROPOSED VINYL-
COATED CHAIN-LINK 
FENCE 

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

6
5
'-
0
" 

D
E

E
P

 C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

 A
P

R
O

N

(25) 12'-0" x 40'-0" BULK TRUCK STALLS PROPOSED 
TRUCK SHOP 

BUILDING
3,120 SQ. FT.

SLOPE DOWN @ 1/8:12 PITCH

SLOPE DOWN @ 1/8:12 PITCH

SLOPE DOWN @ 1/8:12 PITCH

SLOPE DOWN @ 1/8:12 PITCH

R.D.
SLOPE DOWN @ 1/8:12 PITCH

ROOF 
HATCH

1
5

'-
0

"

4
0

'-
0

"
5

0
'-
0

"
4

0
'-
0

"
4

7
'-
0

"

(7
) 

1
3
'-
0
" 

x 
6
5
'-
0
" 

x 
4
8
" 

H
IG

H
 D

O
C

K
S

(4
) 

1
3
'-
0
" 

x 
6
5
'-
0
" 

x 
4
8
" 

H
IG

H
 D

O
C

K
S

R.D.

R.D.

R.D.

R.D.

(7
) 

1
3
'-
0
" 

x 
6
5
'-
0
" 

x 
4
8
" 

H
IG

H
 D

O
C

K
S

1
9

2
'-
0

"
6

0
0

'-
0

"
4

8
'-
0

"

6
5
'-
0
" 

D
E

E
P

 C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

 A
P

R
O

N

EXIT

ENTRANCE

S
O

U
T

H
 

L
A

K
E

L
A

N
D

  
D

R
IV

E

S
O

U
T

H
 A

L
L
IA

N
C

E
 D

R
IV

E 12

(1
2
5
) 

9
'-
0
" 

x 
1
8
'-
0
" 

P
A

R
K

IN
G

 S
T

A
L
L
S

12 12

12

12 12

12 13

EAST VANTAGE DRIVE

12 12

12'-6"

62'-0"

8'-0"

65'-0" 69'-0"

(25) 12'-0" x 40'-0" BULK TRUCK STALLS

FUTURE ADDITION
52,500 SQ. FT.

25'-0" WIDE
ROLLING GATE

(1
6
) 

F
U

T
U

R
E

 T
R

A
IL

E
R

 S
T

A
L
L
S

F
U

T
U

R
E

 C
O

N
C

. 
D

O
L
L
Y

 P
A

D

F
U

T
U

R
E

 (
3
) 

1
3
'-
0
" 

x 
6
5
'-
0
" 

x
 

4
8
" 

H
IG

H
 

D
O

C
K

S

F
U

T
U

R
E

 (
7
) 

1
3
'-
0
" 

x 
6
5
'-
0
" 

x 
4
8
" 

H
IG

H
 D

O
C

K
S

(1
5
) 

F
U

T
U

R
E

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

 S
T

A
L
L
S

30'-0" WIDE
ROLLING GATE

(5) 12'-0" x 40'-0" 
TRACTOR STALLS

(5) 12'-0" x 40'-0" 
TRACTOR STALLS

(1
5
) 

F
U

T
U

R
E

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

 S
T

A
L
L
S

1
5
'-
0
" 

P
A

V
IN

G
 S

E
T

B
A

C
K

4
0
'-
0
" 

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
E

T
B

A
C

K

PROPOSED VINYL-
COATED CHAIN-LINK 

FENCE 

3
0

'-
0

"

24'-0"15'-0"

F
U

T
U

R
E

 (
7
) 

1
3
'-
0
" 

x 
6
5
'-
0
" 

x 
4
8
" 

H
IG

H
 D

O
C

K
S

PRELIMINARY NO:

SUPERVISOR:

EXPEDITOR:

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNER:

PROJECT MANAGER:

CONTRACT NO:

DATE:

SHEET:

REVISIONS

"COPYRIGHT NOTICE"
This design, drawing and detail is the
copyrighted property of KELLER, INC.
No part hereof shall be copied, duplicated,
distributed, disclosed or made available to
anyone without the expressed written
consent of KELLER, INC.

P
R

E
L

IM
IN

A
R

Y
 -

N
O

T
 F

O
R

 C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

W
IS

C
O

N
S

IN

C1.1
10.18.2022

N. LAURENT

C. MANSKE

TDP

-------

-------

P22310

-------

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 #
5
 F

O
R

:

A
P

P
L

E
T

O
N

,

SO
U

TH
PO

IN
T 

IN
DU

ST
RI

AL
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

1" = 60'-0"

CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN

NORTH

THE LOT DIMENSIONS AND BEARINGS SHOWN ON THIS PLAN ARE INTERPRETED 
VALUES.  FOLLOW UP INVESTIGATION WITH STATE AND LOCAL AUTHORITIES 
AND/OR WITH CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP DATA WHEN AVAILABLE IS REQUIRED.

0' 30' 60' 120' 240'

1 12.22.2022 TDP

2 01.11.2023 TDP

3 06.19.2023 TDP

4

5

6



andershm
Text Box
Exhibit B Deed Restrictions

























Sta
te H

igh
way 

441

Milis Drive

Qu
es

t D
riv

e

La
ke

lan
d D

riv
e

Eis
en

ho
we

r D
riv

e

Co
op

 R
oa

d

Eis
en

ho
we

r D
riv

e

De
sti

na
tio

n D
riv

e (
Pr

iva
te)

Retail
CenterOffice

Park

26
05

26
25

All
ian

ce
 D

riv
e

Vantage Drive

Endeavor Drive 3920

Plank Road

Plank Road

VT Capital
LLC

Security
Luebke

Farrell
Equiptment

FLAIR

NMCR

F Street 
Development

Custom
OffsetsRDI

Oshkosh AAP
LLC

9-5712-36
Lot 36

SCP Plat No. 3
2.59 acres

$43,000/acre9-5712-35
Lot 35

SCP Plat No. 3
2.59 acres

$43,000/acre9-5712-34
Lot 34

SCP Plat No. 3
2.59 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-39
3.64 acres

$43,000/acre

Veritiv

9-5712-25
Lot 25

SCP Plat No. 2
4.88 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-15
Lot 15

SCP Plat No. 2
4.83 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-18
Lot 18

SCP Plat No. 2
4.07 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-6
Lot 6

SCP Plat No. 1
3.01 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-24
Lot 24

SCP Plat No. 2
2.88 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-21
Lot 21

SCP Plat No. 2
2.59 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-22
Lot 22

SCP Plat No. 2
2.59 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-23
Lot 23

SCP Plat No. 2
2.59 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-37
Lot 37

SCP Plat No. 3
2.59 acres

$43,000/acre

9-5712-16
Lot 16

SCP Plat No. 2
3.69 acres

$43,000/acre

Encapsys

9-5712-19
Lot 19

SCP Plat
No. 2

3.46 acres
$43,000/acre

9-5712-5
Lot 5

SCP Plat No. 1
2.32 acres

$43,000/acre

Appleton
Hydraulic

Components

Southpoint Commerce Park
Appleton, Wisconsin

Prepared by City of Appleton
Comm. & Econ. Dev. Dept. 6/2023

0 300 600
FeetÜ

Legend
City Limits
Park Boundary
Subject Area
For Sale (City Owned)
Privately Owned Parcels

Subject Area
16 Acres +/-

Exhibit A



 

 

 

 

 

TO:  Community & Economic Development Committee (CEDC) 
 
FROM: Matt Rehbein, Economic Development Specialist  
 
DATE:  July 26, 2023 
 
RE:  Extension of the Completion Date for Development Agreement Between 318 

College Ave LLC and City of Appleton 
 

 

 

The City of Appleton has received a request from 318 College Ave LLC for an extension of the 
completion date to the Development Agreement dated March 24, 2021. 
 
Section 4.1.1 calls for completion of the project by June 30, 2023.  Due to labor and supply 
chain issues, construction has been delayed.  Developer is seeking an extension of six (6) 
months to Section 4.1.1 as anticipated in the original agreement.  While this extension is for six 
(6) months, Developer expects to be complete within the next couple weeks.  Per the City’s 
Commercial Building Inspector, the residential units are complete; however, the first floor 
commercial units are not quite ready, so a Certificate of Occupancy cannot yet be issued.  
 
Staff believes Developer has been working in good faith to complete this project and meet the 
terms of the original agreement.  This amendment will only affect the completion date of the 
project.  Developer’s requirement to create $8.1M in increment by January 1, 2024 will not 
change with this extension. 

 

Staff Recommendation: 

Extend the Development Agreement with 318 College Ave LLC, Section 4.1.1 for a period of 
an additional six (6) months BE APPROVED.   

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



1

Brenda Broeske

From: Matthew Cole <matthewgiancole@gmail.com>
Sent: Tuesday, July 18, 2023 3:54 PM
To: Matthew Rehbein
Cc: Daniel J. Meissner
Subject: Re: Park Central extension

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when opening attachments or clicking 
links, especially from unknown senders. 

Hello Matt,  
 
Thank you for the note and rest assured I really want this project completed, more than anyone else!  
 
1) Estimated completion is ASAP! It was supposed to already be done!! I am being told a few weeks yet for finishing 
touches and all items code related to the white box for commercial space. 
 
2) Reasons for delay are still material delays, sub-contractor and labor related. There seems to be some issues with back 
ordered materials and items not coming in, and also employees (or lack there of) for the sub contractors. Not enough of 
them and not the highest quality of some of the work being performed which then needs to be re-done after QC. Then 
scheduling conflicts and crews not being available to finish their work before the next trade comes in to start and 
complete their tasks.  
 
If you are able to extend another 6 months, I am more than confident we will be fully completed long prior to 
expiration.  
 
Thanks again for reaching out and I’ll let you know when I am in town to give a formal tour!  
 
Warmest regards,  

Matthew Cole  
414.477.4979 
 
 

On Jul 18, 2023, at 9:25 AM, Daniel J. Meissner <Daniel.Meissner@appleton.org> wrote: 

  
Thanks Matt & Matt 
  
Dan 
  

From: Matthew Rehbein <Matthew.Rehbein@Appleton.org>  
Sent: Monday, July 17, 2023 3:13 PM 
To: matthewgiancole@gmail.com 
Cc: Daniel J. Meissner <Daniel.Meissner@Appleton.org> 
Subject: Park Central extension 
  
Good Afternoon Matthew, 
  



2

In speaking with Dan Meissner, I understand you may be seeking an amendment to Section 4.1.1 
of  your DA to extend the completion Date by 6 months  for your project at 318 W. College from June 
30.  I’d be happy to help with that, all I’ll need is a request from you (E-mail is fine) that includes 1) 
When you anticipate completion 2) reason(s) for delay.  If you can get that to me by noon Wednesday 
(7-19), I can get this on the next committee Agenda for July 26, which would go on to Council Aug. 2 for 
final approval.  Given you’ve clearly been working in good faith to complete the project, and this 
extension won’t impact the financial obligation(s) of the City at all, I don’t anticipate any issue with the 
request  Thank you. 
  
Matt Rehbein 
     Economic Development Specialist 
  
    
<image001.jpg> 
 City of Appleton  
     Community & Economic Development 
     100 N. Appleton Street 
     Appleton, WI  54911 
     (920) 832-6463 Direct Phone 
     (920) 832-5994 Fax 
     www.appleton.org 
  

Attention: This message was sent from a source external to the City of Appleton. Please use caution when opening 
attachments or clicking links.  













TAX INCREMENT DISTRia NO. 11

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

OocumentiS: 2230912
Date: 04-16-2021 Time: 1:20 PM

Pages: 32 Fee: $30.00
County OUTAGAMIE COUNTY State: WI

SARAH R VAN CAMP, REGISTER OF DSK

Return via MAO. (REGULAR)

APPlETOUCmfOF

Record and return to;

City of Appleton - City Attorney's Office
100 North Appleton Street

Appleton, WI 54911-4799

Tax Key No; 31-2-0243-00

fWElopg

This instrument was drafted by:

Christopher R. Behrens, City Attorney
City of Appleton



TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT NO. 11

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is dated as of the^lfil day of
.rcX^ , 2021, by and among 318 College Ave LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability

company ("Developer") and the City of Appleton, a Wisconsin municipal corporation (the "City").

RECITALS

Developer and the City acknowledge the following:

A. Developer owns or will acquire the real property located 318 W. College Avenue,
(Parcel 31-2-0243-00) Appleton, Wl more particularly described in Exhibit A, attached hereto
(hereafter the "Property").

B. The Property is located within the City In Tax Increment District #11 (the "District")
which was created In 2017 pursuant to Section 66.1105, Wis. Stats, along with a plan for the
redevelopment of the District (the "District Plan") that provides for, among other things, the
financial assistance set forth in this Agreement.

C. Subject to obtaining the financial assistance set forth herein. Developer has
proposed Improvements to the Property to create an approximately one floor of commercial/retail
space and four floors consisting of approximately thirty-nine (39) market rate living units offering
one, two and three bedrooms with approximate square footage ranging from 750 to 1,460 per unit
(the "Project"). All references to the Project include the Property.

D. The City has determined that the Project will spur economic development, expand
the City's tax base and create new jobs; that such financial assistance Is a Project Cost under the
Tax Incremental Law; that the amount of financial assistance provided pursuant to this Agreement
is the amount necessary to Induce development of the Project; and, that the Project will not
proceed without the financial assistance set forth In this Agreement.

E. Subject to obtaining financial assistance as set forth herein. Developer intends to
undertake a redevelopment of the property that will increase the value of the Property and provide
other tangible benefits to the surrounding neighborhoods and to the City as a whole, consistent
with the District Plan. The City finds that this redevelopment of the Property and the fulfillment,
generally, of the terms and conditions of this Agreement are In the vital and best interests of the
City and its residents and serves a public purpose In accordance with state and local law.

F. The City, pursuant to Common Council Action dated March 17, 2021 has approved
this Agreement and authorized the execution of this Agreement by the proper City officers on the
City's behalf.

G. The Developer has approved this Agreement and authorized the appropriate
officers to execute this Agreement on the Developer's behalf.

H. The base value of the Property for purposes of this Agreement, Including
calculating increment generated by the Project. Is Eight Hundred Twenty-Seven Thousand Dollars
($827,000). The Developer estimates the project will create up to an additional Seven Million Two
Hundred Seventy-Three Thousand Dollars ($7,273,000) in incremental value.

316 College Ave LLC - City of Appleton
Development Agreement

Page11



I. All terms that are capitalized but not defined in this Agreement and that are defined
under the Tax Increment Law shall have the definitions assigned to such terms by the Tax
Increment Law.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Recitals and the promises and undertakings
set forth herein, the parties mutually agree and covenant as follows:

ARTICLE I

UNDERTAKINGS OF THE DEVELOPER

1.1 Developer's Project shall include improvements to, and development of, the
Property as set forth in Exhibit B that will result in an increase in the Property's assessed value.
All aspects of the Project shall be in accordance with all applicable City zoning and building codes,
ordinances and regulations.

1.2 Project Costs shall include, without limitation, costs incurred after approval of this
agreement for the construction of improvements (including infrastructure improvements),
environmental remediation costs, demolition, interior remodeling and development of the project.

1.3 Developer warrants and represents to the City that but for the assistance provided
by the City under Article II, herein. Developer would not be able to proceed with the Project.

1.4 Developer and City acknowledge that several of the specific undertakings of the
parties may require approvals from directors, boards or the City Council as applicable. The
parties' agreements are conditioned upon the obtaining of all such approvals in the manner
required by law. The parties cannot assure that all such approvals will be obtained; however,
they agree to use their best good faith efforts to obtain them on a timely basis.

ARTICLE II

UNDERTAKINGS OF THE CITY

2.1 The City shall appropriate sufficient funds for the performance of the City's
obligations under this /^reement.

2.2 City shall cooperate with Developer throughout the Project and shall promptly
review and/or process all submissions and applications in accordance with applicable City
ordinances.

2.3 Subject to all of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Agreement and
applicable provisions of law, and as an inducement by the City to Developer to carry out the
Project, upon completion of the Project (which shall be defined as issuance of occupancy permits
for all floors of the Project (hereafter "completion")) the City will provide payments to Developer
solely from the future Tax Increments (derived from both real and personal property) to assist with
Developer's Project Costs. The City's total payment of Tax Increment Revenue to the Developer
shall not exceed the lesser of i) $1,309,140 or ii) Eighteen percent (18%) of the Tax Increment
Value as of January 1,2023, plus interest thereon (the "Contribution").

318 College Ave LLC - City of Appleton
Development Agreement

Page 12



The Contribution will be paid to Developer as follows:

2.3.1 As the sole source for payment of the Contribution, the City agrees to pay
the Developer an amount equal to ninety percent (90%) of the Tax Increment Revenue
attributable to, and actually received from, the Property during the calendar year.

2.3.2 Payments under this Agreement shall be due in annual installments on
August 15 of the calendar year following the first tax year after completion of the Project
and continuing on each August 15 thereafter for a period of time described in Sec. 4.2

2.3.3 Interest on the Contribution shall begin to accrue upon completion of the
Project. The interest rate on the Contribution shall be lesser of 1) the interest rate paid by
the Developer to the primary lender for the Project, as evidenced by the note indicating
the loan amount; or, 2) five percent (5%).

2.3.4 The Contribution shall be a special and limited obligation of the City and
not a general obligation. Payments shall first apply to accrued interest and then to the
principal balance of the Contribution. Unpaid interest in any year shall be added to the
principal balance of the Contribution and accrue interest. The City may prepay the
Contribution, in its sole discretion, at any time, with no prepayment penalty.

2.4 This Agreement fully evidences the City's obligation to pay the Contribution. No
separate instrument will be prepared to evidence the City's obligation to pay the Contribution.
The Contribution shall not be included in the computation of the City's statutory debt limitation
because the Contribution is limited and conditional and no taxes will be levied or pledged for its
payment. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to change the nature of the City's obligation
from a limited and conditional obligation to a general obligation.

2.5 The City covenants to Developer that until the Contribution plus interest thereon
has been paid in fuil, the City shali not close the District prior to its statutory expiration date.

2.6 The City shall, upon Developer's request, provide to Developer an accounting of
the status of the District including, but not limited to, the outstanding principal balance of the
Contribution and annual Tax Increments received from the District.

2.7 Developer hereby acknowledges that, as a result of the special and limited nature
of the City's obligation to pay the Contribution, Developer's recovery of the full amount of the
Contribution depends on factors including, but not limited to, future mill rates, changes in the
assessed value of the Property, the failure of the Property to generate the Tax Increments at the
rate expected by Developer, reduction in Tax Increments caused by revenue-sharing, changes in
the Tax Increment Law, and other factors beyond the City's and/or Developer's control.

ARTICLE III

PAYMENT OF TAXES

3.1 As long as the District is in existence, the Property and all buildings and
improvements thereon shall be owned and taxable for real estate tax and special assessment
purposes. The City may waive any or all of the restrictions upon execution of a payment in lieu
of taxes (PILOT) agreement on a form acceptable to the City.

318 College Ave LLC - CHy of Appleton
Development Agreement

Page|3



3.2 Throughout the duration of this agreement, all ad valorem property taxes properly
assessed against the Property will be paid timely and in fiill.

3.3 In the event that any property owned by Developer within the District becomes
exempt from ad valorem property taxes during the life of the District, then for the remaining life of
the District, the Developer will make (or cause to be made) annual payments in lieu of taxes in
amounts equal to what the ad valorem property taxes would have been for such other property
had it not been exempt. If the Developer conveys the Property within the District to any parfy
(related or unrelated), the terms of such sale shall Impose as a covenant upon all successor
owners of the property the foregoing obligation for payments In lieu of taxes during the life of the
District. The City shall be a beneficiary of such covenant and entitled to enforce same against
the successor owners.

ARTICLE IV

CONDITIONS TO PAYMENT; TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT

4.1 The City shall have no obligation to pay any portion of the Contribution to
Developer unless and until all of the following conditions shall have been met;

4.1.1 The Project's completion on or before December 31, 2022 subject to
reasonable extensions, not to exceed six (6) months each, for Force Majeure which shall
include, but not be limited to, any delays caused by pandemic or other acts beyond the
reasonable control of the Developer. Such extensions shall be by mutual written
agreement and, in considering any requested extension, the City and Developer agree
that each will act in good faith, cooperate in expeditious and timely approvals, and said
extensions shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed by City.

4.1.2 The Property's assessed value Is no less than Eight Million One Hundred
Thousand Dollars ($8,100,000) on or after January 1,2023.

4.2 This Agreement, and the City's obligation to make, or continue, any payments of
the Contribution, shall terminate when any of the following shall have occurred:

4.2.1 The conditions in Section 4.1 are not met.

4.2.2 The Contribution is paid in full or August 15,2039, whichever occurs first.

ARTICLE V

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

5.1 No member, officer or employee of the City, during his/her tenure or for one year
thereafter, will have or shall have had any interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement or any
proceeds thereof.

ARTICLE VI

WRITTEN NOTICES

6.1 Any written notice required under this Agreement shall be sent to the following
individuals:

318 College Ave LLC - City of Appleton
Development Agreement

Page 14



FOR THE CITY:

City of Appleton
Community and Economic Development Department
100 North Appleton Street
Appleton, Wl 54911-4799
Attention: Director

With a copy to:

City of Appleton
City Attome/s Office
100 North Appleton Street
Appleton, Wl 54911-4799
Attn: City Attorney

FOR DEVELOPER:

318 College Ave LLC
do Matthew Cole

2761 Contour Road

Missoula, MT 59802

ARTICLE VII

ASSIGNMENT

7.1 No party to this Agreement may assign any of its interest or obligations hereunder
without first obtaining the written consent of the other party.

ARTICLE VIII

NO PARTNERSHIP OR VENTURE

8.1 Developer and its contractors or subcontractors shall be solely responsible for the
completion of the Project. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create or effect any
partnership, venture or relationship between the City and Developer or any contractor or
subcontractor employed by Developer in the construction of the Project.

ARTICLE IX

MISCELLANEOUS

9.1 Under no circumstances shall any officer, official, director, member, manager,
commissioner, agent, or employee of City or Developer have any personal liability arising out of
this Agreement, and no party shall seek or claim any such personal liability.

9.2 The laws of the State of Wisconsin shall govern this Agreement.

9.3 This Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts with the same effect
as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument.

9.4 No modification, alteration, or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding upon
any party until such modification, alteration, or amendment is reduced to writing and executed by
all parties to this Agreement.

318 College Ave LLC - CHy of Appleton
Development Agreement

Page 15



9.5 Any captions or headings In this Agreement are for convenience only and In no
way define, limit, or describe the scope or Intent of any of the provisions of this Agreement.

9.6 If any provisions of this Agreement shall be held or deemed to be Inoperative or
unenforceable as applied In any particular case In any jurisdiction because It conflicts with any
other provision or provisions of this Agreement or any constitution or statute or rule of public
policy, or for any other reason, then such circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering the
provision In question Inoperative or unenforceable In any other case or circumstance, or of
rendering any other provision or provisions herein contained Invalid, Inoperative, or unenforceable
to any extent whatever. To the maximum extent possible, this Agreement shall be construed In
a manner consistent with the powers of the City, Including but not limited to, the City's powers
under the Blight Elimination and Slum Clearance Law and the Tax Increment Law, to achieve Its
Intended purpose. Reference Is made to Section 66.1333(17} of the Wisconsin Statutes and
Chapter 105, Laws of 1975 § 4, which provide that the Blight Elimination and Slum Clearance
Law and the Tax Increment Law should be construed liberally to effectuate their purposes.

[Signatures on following pages]

318 College Ave LLC - CHy of Appleton
Development Agreement

Page 16



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year
first above written.

CITY OF APPLETON:

ATTEST;

Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor

Kami L. Lynch, City 0

STATE OF WISCONSIN )
: ss.

OUTAGAMIE COUNTY )

Personally came before me this %
Woodford, Mayor and Kami L. Lynch, City Clerk,
to be the persons who executed the foregoing
capacity and for the purposes therein intended.

day of (?\PA
3 City ot Ape

2021, Jacob A.

of the City ot Appleton respectively, to me known
instrument and acknowledged the same in the

f^inled Name:. Im^i
Notary Public, State of Wiscorisiq^^"^
My commission tStexpiresS.

PROVISION HAS BEEN MADE TO PAY FOR

OBLIGATIONS INCURRED PURSUANT TO

THIS AGREEMENT;

Ml/ ».

Anthony Saucerman, Finance Director

APPROVED A&TO FORM:

Christopher R. Behrens. City Attorney
Dated: March 18, 2021
By: Christopher R. Behrens
Crty UwA21-0070

316 College Ave., LLC-City of Af^eton
Development Agraemmt

Page 17



DEVELOPER:

318 College Ave LLC

By:.

Printed Name: L-t.^"
Title:

By:
Printed Name:

Title:

By:
Printed Name:

Title:

STATE OF )

:ss.

.COUNTY)

Personally Mme, Ijefore me this 2^ day of n/'-
?UA•TTMF^^1 riiLr.

2021,
each

a member of the LLO, to meJmown to be the persons who executed the foregoing instrument and
acknowledged the same in the capacity and for the purposes therein intended.

Printed Name-'^^EiSg . t- T/awv^j'/n.*

Notary Public, State of
My commission is/exoires:

EDRIC ANDREW TIAMZON
NOTARY PUBLIC for thie

State of Montana
Residing at Ivfissoula, Ii/IT
IMy Commission Expires

August 08,2024-

318 College Ave LLC - City of Appieiort
Oevelopment Agreement

Page 18



SCHEDULE OF EXHIBITS

A. Legal Description of Property

B. Proposed Improvements

318 College Ave LLC - CHy of Appleton
Development Agreement

Page 19



EXHIBIT A

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY

The North 46.17 feet of Lot Ten (10) less the North Ten (10) feet thereof; The East 60 feet of the
South 120 feet of Lot Ten (10); and the West 1/2 of Lot Eleven (11) less the North Ten (10) feet
thereof; All being in Block 25, APPLETON PLAT, City of Appleton, Outagamie County,
Wisconsin, according to the recorded Assessor's Map of said City.

318 College Ave LLC - City of Appleton
Development Agreement

Page|10



EXHIBIT B

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS

The project budget is approximately eight million five hundred thousand ($8,500,000) plus the
building purchase price of one million sixty five thousand ($1,065,000) for a total of nine million
five hundred sixty five thousand ($9,565,000). This does not include carrying costs.

(Copy of Plans/Design docs follow)

318 College Ave LLC - City of Appleton
Development Agreement

i|11



Matthew Cole

318 College Ave LLC
414.477.4979

matthewgiancole@gmail.com

December 1,2020,

RE: PARK CENTRAL - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

318 College Ave, LLC (the "Developer") has been established to undertake the successful
purchase, rehabilitation and redevelopment of the Park Central building, located at 318 West
College Avenue in downtown Appleton, Wisconsin.

The Developer believes in the City of Appleton's past and current efforts to attract and retain
businesses and residents while improving the community with growth management and capital
projects. We intend to serve a current housing need and enhance the community by re-developing
this property and holding it as a viable, long term investment.

The Park Central property is located in the heart of the Central Business District in Appleton, and
will be transformed into a state-of-the-art 75,000 sq. fl. building with over 16,500 square feet of
Class A commercial space sub divided for multiple business occupants. The mixed-use
improvements to Park Central will include a redeveloped second floor and an additional three
floors of IIIB new construction slated for rental apartment use. The new apartments will offer a
mix of one, two and three-bedroom units, yielding a total of 51 bedrooms in 39 apartments.
Through careful planning, design and the use of quality construction techniques, and premium
building materials, including glass, steel, brick and high-end finishes, we will provide modem,
luxurious yet affordable residential units and commercial spaces serving Appleton residents and
businesses.

Our vision for the building at 318 W. College Ave is to provide an iconic stmcture for the Fox
Valley and downtown Appleton. The Park Central development will become a staple in the
community through an energetic and vibrant atmosphere for ±e commercial businesses and a
welcoming home to the residents with a focus on security, cutting edge technology, desired
amenities, convenience and a positive environment for all tenants. The apartments will cater to
many demographics including retirees/err^ty nesters, young professionals, young families, and
students. Park Central will feature unmatched levels of customer service and attention to detail

with dedicated on-site property management, building amenities and secure residential access.

The existing structure is a two story over basement -45,000 sq. fi. building in need of significant
structural, mechanical, and aesthetic repairs. The building was purchased for $1,065,000.00 in
June of 2019. The 30,000 sq. ft. addition and improvements in the development project are
estimated to be completed by Fall of 2022 at a cost of ~$8.5MM plus the purchase price and
carrying costs. This project will come to fruition in partnership with local Cries Architecture
Group, Perforraa Architects & Engineers and Blue Sky Contractors. Estimated project cost
breakdown are provided below;



Ris

PII
Mi

will

On Hi

tr"" ■
0' ulEs



P
A
R
K
 C
E
N
T
R
A
L

S
C
H
E
M
A
T
I
C
 D
E
S
I
G
N

A
D
J
A
C
E
N
T
 B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G

I
 %

4-
:

;
 j
 j
f
 j
 j
 j
 j
 j
 j
 j
 1
1
 j
 1

I|l 
• I 

vA.
. 

ill 
.ij

-J 
I s

a,.
 l|

 ss
.. 

ss.
»

M
v
a
i
Q
A

U
M
f
 

I

-
1
1
1
1
1

1
.
 1
 1
 1
 1
 "

11.
 1

'
 
M
C
M

m

J
 ̂

«
D
C
«
 
^

*
w
«
m
t
w

A
«
V

1 i
B
x
r
r
f
t
T
A
V
t

*1
1 

'?
'

ll.
 ;

 i
|co

*uc
m*

iL

t

■
«

«
<

'J
 

¥
*
C

t

\\

A
D

J
A

C
E

N
T

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

B
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

PB
 I^

ij^
)n

na
A

C
C

H
rF

C
"S

-C
K

jG
 N

F
=

D
r.

K
A

L
C

 
u

r
«

i^

C
rie

s
A

fth
lic

ci
tir

el
 G

io
up

 I
nc

.

0
7

IW
M

M



l
U

D < L
U

u L
U

O

A
D
J
A
C
E
N
T
 B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G

P
A
R
K
 C
E
N
T
R
A
L

S
C
H
E
M
A
T
I
C
 D
E
S
I
G
N

F
I
R
S
T
 F
L
O
O
R

f
i

A
c
r
a
r
p
f
T
s
-
 J
V
C
.

t
C
M
A
 

v
r
'
 r
-
r

G
r
i
e
s

Aj
id

ii
lM

lu
ri

f 
Dr

eu
p 
ta
&

9
M
4
0
1
0



l
U
3 Z l
U

o L
U d o o

P
A
R
K
 C
E
N
T
R
A
L

S
C
H
E
M
A
T
I
C
 D
E
S
I
G
N

A
D
J
A
C
E
N
T
 B
U
L
D
I
N
G

I
V
 a
t
-
j

A
D
J
A
C
E
N
T
 B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G

S
E
C
O
N
D
 F
L
O
O
R

PS
 R
tr
^n
ii
a

A
c
r
-
^
r
F
C
'
5
 •
 ;
n
c

C
r
i
e
s

Aj
tM
ie
ct
un
] 
Qi
eu
p 

lo
t.

K
M
t
 

U
T
A
l
'
^
*



m
.

r

i

P
A
R
K
 C
E
N
T
R
A
L

S
C
H
E
M
A
T
I
C
 D
E
S
I
G
N

T
H
I
R
D
 F
L
O
O
R
 (
S
A
M
E
 0
3,

04
,0

5)
9C

Al
£.

 
\
r
-
r
*

F3
 I
^
^
n
n
a

C
r
i
e
s

A
r
d
i
i
m
u
n
I
 G
iM
ip
 I
nc

.



0
 <^

>y
rH
>L
g<
«

i
«
t
.
 1
©
-

'
C
 f
tT
.
>

1=
1 

l=
jl
l=
 l
i=
dj
i=
i
l=
JI

;
i
=
[
l
3
l
=
y
H
i
J
^
H

i
M
:
W
F
^
S
T

P
A
R
K
 C
E
N
T
R
A
L

S
C
H
E
M
A
T
I
C
 D
E
S
I
G
N

B
U
I
L
D
I
N
G
 S
E
C
T
I
O
N

S
C
A
L
E
 

y
t
T
»
V
^

FS
 F
fe
r^
nn
a

A
C
C
M
r
p
c
-
s
-
 

'
«
j
f
:
o
s

C
r
i
e
s

Ar
el

nl
se

lu
nl

 G
r
o
u
p
 
bi

e.



~
l

B
 
0

B
 
B

B
 
O

O S
Q
 
0

Q
 
Q

0
 
0

0
 
O

□

0
 

S

0
 

o

s
 

©

0
 

0

—
r:

r-
'-

- 
. .

 j
 •'

Ps
-.f

'"-
•■

-'■
 

M
-!'

i"'
~'

 
-" 

i; 
■

'r'
*}

L

0
 

a

0
 

Q

0
 

0

O
 

0

P
A

R
K

 C
E

N
T

R
A

L

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 D
E

S
IG

N
R

O
O

F
»

C
A

L
£

 
V

T
'T

^

W
 I^

r^
rin

a
A

C
C

y
rF

C
T

5
-?

N
C

. 
N

F
-:

?
S

G
rie

s
A

rc
N

ie
ci

un
l 

G
fo

up
 l

oc
.



r
i

P
A
R
K
 C
E
N
T
R
A
L

S
C
H
E
M
A
T
I
C
 D
E
S
I
G
N

M
A
T
E
R
I
A
L
S

fA
 I
^^
ri
na

C
r
i
e
s

Ar
ch
lc
ec
tm
l 
O
n
x
^
 I
nc
.



i
i
s
g
a
r
a
p
™

L
Q
S
B
Y

I s

y«
rr
TT
Tr
r

C
O
R
R
I
D
O
R
S

(
W
I
T
S

P
A
R
K
 C
E
N
T
R
A
L

S
C
H
E
M
A
T
I
C
 D
E
S
I
G
N

I
N
T
E
R
I
O
R
 I
N
S
P
I
R
A
T
I
O
N

PI
 f
ti
^
n
n
a

A
 c
c
y
r
p
c

i
 

•
i
G
 
N
P
;

C
r
i
e
s

A
n
M
i
o
a
u
r
t
f
 G
t
M
^
 I
a
c

O
M
U
E
B
D



o 5

P o

o5m
CO

o

J

si
iii ■#

.]! iii
in

n'

#:-"j5ml! i i'I
I
i

ii

il
I Is fi"!

'ill;'
!

I r n ! IT'! 1'
'•nSiSSBs !! in!iSilin[i|i!!;iS 'S®' pip

ip!
iii

'^U3
>

l/i

r I

fiiii a
Ti 11 ]• I I

li
ii

iii
1

1lil"''if
I

! ■i.[ i

i PI If i

i
\l\ {jP • 11 f

III'ill! H! Ill i! P'P'l ! i' I i 1P'fP111! IPP s Kill

I' I

;a

s 5

U-

i.S.

.h
1 S.ie.

\ lu

I

.:5S'

sh'
.iH IL

! Sa

I

. • J o.i«.8a

SSeSI
. «

1 {

Ss...is'iiaiiilisliiiii
..i
ii

A'..JiiiniinlIiiiiEi|
i
3 •

B •ta
8 sISaSc1 si.c.is^i Iiiiisi'
i u\JI iiJ.II'i Hiiiiiil'{ lliiiil'

1t

: > 9 • a «

\ \ [ i \ \ I t i t t t



-
B

P
A
R
K
 C
E
N
T
R
A
L

S
C
H
E
M
A
T
I
C
 D
E
S
I
G
N

P
E
D
E
S
T
R
I
A
N
 P
E
R
S
P
E
C
T
I
V
E
S

FB
 V
ei

fo
rn

m
A
C
C
H
|
T
•
p
C
T
S
-
P
^
^
G
N
P
C
D
S

C
r
i
e
s

Ar
ch
ic
cc
lu
nI
 G
r
o
u
p
 I

nc
.

t
P
I
O
W
Q
O



P
A
R
K
 C
E
N
T
R
A
L

S
C
H
E
M
A
T
I
C
 D
E
S
I
G
N

P
E
D
E
S
T
R
I
A
N
 P
E
R
S
P
E
C
T
I
V
E

PS
 F
fe
r/
or
ma

A
P
C
-
J
l
T
F
C
T
r
^
 X
 C
N
r
;
i
N
F
-
3
S

C
r
i
e
s

Ar
rh
ii
ee
tu
nI
 O
r
o
u
p
 I
nc

.

O
M
M
O
M



m
I
s

n

P
A
R
K
 C
E
N
T
R
A
L

S
C
H
E
M
A
K
C
 D
E
S
I
G
N

A
E
R
I
A
L
 3
D

Pi
 Pt

if
on
ii
a

.
^
C
C
4
r
f
C
T
5
-
 '
'
i
G
 n
f
:
3
<
;

C
r
i
e
s

A
r
c
N
i
e
c
u
n
I
 O
r
o
s
p
 t

oe
.

W
l
f
 M
l
)



.
•
C
y
p
»
c
-
g
o
n
P
 .
r
»

• «
 
S
'
 C
- 
/

P
A
R
K
 C
E
N
T
R
A
L

S
C
H
E
M
A
T
I
C
 D
E
S
I
G
N

S
O
U
T
H
 E
L
E
V
A
T
I
O
N

FS
 I
^i
^r
ma

A
c
c
-
i
r
c
c
"
 -
 -
'
i
C
 N
p
;
:
)
S

•
c
u
 

u
r
*
i
^

O
n
e
s

A
f
t
M
B
O
u
n
l
 O
i
o
u
p
 I

nc
.

B
R
D
M
P
S



t t

r
a
-
T
H
r
i
r
C
f
'
 
7

I 
"
i
f
X
t
*
 
/
.

i
:

J
L
.

-
 
—

•
 j
g
 '
.
A

.'
 

»»
o 
- 
2
 "
 c
* 
V

'
 :
.
C
C
3
»
~
*
L
J
»
3
i
»

»
w
 

» 
)
*

'
^
;
^
K
 e
-
r
/
*
~
n
~
 
f
"
.

»
0
3
 
4
 

.

P
A
R
K
 C
E
N
T
R
A
L

S
C
H
E
M
A
T
I
C
 D
E
S
I
G
N

E
A
S
T
 E
L
E
V
A
T
I
O
N

«
C
M
£
 

u
r
 •
 T
^

fS
 Pe

i^
ri
ii
a

A
j
^
c
y
r
g
c
'
S
-
 C
N
G
 n
f
-
^
s

C
r
i
e
s

A
r
e
N
i
K
U
n
I
 Q
io

i^
 l

fi
e<



■
■

 
m

.
 

.
 _
_
 
_
 
_
_
 
_
 

w
>
s
"

'
 .
K

Ip
i-
 -
 l
o-

_
 _
 

_
 J

>e
 '
^
T
X
 f
u
C
C
g

.
-
'
 
s
c
r
-
j
T
g
 ̂
.
c
o
w

P
A
R
K
 C
E
N
T
R
A
L

S
C
H
E
M
A
T
I
C
 D
E
S
I
G
N

N
O
R
T
H
 E
L
E
V
A
T
I
O
N

$
c
*
u
 

i
/
r
«
T
4
*

PS
 I
^i

^r
 in
a

A
c
r
-
^
r
f
C
'
s
 -
 r
N
G
'
'
«
j
p
-
5
S

C
r
i
e
s

Ar
cb

ii
ac

ti
ra

J 
O
r
o
^
 l
ac

p
y
m
j
o
j
B



P
A
R
K
 C
E
N
T
R
A
L

S
C
H
E
M
A
K
C
 D
E
S
I
G
N

W
E
S
T
 E
L
E
V
A
T
I
O
N

•
C
M
£
 

u
r
 "
T
^
*

F8
 I
^^
ri
na

A
c
r
j
r
f
C
'
<
>
-
 

•
j
f
;
«

G
r
i
e
s

Ar
dt

lt
sa

un
J 
Qt
ou
p 

]i
i&

o
n
o
M
o
n



s
i
m
-
i
r
r
x
y
s
r
"
—
*
"

z
:
i
T
:
:
:
z
.
^
'
i
.
-
J
:
—
.
-
£

^J
^-
.-
=r
.-
Sl
=T
JS
£

r
^
K
S
S
 i

S
:
r
r
j
r
s
:
r
i
s
—
 

cr

■
!

■—
 

^:j
j£

sS
£t

VS
s5

|

K-
vT

? 
""

sn
S

S
S

z-

=~
^S

5^
"»

2S
i.=

S
i.

S
S

T
^I

w
S

.w
S

V
?

 5
5

S
^S

T
iS

#
?

rS
A

s
ti
r
 

~
z
s
r2

is
x
i.
t.
i2

S
3

^
ii
ir

*
w

,*
i,
w

Z
7

«
«

T
i5

rv
r2

ii^
r?

*e
J
w

L
ife

 S
a

fe
tij

 C
on

ce
pt

V
4*

 •
 r

-C
-

P
a

rt
ia

l 
6

0
1

 T
a

b
le

B
ul

ld
ln

a 
A

re
a

s
^1

n

P
A

R
K

 C
E

N
T

R
A

L
S

C
H

E
M

A
T

IC
 D

E
S

IG
N

A
S

S
E

M
B

LI
E

S
H 

I^
i^

rin
a

A
o

c
u

rF
r.

->
- 

=
N

r.
'N

C
-^

s

S
C

A
lf
 

A
a 

vi
d

M
U

M

C
ri

e
s

Ar
ch

kie
au

ra
J 

O
fo

up
 I

nc
.

Q
T

/Q
M

O
iO



s
r
a
-

—
—
 I 
1
1
 

»
H
"
W
e
A
B
l
i
P
»
0
4
A
B
i
M
»
«
<
T

H !s

B B
*1

»
.
.
R
a
 

\

r
 !

l,
M*
i 

1 
r
*
»
6
w
T
l
2
-
*
 |

V
a
r
e
R
'
i
a
e
 

1 
«
e
k
»
f
e
t
<
u
 

/

v
«
L
u
e
.
u
 

M
M
'
C
i
t
f
e
M

t«
_-
L_
« 

r
:
r

{
«
"
 *
1

"
 j
i

"
6
M
n
H
i
H
.
d
0
(

«
t
e
^
0
f
\
e
c
*
i

U 
—

I
 "
»
•
"
»

P Is it j
s
J
l

1

j

!

«>e

\
rea^'inr^a-w

•SvS«^« t

*
e
u
n
v
<
 p
u
c
R

o
p
u
e
m

i
>
^
«
p
m

■
iw

ix
 '

i>
.i

I

R
at

ed
 A

ss
em

bl
ie

s 
co

n
ce

p
t

v
a

r
 
•

K
£

r 
P

L
A

N

f
'M

m
k
»

t
 •

n
.«

V
«

«
«

b
Y

• 
I
R

t.
 >

«
*
v
-
»

r
■

L
E

«
a

»
P

S
M

V
M

N
S

O
T

IB
1

M
C

A
M

*
• 
IM

(
IM

K
4

it
<

&
IM

W

M
w

<
K

A
0

i«
ia

*
^
v
«

 
v
e

«
4

r
*
f«

W
'^

ie
«

»
e

»
»

w
*
»

*
»

i»
.<

»
«

e
*
n

T
N

ii
w

fi
A

*
h

*
o

tT
i%

w
r
r
r
y

jt
w

a
r
w

ii
R

ii

N
»

 w
e

e
e

*
 w

i*
 •

1
•
«

. 
iM

,
•
«

?
■

«
*
F

«
*
ii
 •

*
M

f
e

N
»

.«
6

M
w

 m
w

e
ie

M
K

iw
 F

w
u

s
 »

*
>

«
■

.
*
»

e
m

p
e

a
 

ii
*
w

*
#

«
*
•
 b

fl
e

u
g

e
r
iN

*
-
»

•
*
•
»

»
 w

e
e

g
w

»
i»

6
i 
I
m

ii
*
«

m
w

f
w

M
*M

M
 B

n
M

M
M

u
•

a
la

 •
 a

a
 m

ib
v
rm

c
 a

a
x
u

iB
M

a
iM

;a
rw

«
<

a
• 

m
m

m
»

w
ie

w
a

ft
R

ib
 •

 I
•«

• 
• 

n
H

A
A

fi
tf
k
a

t 
ti
>

0
.i

H
R

tt
 A

m
M

O
 *

•«

iH
i 

w
r
ii
 t

if
lf
n

rn
 m

 I 
ir

r 
in

tf 
r>

'i 
it
 r

> 
rr

m
 i 
m

 t
m

 t
ii
tt
.m

n
-i

rn
iT

tw
a

.t
r
m

r
v
ff

w
a

.
W

e
.
e

iw
lo

e
e

K
w

a
n

e
w

m
i.
 •

 I
K

i 
I

a 
»

• 
•
le

e
a

w
e

iT
w

e
»

w
e

e
ie

 
e

e
<

w
a

*
e<

T
1 
N

o
a

 
.
N

*f
*

e
#

w
i
i»

i«
e
*
1

^
r
w

«
N
iw

e
»

ti
»

n
.<

o
i»

•
a

e
w

im
y
i%

a
m

<
ie

 
•
a

r
m

c
m

*
 

n
c
c
^

m
g

r
^
o

e
r
 i
n

ia

F
ir

e
 R

a
te

d
 A

s
s
e

m
b

lie
s

P
A

R
K

 C
E

N
T

R
A

L

S
C

H
E

M
A

T
IC

 O
E

S
IQ

N
A

S
S

E
M

B
LI

E
S

^
 rf

e^
rm

a
/\

c
c
^
rc

r"
s
 -
 f

v
g

 n
f-

p
s

S
M

£
- 

A
a

M
M

M

G
rie

s
A

rc
hi

ie
ci

m
l 

O
io

i^
 I

nc
.

o
m

a
s
a

o



Resolution #8-R-23 
Creating the Appleton Conservancy and associated trail amenities by dedicating to the 
public city-owned lands in Southpoint Commerce Park for Parkland, Trailhead, and Trail. 
 
 
Submitted by: Common Council President & District 5 Alderperson, Katie Van Zeeland 
Date: July 19, 2023 
Referred To: Parks & Recreation Committee, City Plan Commission & Community & Economic 
Development Committee 
  
WHEREAS, the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Appleton cites evidence of the importance 
of parks, open space, and leisure programming to the environmental, social, and economic health 
of communities; furthermore, sufficient parks and open spaces provide habitats for plants and 
animals, contribute to effective stormwater management, and offer additional environmental 
benefits, and notably, parks and open spaces enhance the value of nearby property and park 
facilities and programming enhance the quality of life while facilitating the social interaction of 
community residents, thereby making the city a more desirable place to live; and 
  
WHEREAS, the City of Appleton seeks to provide equitable and inclusive recreational 
opportunities for all people, recognizing the role outdoor spaces play in the mental, physical, and 
environmental health of our residents; and 
  
WHEREAS, the results of a needs assessment found that the southeast side of Appleton was 
deficient in park space and has remained so despite continued growth; and  
  
WHEREAS, residents of District 5 do not have access to a community park within the 
recommended National Recreation and Park Association (NRPA) range of a 1-2 mile radius; 
and  
  
WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan aims to acquire 
additional parkland and trails with a specific objective of developing these amenities in southeast 
Appleton, and the Trail Masterplan recommends a trail corridor from Coop Road, extending 
westward coterminous with the electric transmission line to Plank Road; and 
  
WHEREAS, the City of Appleton is recognized as a Tree City, Bird City, Bee City, and 
Monarch City; and 
  
WHEREAS the City of Appleton owns significant acreage in an area called Southpoint 
Commerce Park, and within that area, there exists a stand of woodland that includes species such 
as shagbark hickory, white oak, basswood, red maple, sugar maple, and even American beech, in 
addition to wetlands; and 
  
WHEREAS, preserving precious natural areas aligns with our community’s values and vision, 
and dedicating significant acreage to public use is a rare but significant opportunity; and 
  



WHEREAS, adding this approximately 32-acre parcel to the City’s existing 600 acres of parks 
and trails will provide not only recreational opportunities such as walking, hiking, biking, and 
other low-impact recreational opportunities but also preserve and protect critical natural 
habitat and wetlands. 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Appleton 
that the City of Appleton dedicates to the public for parkland, trailhead, and trail, the city-owned 
lands in Southpoint Commerce Park, as illustrated in Exhibits 1 and 2, with Lot 13 of proposed 
Southpoint Commerce Park Plat No. 4 to be named the Appleton Conservancy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT 1: PARK, TRAIL, AND TRAILHEAD DEDICATION TO THE PUBLIC 
 

 
  



EXHIBIT 2: PROPOSED SOUTHPOINT COMMERCE PARK PLAT NO. 4 
Lot 13 And Outlot 2 are to be dedicated to the public for Parks, Trailhead, and Trail 



Department of Public Works – Engineering Division 
    

MEMO 
 

 
TO:  Utilities Committee 

 
FROM: Danielle Block, Director of Public Works 
  Pete Neuberger, Deputy Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
   
 
DATE:  July 19, 2023 
 
RE: Amend 2023A Stormwater Management Plan Review contract with Brown and Caldwell by an 

increase of $20,000 for a total contact amount not to exceed $55,000.   
_______________________________________________________________________________  
 
The Department of Public Works is requesting an amendment to the contract with Brown and Caldwell (BC) for 
2023 Stormwater Management Plan Reviews by an increase of $20,000 for a total contact amount not to exceed 
$55,000.  After this contract amendment, $811,000 will remain in the 2023 stormwater consulting 
budget. 
 
Due to the number of stormwater management plans submitted in 2023, the number of plans expected to be 
submitted yet this summer and the coordination needed for larger projects, the original contact amount of 
$35,000 is anticipated to be expended within the next two months.   
 
Work under this contract is charged on an hourly basis and is therefore only used as needed.  In order to keep 
projects moving forward, staff is requesting this amendment now, before the current contract is completely 
spent.    
 
 



 
 
To: Utilities Committee 
From: Danielle Block, Director of Public Works 
Date: July 19, 2023 
Re: Adopt the Proposed Revised Reid Golf Course and Appleton Memorial Park Stormwater Utility 

Agreements for Stormwater Ponds 
 
The Stormwater Utility provides “annual rent” payment for stormwater ponds located at Reid Golf Course and 
Appleton Memorial Park.  The Utility is responsible for the operations that oversee the collection, distribution and 
dissipation of stormwater that accumulates within the City of Appleton. 
 
There are currently two ponds within Appleton Memorial Park and one pond at Reid Golf Course.  The Appleton 
Memorial Park agreement was developed in 2010 with an annual payment of $40,000 and the Reid Golf Course 
agreement was developed in 2014 with an annual payment of $15,210. 
 
Land market values and rates of return have been reviewed by city staff and are recommending the following 
increases to the stormwater pond agreements. 
 
Appleton Memorial Park  $41,769 
Reid Golf Course  $21,060 
 
Approval of the revised stormwater utility agreements is contingent upon approval by both the Parks and 
Recreation Committee and the Utilities Committee. 
 
The Department of Public Works request approval of the revised Reid Golf Course and Appleton Memorial Park 
stormwater utility agreements. 

“. . .   meeting community needs . . .  enhancing quality of life.”  
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

Engineering Division 
100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911 
TEL  (920) 832-6474 



STORMWATER POND AGREEMENT 
MEMORIAL PARK 

Page | 1 

AGREEMENT FOR STORMWATER PONDS AT MEMORIAL PARK 
 

I. PARTIES 
 
1.1 City of Appleton’s Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management Department, with its 

principal place of business at 100 N. Appleton Street, Appleton WI 54911 (hereinafter 
“City”). 
 

1.2 The Stormwater Utility, with its principal place of business at 100 N. Appleton Street, 
Appleton WI 54911 (hereinafter the “the Utility”). 
 

1.3 Together, the City and the Utility may be referred to as “the parties”. 
 

II. RECITALS 
WHEREAS,  
 
2.1 The Utility is responsible for the operations that oversee the collection, distribution, 

treatment, and dissipation of stormwater that accumulates within the City of Appleton; 
and  

 
2.2 The Utility has previously erected two stormwater ponds at Memorial Park; and  
 
2.3 The Parties desire to continue to work together to allow the operation of stormwater 

ponds within Memorial Park; and 
 
2.4 The Parties desire to have the Common Council’s approval of an arrangement whereby 

the Utility reimburses PRFM for continued use of said stormwater ponds.  
 

III. THE AGREEMENT 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the fulfillment of the obligations of the parties hereinafter 
set forth and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged, IT IS MUTUALLY AGREED AND PROMISED, by and between the City and the Utility, 
as follows: 
 

3.1 The Utility will provide payment to the City for the annual use of the Appleton 
Memorial Park North Pond in the amount of $21,294. 
 

3.2  The Utility will provide payment to the City for the annual use of the Appleton 
Memorial Park South Pond in the amount of $20,475. 



STORMWATER POND AGREEMENT 
MEMORIAL PARK 

Page | 2 

 
3.3 The Parties agree that market values and rates of return will be reviewed prior to 

June 1st to determine the applicable rent.  This value (herein “annual rent”) shall 
be documented via an addendum to this Agreement and approved by Common 
Council.    
 

3.4 The annual rent shall be paid by the Stormwater Utility by October 1st of each year.   
 

3.5 This Agreement shall remain in effect until Common Council modifies the 
Agreement.  Any amendments or addendums shall be memorialized in writing.   
 

3.6 This Agreement became effective on __________, the date of approval by the 
Common Council, as set forth within the attached meeting minutes.   

 
CityLaw A22-0821aka 



REID GOLF COURSE STORMWATER POND AGREEMENT 
City of Appleton | Stormwater Utility 

Page | 1 

REID GOLF COURSE AND STORMWATER UTILITY  
AGREEMENT FOR STORMWATER POND  

 
I. PARTIES 

 
1.1 Reid Golf Course, a City of Appleton municipal golf course with its principal place of 

business at 1100 E Fremont Street, Appleton, WI 54915 (hereinafter “Reid”). 
 

1.2 The Stormwater Utility, a Wisconsin municipal utility with its principal place of business 
at 100 N. Appleton Street, Appleton WI 54911 (hereinafter the “the Utility”). 
 

1.3 Together, Reid and the Utility may be referred to as “the parties”. 
 

II. RECITALS 
WHEREAS,  
 
2.1 The Utility is responsible for the operations that oversee the collection, distribution, 

treatment, and dissipation of stormwater that accumulates within the City of Appleton; 
and  

 
2.2 The Utility has previously erected a stormwater pond at Reid; and  
 
2.3 The Parties desire to continue to work together to allow the operation of a stormwater 

pond within Reid; and 
 
2.4 The Parties desire to have the Common Council’s approval of an arrangement whereby 

the Utility annually reimburses Reid Golf Course for continued use of the stormwater 
pond. 

 
III. THE AGREEMENT 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the fulfillment of the obligations of the parties hereinafter 
set forth and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged, IT IS MUTUALLY AGREED AND PROMISED, by and between Reid and the Utility, 
as follows: 
 

3.1 The Utility will provide payment to Reid for the annual use of the stormwater pond 
in the amount of $21,060.  
 



REID GOLF COURSE STORMWATER POND AGREEMENT 
City of Appleton | Stormwater Utility 

Page | 2 

3.2 The Parties agree that market values and rates of return will be reviewed prior to 
June 1st to determine the applicable rent.  This value (herein “annual rent”) shall 
be documented via an addendum to this Agreement and approved by Common 
Council.    
 

3.3 The annual rent shall be paid by the Stormwater Utility by October 1st of each year.   
 

3.4 This Agreement shall remain in effect until Common Council modifies the 
Agreement.  Any amendments or addendums shall be memorialized in writing.   
 

3.5 This Agreement became effective on __________, the date of approval by the 
Common Council, as set forth within the attached meeting minutes.   
 

CityLaw A22-0820aka 



 
 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

Department of Utilities  
Appleton Water Treatment Facility 

2281 Manitowoc Road 
Menasha, Wisconsin 54952 

920-832-5945 ph 
920-832-5949 fax  

 

 

 

TO:  Chairperson Vered Meltzer and Members of the Utilities Committee 

   

CC:  Chris Shaw, Utilities Director 

     

FROM: Chris Stempa, Utilities Deputy Director 

 

DATE: July 20, 2023 

 

RE: Award Contract to Fiberglass Solutions Inc. for Hypochlorite Fiberglass 

Reinforced Plastic Tank Relining Services in the amount of $24,262 

plus a 15% contingency of $3,639 for a total not to exceed of $27,901  

 
 

BACKGROUND: 
 

Among the chemicals stored at the AWTF for various treatment purposes, sodium 

hypochlorite is utilized as a cleaning and disinfection chemical.  Sodium hypochlorite is 

housed in three (3) 10,000-gallon fiberglass-reinforced plastic (FRP) bulk sodium 

hypochlorite storage tanks.  Tank manufacturers typically expect up to 15 years of life 

when storing 12.5% sodium hypochlorite in an FRP tank before relining is necessary to 

restore the interior protective coating layers.  Bulk Storage Tank No. 1 and No. 2 were 

relined in 2022 with Tank No. 3 budgeted for 2023.   

 

QUOTE PROCESS: 
 

Four qualified firms were selected based upon their ability to provide relining services 

described in the RFQ.  Two of the four firms were responsive with the others indicating 

they were unable to meet the scheduled completion date prior to December 31, 2023. 

Quotations are summarized in Table 1.  Fiberglass Solutions provided the least cost quote 

and could meet the required completion date. 

 

Table 1: Summary of Quotations 

Firm Total Quote 

American Fiberglass Tank DNQ 

ECC Corrosion Inc. $77,706 

Fiberglass Solutions $24,262 

GPI Composites DNQ 
DNQ: Did not quote. 

 

 



Utilities Memo 

Award Contract to Fiberglass Solutions Inc. for Fiberglass Reinforced Plastic Tank Relining Services 

July 20, 2023 

Page 2 of 2 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

It is recommended that the Utilities Committee award the contract for FRP tank relining 

services to Fiberglass Solutions Inc. in the of $24,262 plus a 15% contingency of $3,639 

for a total not to exceed of $27,901. 

 

If you have any questions regarding this project please contact Chris Stempa ph: 832-

5945 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To: HR/IT Commi ee, Common Council 

From: Corey Popp, Informa on Technology Director 

Date: July 26, 2023 

Re: Recommenda on to Award Appleton’s Public Website to Revize 

Background 
On March 16, 2022, the Appleton Common Council approved Resolu on #2-R-22 (Resolu on to Improve 
Communica on, Technology, & Pedestrian Safety) that included “$100,000 for an Appleton.org website re-
design” (File 22-0054). On March 22, 2023, I published an RFP for the website redesign. The City received 
twenty proposals by the me the RFP closed on April 28, 2023.  

Panel Review and Demonstra ons 
The I.T. Department proceeded with a three-member panel review of the proposals based upon pre-
established criteria covering Project Specifica ons and Requirements, Qualifica ons and Experience, Terms 
and Condi ons, Appleton/Fox Valley Business Advantage, and Price. Proposals were scored and ranked.  
 
The three highest-scoring proposals and the highest-scoring proposal from a local supplier were selected as 
finalists to present demonstra ons to City staff. City representa ves from the departments of 
Communica ons, Community and Economic Development, Informa on Technology, Parks and Recrea on, 
Police, and Public Works were invited to a end the four demonstra ons. 
 
The four finalists and their products were: 

1. CivicPlus CivicEngage (Manha an, Kansas) 
2. Granicus Government Experience Cloud (incumbent provider from Denver, Colorado) 
3. Revize eGov CMS (Troy, Michigan) 
4. Webfi ers (Green Bay, Wisconsin) 

  

View our current job openings at governmentjobs.com/careers/appletonwi 

CITY OF APPLETON 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY DEPARTMENT 
(920) 832-6410 (920) 832-5885 

100 N. Appleton Street 
Appleton, WI 54911 

helpdesk@appleton.org  



 

 

Recommenda on 
Following the four demonstra ons, a significant majority of City representa ves agreed that Revize presented 
the best public website solu on. A er receiving largely posi ve feedback from the nearly all nine references, 
the City’s Manager of Communica ons and Public Engagement and I brought forward the recommenda on to 
Mayor Woodford. Following discussion, Mayor Woodford advised me to present Revize to the Common 
Council for approval. 

Financing 

Revize’s implementa on cost of $92,500 will be funded using the $100,000 set aside in Resolu on #2-R-22. 
The excess $7,500 will be held as a con ngency to cover branding and style guide assistance as well as other 
unforeseen expenses that could come up during the design process. 
 
To provide a long-term cost illustra on, the table below lays out a five-year cost comparison between the 
proposals submi ed by Revize and the incumbent, Granicus. Yearly recurring costs will be included in the 2024 
annual budget to be adopted later this year. 
 
If you have any ques ons regarding this recommenda on, please contact Corey Popp at 
corey.popp@appleton.org or 832-5892. Thank you for your considera on. 
 

  Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Total 
Revize  $         92,500.00   $    16,400.00   $  16,400.00   $  16,400.00   $  16,400.00   $  158,100.00  
Granicus  $         43,000.02   $    30,495.01   $  32,629.66   $  34,913.74   $  37,357.70   $  178,396.13  

 


	0000_Agenda
	0001_1_CC Minutes 7-19-23
	0002_1_Breastfeeding Awareness Month Proclamation
	0002_2_Creative Economy Week Proclamation
	0005_1_Lynda Nabbefeld SL
	0006_1_Riverside Bar Grill SL
	0007_1_John and Diana Wolters - Dynasty Limousine Service LLC
	0008_1_Chris Burns - Social Station LLC
	0009_1_Igor Leykin - LIR Transportation LLC
	0010_1_Spats SL
	0011_1_Dairyland Brew Pub
	0012_1_All Tied Up Floral Cafe SL
	0013_1_Fox Valley Estates
	0014_1_Hanna Lonsway SL
	0015_1_StaffReport_SouthpointCommerceParkPlat4_PreliminaryPlat_For7-26-23
	Sheets and Views
	Plat-Portrait

	Sheets and Views
	Plat page 2


	0016_1_8-R-23 Appleton Conservancy Park Resolution 
	0017_1_8-R-23 Appleton Conservancy Park Resolution 
	0018_1_DD-23 Contract Award Form and Bid Tabs
	DD-23 Contract Award Form
	Bid Tabs DD-23 7-10-23 for 07-24-2023 Finance

	0019_1_Grave Reimbursement 2022-2023_1-1
	0019_2_Copy of Military Report 2022-2023
	0019_3_VETERANS JULY 2022 - JUNE 2023
	0020_1_2023 AWWTP MSB Shop HVAC Replacement Project
	0021_1_7-R-23 Local Govt Funding Legislation Support
	0021_2_Substituted Resolution 7-R-23
	0022_1_St. Joesph Cemetery Reimbursement
	0023_1_Hayden Properties LLC Variance Request Memo 7-26-23
	0023_2_Variance Request Email From F Street 7-13-23
	0023_3_C1.0 SITE PLAN (R3-FP)_Hayden Properties Request
	Sheets
	C1.0 - SITE PLAN


	0023_4_C1.1 OVERALL SITE PLAN (R3-FP)_Hayden Properties Request
	Sheets
	C1.1 - OVERALL SITE PLAN


	0023_5_SPCP Deed Restrictions
	0023_6_F Street Subject Area Map
	0024_1_318 College Ave LLC DA Extension Memo 7-26-23
	0024_2_Request from 318 College Ave LLC to Amend DA 7-18-23
	0024_3_Park Central - Dev Agr 1st Amendment RECORDED
	0024_4_Park Central - Dev Agrm - RECORDED
	0025_1_8-R-23 Appleton Conservancy Park Resolution 
	0026_1_2023A SWM Plan Review BC Amendment Memo Util Cmte
	Department of Public Works – Engineering Division
	MEMO

	0027_1_DPW AMP and Reid Stormwater Pond Utility Agreements
	DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS
	Engineering Division
	100 North Appleton Street



	0028_1_230720_UC Memo_FiberglassTank_RelineContractAward (003)
	0029_1_2023 Recommendation to Award Website CMS to Revize



